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PART I  

   
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

   
Certain statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities 

laws which are intended to be covered by the safe harbors created by those laws. Historical results and trends should not be taken as indicative of 
future operations. Forward-looking statements, which are based on certain assumptions and describe future plans, strategies and expectations of 
us, are generally identifiable by use of the words “believe,” “expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “project,” “prospects,” or similar 
expressions. Our ability to predict results or the actual effect of future plans or strategies is inherently uncertain.  

   
Factors which could have a material adverse effect on our operations and future prospects on a consolidated basis include, but are not limited 

to:  
   

   
These risks and uncertainties should be considered in evaluating forward-looking statements and undue reliance should not be placed on such 

statements. Although we believe the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements, and the forward-looking statements themselves, are 
reasonable, any of the assumptions could be inaccurate and, therefore, there can be no assurance that these forward-looking statements will prove 
to be accurate. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in these forward-looking statements, such information should not be regarded as a 
representation by us or any other person that any of our objectives and plans, which we consider to be reasonable, will be achieved.  
   

  

  • Changes in economic conditions generally and the real estate market specifically. 
      
  • Legislative/regulatory changes, including changes to laws governing the taxation of REITs. 
      
  • Availability of capital. 
      
  • Interest rates. 
      
  • Our ability to service our debt. 
      
  • Competition. 
      
  • Supply and demand for undeveloped land and other real estate in our current and proposed market areas. 
      
  • The prospect of a continuing relationship with Shopoff Advisors. 
      
  • Changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
      
  • Policies and guidelines applicable to REITs. 
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS  
   
General  
    

Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc., or the “Trust”, was incorporated on November 16, 2006 under the laws of the state of Maryland. The Trust 
intends to elect to be treated as a real estate investment trust, or “REIT” for federal income tax purposes for the taxable year ended December 31, 
2012. The Trust and all of its majority-owned subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “we”, “us”, and “our”.  

   
We are externally managed by Shopoff Advisors, L.P., the “Advisor”, pursuant to an Advisory Agreement, among us, the Advisor, and our 

majority-owned subsidiary, Shopoff Partners, L.P., or the “Operating Partnership”. The Advisor manages, supervises and performs the various 
administrative functions necessary to carry out our day-to-day operations. In addition, the Advisor identifies and presents potential investment 
opportunities and is responsible for our marketing, sales and client services. Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor’s activities are 
subject to oversight by our board of directors.  

   
The Shopoff Group, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, is our sponsor. The Sponsor was instrumental in organizing us and is instrumental 

in participating in our management, primarily through the Advisor. William A. Shopoff, our Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and 
President, is also the President of the Sponsor.  

   
The Operating Partnership, either directly or through entities affiliated with us, owns and manages substantially all of the properties we 

acquire. Our wholly owned subsidiary, Shopoff General Partner, LLC, is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and owns a 1% 
interest therein. The Trust and the Advisor own 98% and 1% of the Operating Partnership, respectively, as limited partners.  
   

On August 29, 2007, we launched our initial public offering of a minimum of 2,000,000 shares and a maximum of 20,100,000 shares of 
common stock upon retaining Shopoff Securities Inc., an affiliate of the Advisor, or Shopoff Securities, to serve as the sole broker-dealer 
marketing our shares during the offering. Our initial public offering ended August 29, 2010 and on August 30, 2010, we filed Post Effective 
Amendment No. 7 to Form S-11 registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 to terminate the initial public offering and to deregister 
18,180,600 shares remaining unsold from our initial public offering of common stock. On September 7, 2010 the SEC declared effective our 
Post Effective Amendment No. 7. In the public offering we sold a total of 1,919,400 shares of common stock for $18,234,300, excluding shares 
purchased by the Sponsor and excluding shares of vested restricted stock issued to certain directors and executive officers of the Trust. On 
November 18, 2011, we issued an additional 61,100 shares of our common stock to certain accredited investors in a private placement as part of 
the consideration for the acquisition of land.  

   
As of December 31, 2011, the Company owned one hundred percent of five properties and a portion of a sixth property:  
   

   

  

  • A final plat of seven hundred and thirty nine residential lots on a total of two hundred acres of unimproved land in the Town of 
Buckeye, Maricopa County, Arizona purchased for $3,000,000. The Company owns one hundred percent of this property. 

  • Approximately one hundred eighteen acres of vacant and unentitled land located near the City of Lake Elsinore, in an 
unincorporated area of Riverside County, California, acquired via a Settlement Agreement with Springbrook Investments, L.P., a 
California limited partnership (“Springbrook”), in which Springbrook agreed to execute and deliver a grant deed to the underlying 
real estate collateral in consideration for the discharge by us of all of Springbrook’s obligations under a secured promissory note 
owned by the Company. The tax basis of the one hundred eighteen acres of vacant and unentitled land when acquired was 
$2,152,210. The Company owns one hundred percent of this property. 
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Through December 31, 2011, the Company had originated three loans, a $600,000 secured loan to Mesquite Venture I, LLC and two secured 

loans totaling $2,300,000 to Aware Development Company, Inc. of which one loan, the $600,000 secured loan to Mesquite Venture I, LLC, was 
outstanding as of December 31, 2011.  

   
Our headquarters are located at 2 Park Plaza Suite 700, Irvine, California 92614. Our telephone number is (877) TSG-REIT. Our web site is 

www.shopoff.com.  
    

Our Business and Objectives  
   

Investment Objectives  
   

Our primary business objective is to buy, hold and sell undervalued, undeveloped, non-income producing real estate assets and to generate 
returns to our stockholders upon disposition of such properties. The land acquired may be zoned for residential, commercial or industrial uses. 
Our strategy is to invest in properties with the following attributes:  

   

   

  

  • Approximately 6.11 acres of vacant and unentitled land located near the City of Lake Elsinore, in an unincorporated area of 
Riverside County, California also acquired via a Settlement Agreement with Springbrook, in which Springbrook agreed to execute 
and deliver a grant deed to the underlying real estate collateral in consideration for the discharge by us of all of Springbrook’s 
obligations under a second, separate secured promissory note owned by the Company. The tax basis of the 6.11 acres of vacant and 
unentitled land when acquired was $472,436. The Company owns one hundred percent of this property. 

  • Three hundred and fifty five entitled but unimproved residential lots and two commercial lots located in the City of Lake Elsinore, 
California purchased as part of a larger original transaction with an overall purchase price of $9,600,000. The three hundred and 
fifty five entitled but unimproved residential lots and two commercial lots have an allocated basis of $4,430,000. The Company 
owns one hundred percent of this property. 

  •  Four hundred acres of unentitled and unimproved land located in the City of Chino Hills, California purchased as part of a larger 
transaction with an overall purchase price of $9,600,000. The four hundred acres have an allocated basis of $3,270,000. The 
Company owns one hundred percent of this property. 

  • A 47.9 acre parcel of unimproved land zoned commercial/retail and multi-family residential, which currently permits 306 
residential units and 25 acres of retail land located in the Town of Parker, Douglas County, Colorado purchased for $4,900,000. The 
Company owns a portion of this property through a specific purpose limited liability company with an affiliate of the Advisor. 

  • the potential for an annual internal rate of return in excess of 30% on a compounded basis; 
      
  • the potential for a sharp increase in value due to such factors as a recent or potential future zoning change or other opportunity where a 

property might lie in the path of progress; 
      
  • characteristics of the property enable us to ascertain that we could purchase the property at a discount from current market value; 
      
  • geographic location in California, Nevada, Arizona, Hawaii, or Texas; 
      
  • potential for capital appreciation; 
      
  • potential for economic growth in the community in which the property is located; 
      
  • prospects for liquidity through sale, financing or refinancing of the property; 
      
  • moderate competition from existing properties; 
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Investment in Undeveloped Real Estate Assets  
   
Our primary focus is to invest in undeveloped real estate assets that present “value-added” opportunities or other opportunistic investments for 

our stockholders. “Undeveloped real estate” means any real property that (a) has no development or construction in process on the land, (b) no 
development or construction on such land is planned to commence within one year, and (c) produces no rental or other operating income. We 
will oversee all entitlement work on our properties acquired and, upon completion of such entitlement work and at the appropriate time, we will 
sell the properties and distribute profits as provided for in our charter. Some of our investment activities may generate cash flow. Our primary 
activity, however, is to buy, hold and sell undervalued, undeveloped, non-income producing real estate assets and to generate returns to our 
stockholders upon disposition of such properties. The land acquired by us may be zoned for residential, commercial or industrial uses. We will 
make changes in investment allocations and percentages based upon our evaluation of current market conditions.  

   
The recent focus of our acquisitions has been on distressed or opportunistic property offerings. At our inception, our focus was on adding 

value to property through the entitlement process, but the recent real estate market has generated a supply of real estate projects that are all 
partially or completely developed versus vacant, undeveloped land. This changed the focus of our acquisitions to enhancing the value of real 
property through redesign and engineering refinements and removed much of the entitlement risk that we expected to undertake. Although 
acquiring distressed assets at greatly reduced prices from the peaks of 2005 – 2006 does not guaranty us success, we believe that it does allow us 
the opportunity to acquire more assets than previously contemplated.  

   
We believe there will be continued distress in the real estate market in the near term, although we feel that prices have found support in some 

of our target markets.  We have seen pricing increase substantially from the lows of the past few years, but opportunities continue to be available 
as properties make their way through the financial system and ultimately come to market. We are also seeing more opportunities to work with 
landowners under options or joint ventures and obtain entitlements in order to create long-term shareholder value. Our view of the mid to long 
term is more positive, and we expect property values to improve over the four- to ten-year time horizon. Our plan has been to be in a position to 
capitalize on these opportunities for capital appreciation.  
     

Other Property Acquisitions  
   

We may acquire other real estate assets, including, but not limited to, partially improved and improved properties, particularly those in which 
there is a potential for a change in use, such as an industrial building changing to high density residential.  
   

In addition to fee simple interests, we may acquire long-term leasehold interests and leasehold estates. Other methods of acquiring a property 
may be used when advantageous. For example, we may acquire properties through a joint venture or the acquisition of substantially all of the 
interests of an entity that owns real property.  
   

We may acquire real estate or real estate-related investments relating to properties in various other stages of development. These stages would 
include, without limitation, property to be redeveloped and repositioned, newly constructed properties and properties in the midst of lease-up or 
other stabilization, all of which will have limited or no relevant operating histories and no current income. The Advisor will make this 
determination based upon a variety of factors, including the available risk adjusted returns for such and all other properties, the appropriate 
diversification of the portfolio, our objectives of realizing capital appreciation upon the sale of properties, and the potential for generating 
dividend income from the net operating income of our income property portfolio.  

   

  

  • location in a market in which we have familiarity based upon past experience or we have an advantage based upon our experience in 
repositioning properties; 

      
  • potential for development of the property into income property. 
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We may enter into purchase and leaseback transactions, under which we will purchase a property from an entity and lease the property back to 

such entity under a net lease.  
   

We do not intend to purchase interests in hedge funds.  
   

Making Loans and Investments in Mortgages  
   
We do not intend to engage in the business of originating, warehousing or servicing real estate mortgages. If we engage in any such activities, 

it will be only as an ancillary result of our main business of investing in real estate properties. We may provide seller financing on certain 
properties if, in our judgment, it is prudent to do so. However, our main business is not investing in real estate mortgages, mortgage-backed 
securities or other securities.  
   

We will not make loans to other entities or persons unless secured by mortgages, and we will not make any mortgage loans to the Advisor or 
any of its affiliates. We will not make or invest in mortgage loans unless we obtain an appraisal concerning the underlying property from a 
licensed independent appraiser. In addition to the appraisal, we will seek to obtain a customary lender’s title insurance policy or commitment as 
to the priority of the mortgage or condition of the title.  
   

We will not make or invest in mortgage loans on any one property if the aggregate amount of all mortgage loans outstanding on the property, 
including our loans, would exceed 80% of the appraised value of the property as determined by an appraisal from a licensed independent 
appraiser, unless we find substantial justification due to the presence of other underwriting criteria. In no event will our acquisition price for 
mortgage loans exceed the appraised value of the property as of the date of the loans.  

   
All of our mortgage loans must provide for at least one of the following:  

   

   
We will not invest in real estate contracts of sale otherwise known as land sale contracts.  

   
We will not make or invest in any mortgage loans that are subordinate to any mortgage or equity interest of the Advisor, any director, officer 

or any of their affiliates.  
   

We will not invest in subordinated secured indebtedness except where the amount of total indebtedness secured by that property does not 
exceed 80% of the appraised value of such property. In addition, the value of all such investments, as shown on our books in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, after all reasonable reserves but before provision for depreciation, will 
not exceed 25% of our total assets.  

   

  

  • except for differences attributable to adjustable rate loans, equal periodic payments on a schedule that would be sufficient to fully 
amortize the loan over a 20 to 40 year period; 

      
  • payments of interest only for a period not greater than ten years with the remaining balance payable in equal periodic payments on a 

schedule that would fully amortize the loan over a 20 to 30 year period; or 
      
  • payment of a portion of the stated interest currently and deferral of the remaining interest for a period not greater than five years, with the 

remaining principal and interest payable in equal periodic payments on a schedule that would fully amortize the loan over a 20 to 35 year 
period. 
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Investment in Securities  
   
We may invest in equity securities of another entity, other than our operating partnership or a wholly-owned subsidiary, only if a majority of 

our directors, including a majority of the independent directors not otherwise interested in such transaction, approve the transaction as being fair, 
competitive, commercially reasonable and consistent with our investment objectives. Our objectives will include the opportunity to obtain a 
100% return on our investment in these securities. We may also invest in community facility district bonds. We will limit this type of investment 
to no more than 25% of our total assets, subject to certain tests for REIT qualification. Investments in entities affiliated with the Advisor, any 
officer, director or affiliates must be approved by a majority of our independent directors. We may purchase our own securities when traded on a 
secondary market or on a national securities exchange or national market system, if a majority of the directors determine such purchase to be in 
our best interests (in addition to repurchases made pursuant to our 2007 equity incentive plan which are subject to right of first refusal upon 
transfer by plan participants). We may in the future acquire some, all or substantially all of the securities or assets of other REITs or similar 
entities where that investment would be consistent with our investment policies and the REIT qualification requirements. We do not anticipate 
investing in the securities of other entities for the purpose of exercising control over that entity. In any event, we do not intend that our 
investments in securities will require us to register as an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act, and we intend to divest 
securities before any such registration would be required.  
   

We do not intend to engage in trading, underwriting, agency distribution or sales of securities of other issuers. We would consider an 
investment in the securities of another firm that is not in the real estate business, but whose underlying assets consist of significant real estate 
holdings.  
   

Joint Ventures  
   
We may invest in limited partnerships, general partnerships and other joint venture arrangements with other real estate entities formed by, 

sponsored by or affiliated with the Advisor or an affiliate of the Advisor, if a majority of our independent directors who are not otherwise 
interested in the transaction approve the transaction as being fair and reasonable to us and our stockholders and on substantially the same terms 
and conditions as those received by the other joint venturers. We may also invest with nonaffiliated third parties by following the general 
procedures to obtain approval of an acquisition.  
   

We will invest in limited partnerships, general partnerships or other joint venture arrangements with the Advisor and its affiliates only when:  
   

   
In addition, we will have the right to enter into joint venture arrangements with entities unaffiliated with the Advisor and its affiliates.  

   
Investment Policies  
   

Decisions relating to the purchase and sale of properties are made by the investment committee of our Advisor consisting of William A. 
Shopoff, the President of our Advisor, Kevin Bridges, the Chief Financial Officer of our Advisor, Edward Fitzpatrick, the Executive Vice 
President of our Advisor, and Tim McSunas, the Chief Investment Officer of our Advisor. The investment committee is subject to oversight by 
our board of directors, but has discretion with respect to the selection of specific properties. Once selected, the investments must be approved by 
a majority of our board of directors, including a majority of the independent directors, as being fair and reasonable to us and consistent with our 
investment objectives. If our board approves a given acquisition, then our Advisor is directed to acquire the property on our behalf, if such 
acquisition can be completed on terms approved by the board.  

   

  

  • we are the managing member of a limited liability company or the general partner of a limited partnership and we are receiving a larger 
share of the profits than our capital represents to the overall venture; 

      
  • we are investing with a local operating partnership over which we have management control thereby allowing us to exert control over 

operations and the disposition of the assets within the venture; 
      
  • we have the right of first refusal if the joint venturer wishes to sell its interest in the property to a third party; 
      
  • there are no duplicate property management or other fees; and 
      
  • the investment of each entity is on substantially the same terms and conditions or on terms and conditions more favorable to us. 
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We continue to focus on acquiring properties primarily in California, Nevada, Arizona, Hawaii and Texas. These states are the primary 

targets for acquisitions and will consist of approximately 75% of our portfolio. We expect that properties located outside of these states, 
particularly properties not located in the western United States, would comprise approximately 25% of our portfolio. If we invest in any 
properties outside of this targeted geographic area, such properties must have the potential to bring a higher return than in the states we have 
named in order to compensate for the lack of proximity to our headquarters. We always seek to operate in markets in which members of our 
board of directors and our advisor have direct and recent experience. In the case of outlying markets we would likely seek a local partner in the 
investment in a joint venture arrangement.  

   
We are not specifically limited in the number or size of properties we may acquire. We generally do not intend to invest more than 20% of 

the funds raised in our offering in any one property, although we may do so with the approval of a majority of our board of directors. The 
number and mix of properties we acquire depends upon real estate and market conditions and other circumstances existing at the time we are 
acquiring our properties and the funds available for such acquisitions. The sheltering from tax of income from other sources is not our objective.  

   
We will not close the purchase of any property unless and until we obtain an environmental assessment, a minimum of Phase I review, for 

each property purchased and are generally satisfied with the environmental status of the property, as determined by Shopoff Advisors.  
   
In determining whether to purchase a particular property, we may, in accordance with customary industry practice, obtain an option on 

such property exercisable within two to five years. The amount paid for an option, if any, is normally forfeited if the property is not purchased, 
and is normally credited against the purchase price if the property is purchased. Generally, this will allow us to make a substantially higher return 
on our capital in exchange for bearing the risk of unexercised options. In such cases, we would record a Memorandum of Option on the title.  

   
Other investment policies, deviations from which require our board of directors’ approval, are as follows:  
   

   

  

  • We will not repurchase or otherwise reacquire our shares or other securities, except (i) in the case of shares issued under our 
2007 equity incentive plan which are subject to right of first refusal upon transfer by plan participants, and (ii) when and if 
shares of our common stock are traded on a secondary market or on a national securities exchange or national market 
system, if a majority of the directors determine such purchase to be in our best interests. 

      
  • We will not issue our shares on a deferred payment basis or other similar arrangement. 

  • We will not invest in the securities of other issuers for the purpose of exercising control. 

  • We will not engage in underwriting or the agency distribution of securities issued by others. 
      
  • We do not intend to make distributions-in-kind, except for:  (a) distributions of beneficial interests in a liquidating trust 

established for our dissolution and the liquidation of our assets in accordance with the terms of the Maryland General 
Corporations Law; or (b) distributions of property pursuant to which our board of directors (i) advises each stockholder of 
the risks associated with direct ownership of the property; (ii) offers each stockholder the election of receiving in-kind 
property distributions; and (iii) distributes in-kind property only to those stockholders who accept the directors’  offer. 
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We anticipate that the purchase price of properties we acquire will vary widely depending on a number of factors, including size and 

location. In addition, the cost to us will vary based on the amount of debt we incur in connection with financing the acquisition. It is difficult to 
predict with precision the actual number of properties that we will actually acquire because the purchase prices of properties varies widely and 
our investment in each will vary based on the amount of leverage we use.  

   
Financing Objectives  
   

When we believe it is appropriate, we will borrow funds to acquire or finance properties. We may later refinance or increase mortgage 
indebtedness by obtaining additional loans secured by selected properties, if favorable financing terms are available. We will use the proceeds 
from such loans to acquire additional properties for the purpose of increasing our cash flow and providing further diversification. We anticipate 
that aggregate borrowings, both secured and unsecured, will not exceed 100% of all of our properties’ combined estimated fair market values, as 
determined at the end of each calendar year. In addition, we anticipate that no property will be encumbered by indebtedness or financed by 
unsecured indebtedness in excess of 80% of its estimated fair market value. Our board of directors will review our aggregate borrowings at least 
quarterly to ensure that such borrowings are reasonable in relation to the aggregate value of our real estate assets. We may also incur 
indebtedness to finance improvements to properties and, if necessary, for working capital needs and/or to meet the distribution requirements 
applicable to REITs under the federal income tax laws.  
   

When incurring secured debt, we generally intend to incur only nonrecourse indebtedness, which means that the lenders’ rights upon our 
default generally will be limited to foreclosure on the property that secured the obligation. If we incur mortgage indebtedness, we will endeavor 
to obtain level payment financing, meaning that the amount of debt service payable would be substantially the same each year, although some 
mortgages are likely to provide for one large payment and we may incur floating or adjustable rate financing when our board of directors 
determines it to be in our best interest.  
   

Our board of directors controls our policies with respect to borrowing and may change such policies without stockholder approval.  
   

Distribution Policy  
   
Because we expect that the majority of the properties we acquire will not generate any operating cash flow, the timing and amount of any 

dividends paid will be largely dependent upon the sale of our properties. Accordingly, it is uncertain as to when, if ever, dividends will be paid.  
   

In order to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, among other things, we must distribute each taxable year at least 90% of our 
taxable income, other than net capital gain. We do not intend to maintain cash reserves to fund distributions to stockholders.  
   

We will have a policy of avoiding, to the extent possible, the fluctuations in distributions that might result if distribution payments were based 
on actual cash received during the distribution period. To implement this policy, we may use cash received during prior periods or cash received 
subsequent to the distribution period and prior to the payment date for such distribution, to pay annualized distributions consistent with the 
distribution level established from time to time by our board of directors. Our ability to maintain this policy will depend upon the availability of 
cash flow and applicable requirements for qualification as a REIT under the federal income tax laws. Therefore, we cannot assure you that there 
will be cash flow available to pay distributions or that distributions will not fluctuate. If cash available for distribution is insufficient to pay 
distributions to you as a stockholder, we may obtain the necessary funds by borrowing, issuing new securities and/or selling assets. These 
methods of obtaining funds could affect future distributions by increasing operating costs.  
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To the extent that distributions to our stockholders are made and are made out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, such 

distributions will be taxable as ordinary dividend income. To the extent that distributions exceed our current and accumulated earnings and 
profits, such amounts will constitute a return of capital to our stockholders for federal income tax purposes, to the extent of their basis in their 
stock, and thereafter will constitute capital gain. Distributions to our shareholders could also constitute capital gains if we recognize capital gain 
income.  
   

Quarterly distributions will be calculated with daily record and distribution declaration dates. However, our board of directors could not pay 
distributions or could, if made, at any time, elect to pay distributions annually to reduce administrative costs. It is our general policy, subject to 
applicable REIT rules, to reinvest proceeds from the sale, financing, refinancing or other disposition of our properties through the purchase of 
additional properties, although we cannot assure you that we will be able to do so.  

   
Tax Policy  
   

We plan to elect to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), 
beginning with our taxable year ended December 31, 2012.  

   
Economic Dependency  
   

We are dependent on the Advisor for certain services that are essential to us, including the identification, evaluation, negotiation, purchase 
and disposition of properties and other investments; the management of the daily operations of our real estate portfolio; and other general and 
administrative responsibilities. In the event that the Advisor is unable to provide the respective services, we will be required to obtain such 
services from other sources.  
   
General Competitive Conditions  
   

We will encounter certain conditions related to the markets we select for investments. Real estate is generally a local market although these 
local markets can be impacted by macro-economic conditions (interest rates, employment growth rates, consumer confidence, national politics). 
The success of our projects is impacted by our ability to gauge regional economic conditions and seek out opportunities where gaps in the market 
exist.  
   

We are also subject to competition from other firms seeking to do business within the same market niche. Among our competition are pension 
funds and those firms funded by pension funds, investment banking businesses that committed capital to this business line, privately held 
investment firms based both locally and regionally, and homebuilders and developers that have sufficient resources to hold land for long-term 
investment. As the lead time for our investments to maturity is lengthy, we will have to analyze and project future demand in addition to 
accounting for other competition in the same investment area. As there are numerous competitors in each market with potentially similar 
business plans, the presence of this localized competition could adversely impact our investment returns.  
   

The markets we select for investment as well as the competition within these markets could be impacted by capital markets and the 
availability of funds from these capital sources. Whether we are purchasing an investment or selling an investment that we have held for a period 
of time, our ability to purchase at a price which will provide us the best opportunity for long-term appreciation or to sell an investment at a price 
which will take advantage of the investment’s long-term appreciation will depend on the availability of capital at the time the purchasing or 
selling is taking place.  
   
Employees  
   

We have no direct employees. The employees of the Advisor and its affiliates provide management, acquisition, advisory and certain 
administrative services for us.  

   
Compliance with Federal, State, and Local Law  
   

Many laws and governmental regulations are applicable to our operational plan and changes in these laws and regulations, or their 
interpretation by agencies and the courts, occur frequently.  
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Costs of Government Environmental Regulation and Private Litigation .    As a result of environmental laws and regulations we may be 

liable for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic substances on properties we acquire. These laws could impose 
liability without regard to whether we are responsible for the presence or release of the hazardous materials. Government investigations and 
remediation actions may have substantial costs and the presence of hazardous substances on a property could result in personal injury or similar 
claims by private plaintiffs. Various laws also impose liability on persons who arrange for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic 
substances for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous substances at the disposal or treatment facility. These laws often impose liability 
whether or not the person arranging for the disposal ever owned or operated the disposal facility. If we become the owner of the property at 
issue, we may be considered to have arranged for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substances.  

   
Costs of Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act .    Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the “ADA”), all 

public accommodations must meet federal requirements for access and use by disabled persons. Although our primary business focus is 
undeveloped land, we may, at times, acquire properties that require compliance with the ADA. If we acquire such properties we may incur 
additional costs in connection with the ADA. Additional federal, state and local laws also may require that we modify properties we acquire or 
restrict our ability to renovate these properties. Management cannot predict the cost of compliance with the ADA or other legislation. If we incur 
substantial costs to comply with the ADA or any other legislation, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to satisfy 
our debt service obligations and pay distributions could be adversely affected.    
   

Use of Hazardous Substances by Tenants .    If we lease property, some of our tenants may handle hazardous substances and wastes on the 
leased premises as part of their routine operations. Environmental laws and regulations subject these tenants, and potentially us, to liability 
resulting from such activities. We would require tenants, in their leases, to comply with these environmental laws and regulations and to 
indemnify us for any related liabilities.  
   

Other Federal, State and Local Regulations .    Properties we acquire are subject to various federal, state and local regulatory 
requirements, such as state and local fire and life safety requirements. If we fail to comply with these various requirements, we might incur 
governmental fines or private damage awards. If we were required to make significant expenditures under applicable regulations, our financial 
condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to satisfy any debt service obligations and to pay distributions could be adversely affected.  

   
Investment Company Act  

   
We intend to operate in such a manner that we will not be subject to regulation under the Investment Company Act. In order to maintain 

our exemption from regulation under the Investment Company Act, we must comply with technical and complex rules and regulations.  
   
Specifically, in order to maintain our exemption from regulation as an investment company under the Investment Company Act, we intend 

to engage primarily in the business of investing in interests in real estate.  
   

In order to avoid coming within the application of the Investment Company Act either as a company engaged primarily in investing in 
interests in real estate or under another exemption from the Investment Company Act, the investment committee of our advisor may be required 
to impose limitations on our investment activities. In particular, the investment committee of our advisor may limit the percentage of our assets 
that falls into certain categories specified in the Investment Company Act, which could result in us holding assets we otherwise might desire to 
sell and selling assets we otherwise might wish to retain. In addition, we may have to acquire additional assets that we might not otherwise have 
acquired or be forced to forego investments that we would otherwise want to acquire and that could be important to our investment strategy. On 
a limited basis, we may invest in preferred equity securities and mortgage loans. The investment committee of our advisor will monitor such 
investments to ensure continued compliance with one or more exemptions from investment company status under the Investment Company Act 
and, depending on the particular characteristics of those investments and our overall portfolio, the investment committee of our advisor may be 
required to limit the percentage of our assets represented by preferred equity securities or mortgage loans.  
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If for any reason we were required to register as an investment company, we would have to comply with a variety of substantive 

requirements under the Investment Company Act imposing, among other things:  
   

   

   

   

   
Available Information  

   
Access to copies of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and other filings with the SEC, including amendments 

to such filings are available via a link to http:/ / www.sec.gov on our website at www.shopoffpropertiestrust.com as soon as reasonably 
practicable after such materials are electronically filed with the SEC. They are also available for printing by any stockholder upon request. We 
maintain our own website and have an address and telephone number separate from the Advisor. Our Advisor’s principal executive offices are 
located at 2 Park Plaza Suite 700, Irvine, California 92614 and its telephone number is (877) 874-7348.  

   

  

• limitations on capital structure; 

• restrictions on specified investments; 

• prohibitions on transactions with affiliates; and 

• compliance with reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy disclosures and other rules and regulations that would significantly 
change our operations. 
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS  
   

Following are some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those presented in our 
forward-looking statements. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face but do represent those risks and 
uncertainties that we believe are material to us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem 
immaterial may also harm our business.  
   
Risks Related to Our Business  
   

At the close of our offering we had raised $18,434,750 in common stock sales including shares issued to our Sponsor. We have invested a 
majority of these funds in real estate and real estate related investments, significantly reducing funds available for operations. Unless we 
can generate additional cash flow, we may not be able to meet our liquidity requirements successfully.  

   
We intend to create and preserve cash flow from the restructuring of due dates on existing loans, securing appropriate longer-term debt, or 

funding via joint venture relationships with real estate private equity firms and hedge funds that have an interest in our investment space; such 
firms would purchase a portion of existing Company real estate assets in exchange for cash. Although we cannot predict our level of success or 
timing from these endeavors at this time, these conditions raise concerns about our ability to continue to meet our liquidity requirements for the 
foreseeable future. Management believes that (i) an extension of the maturity date of the Desert Moon Estates Company note payable is possible 
as the lender has extended the maturity date of this note on two previous occasions (see Note 5 of the notes to consolidated financial statements), 
(ii) an extension of the maturity date of the second lien on the Vantage Point property is possible as management successfully negotiated with the 
lender during the Company’s acquisition of the Vantage Point property, (iii) lending sources for land assets have become more available 
although the cost of funds could be high, and (iv) a recapitalization whereby a third-party capital source would take partial ownership of existing 
Company assets in a joint venture arrangement in exchange for cash is possible as discussions have occurred with several real estate private 
equity firms who have indicated interest in taking a partial ownership position with existing Company assets. As a result of (i), (ii), (iii), and (iv) 
above, we believe we will have sufficient funds for the operation of the Company for the near future. If (i), (ii), (iii), and (iv) discussed above do 
not happen, we may need to consider alternative solutions or we may need to cease operations. See Note 1 of the notes to consolidated financial 
statements.  
   

We and the Advisor are relatively new companies with relatively limited operating histories, and we may not be able to operate successfully.  
   

We and the Advisor were formed in 2006 and solely in connection with our public offering. Accordingly we have relatively limited operating 
histories. You should not rely upon the past performance of other real estate investment programs sponsored by the Sponsor to predict our future 
results. Additionally, ours is the only public company that our officers, the Advisor, our other affiliates or their respective employees have 
operated and is the only entity we have operated which has elected to be taxed as a REIT. You should consider our prospects in light of the risks, 
uncertainties and difficulties frequently encountered by companies that are, like us, in their early stages as an active company. To be successful, 
we must, among other things:  
   

   

   

   

   

   
Our failure, or the Advisor’s failure, to operate successfully or profitably could have a material adverse effect on our ability to generate 

operating cash flow to make distributions to our stockholders and could cause you to lose all or a portion of your investment in our shares of 
common stock.  

   

  

• identify and acquire investments that further our investment strategies; 

• increase awareness of the Shopoff name within the investment products market; 

• attract, integrate, motivate and retain qualified personnel to manage our day-to-day operations; 

• respond to competition for our targeted real estate properties and other real estate-related investments as well as for potential investors in 
our shares; and 

• build and expand our operations structure to support our business. 
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Our investments may differ from prior programs sponsored by the Sponsor, and therefore the past performance of those programs may not 
be indicative of our future results.  

   
The past performance of investment programs sponsored by the Sponsor may not be indicative of our future results, and we may not be able 

to successfully implement and operate our business, which is different in a number of respects from the operations of those programs. The 
returns to our stockholders depend in part on the mix of products in which we invest, the stage of investment and our place in the capital 
structure for our investments. Our portfolio may or may not mirror in any way the portfolios of the prior programs sponsored by the Sponsor, 
and accordingly returns to our stockholders will vary from those generated by such programs. While the Sponsor has experience in managing 
real estate portfolios, the Sponsor, the Advisor, and its affiliates have much more limited experience in operating a REIT or a publicly-offered 
investment program. As a result of all these factors, you should not assume that you will experience returns, if any, comparable to those 
experienced by investors in the prior programs sponsored by the Sponsor and its affiliates.  

   
Payment of fees, distributions and expense reimbursements to the Advisor and its affiliates will reduce cash available for investment and for 
distribution to our stockholders.  

   
The Advisor and its affiliates perform services for us in connection with the offer and sale of our shares, the management of our investments, 

and administrative and other services. The Advisor is paid acquisition and advisory fees, an asset management fee and a disposition fee, as 
determined by our board of directors, for these services pursuant to the Advisory Agreement between us and the Advisor. In addition, 
distributions may be payable to the Advisor pursuant to the subordinated participation interest it holds in the Operating Partnership upon a 
distribution of distributable cash to our stockholders, the listing of our shares or the termination of the Advisor as our advisor. In addition, the 
Advisor and its affiliates provide administrative services to us for which it is reimbursed at cost. These fees, distributions and expense 
reimbursements are substantial and reduce the amount of cash available for investment and distribution to our stockholders.  

   
We may suffer from delays in locating suitable investments, which could reduce our ability to make distributions, if any, to our stockholders 
and reduce the return on your investment.  

   
We rely on the investment committee of the Advisor to identify and negotiate the terms of acquisitions of real estate and real estate-related 

investments we make. There can be no assurance that the investment committee of the Advisor will be able to continue to identify or negotiate 
acceptable terms for the acquisition of, or make real estate-related investments with respect to, real estate that meets our investment criteria, or 
that we will be able to acquire such real estate or make such real estate-related investments on terms favorable to us or at all. Any delays we 
encounter in identifying and negotiating acquisitions of real estate and real estate-related investments could reduce your returns and our ability to 
make distributions to our stockholders.  
   

We acquire, entitle and hold properties as long-term investments. Accordingly, you may not realize a return on your investment for years, if 
at all.  

   
Our business strategy is primarily to acquire, entitle and hold vacant undeveloped real estate. While we may on occasion invest in properties 

that produce operating income, the majority of our properties do not produce income and, accordingly, distributions to stockholders are expected 
to be made at the time when our undeveloped properties are sold or refinanced. The entitlement process may take two or more years and we may 
continue to hold the property after the entitlements are completed, depending upon market conditions. Accordingly, it will be a period of years 
before you earn any return on your investment, if at all.  
   

We may not have sufficient funds to pay dividends prior to the sale of properties we acquire or after the sale of properties we acquire.  
   

Our directors will determine the amount and timing of cash dividends to our stockholders based on many factors, including the amount of 
funds available for distribution, our financial condition, requirements we must meet to qualify to be taxed as a REIT, whether to reinvest or 
distribute such funds, capital expenditure and reserve requirements and general operational requirements. The amount of funds available for 
distribution will be affected by (i) our ability to identify and make real estate or real estate-related investments, (ii) the amount of the returns 
upon the sale of those real estate or real estate-related investments we make, and (iii) our operating expense levels, as well as many other 
variables. We may never have sufficient funds to allow us to pay dividends or to meet other financial obligations and, if we do pay dividends, we 
may not be able to maintain or increase such dividends.  
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We are uncertain of our sources of debt and/or equity financing to fund future capital needs. If we are not able to locate sources of 
funding, our ability to make necessary capital improvements to our properties may be impaired or delayed.  

   
Proceeds raised were used to buy real estate, make real estate-related investments and pay various fees and expenses. In addition, once we 

elect REIT status, in order to, to maintain our REIT status, we generally must distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our taxable income 
each year, excluding capital gains. Because of this distribution requirement, it is not likely that we will be able to fund a significant portion of 
our future capital needs from retained earnings. We have not identified any specific sources of debt or equity for future funding, and we cannot 
assure you that such sources of funding will be available to us on favorable terms or at all. If we do not have access to sufficient funding in the 
future, we may not be able to make necessary capital improvements to our properties, pay other expenses or expand our business.  
   

We depend on key personnel, the loss of any of whom could be detrimental to our business.  
   

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of certain key personnel, including William A. Shopoff, 
Edward Fitzpatrick, Kevin Bridges and Tim McSunas, each of whom would be difficult to replace. None of our key personnel are currently 
subject to employment agreements with us. Although we purchased key man life insurance to cover transition and replacement costs for certain 
of our key executive officers, if any of our key personnel were to cease employment with us, our operating results could suffer. We also believe 
that our future success depends, in large part, upon our ability, and the ability of the Advisor, to attract and retain highly skilled managerial, 
operational and marketing personnel. Competition for such personnel is intense, and we cannot assure you that we or the Advisor will be 
successful in attracting and retaining such personnel.  
   

Our success is dependent on the performance of the Advisor as well as key employees of the Advisor.  
   

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to pay dividends is dependent upon the performance of the Advisor and its key 
employees in the management of our investments and operation of our day-to-day activities. You will have no opportunity to evaluate the terms 
of transactions or other economic or financial data concerning the properties we may acquire in the future. We rely entirely on the management 
ability of the Advisor, subject to the oversight of our board of directors. The Advisor is not required to provide any specific or dedicated 
personnel to managing our business, nor is it required to dedicate any specific amount of time to our business. If the Advisor suffers or is 
distracted by adverse financial or operational problems in connection with its operations unrelated to us, the Advisor may be unable to allocate 
time and/or resources to our operations. If the Advisor is unable to allocate sufficient resources to oversee and perform our operations for any 
reason, we may be unable to achieve our investment objectives or to pay dividends to our stockholders.  

   
Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war may affect the markets in which we operate, our operations and our profitability.  

   
Terrorist attacks may negatively affect our operations and your investment in our shares. We cannot assure you that there will not be further 

terrorist attacks against the United States or United States businesses. These attacks or armed conflicts may directly impact the value of our 
properties through damage, destruction, loss and/or increased security costs. Risks associated with potential acts of terrorism could sharply 
increase the premiums we pay for insurance coverage against property and casualty claims. We do not intend to obtain insurance that specifically 
covers against losses arising from terrorism unless required by our lenders. As a result, we may suffer uninsured losses as a result of terrorism, or 
in cases where we are required to obtain terrorism insurance, such insurance may not be sufficient to cover loss for damages to our properties as 
a result of terrorist attacks.  
   

More generally, terrorist attacks, war or political instability could result in increased volatility in, or damage to, the United States and 
worldwide financial markets and economy, which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition, as well 
as our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders.  
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Our results of operations, our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders and our ability to dispose of our investments are subject to 
general economic and regulatory factors we cannot control or predict.  

   
Our results of operations are subject to the risks of a national economic slowdown or disruption, other changes in national or local economic 

conditions and changes in tax, real estate, environmental or zoning laws. The following factors may affect income from our real estate and real 
estate-related investments, our ability to dispose of real estate and real estate-related investments, and yields from our real estate and real estate-
related investments:  
   

   

   

   
Some or all of the foregoing factors may affect the returns we receive from our investments, our results of operations, our ability to pay 

dividends to our stockholders and/or our ability to dispose of our investments.  
   

Depressed real estate prices in the markets in which we own and intend to acquire the majority of our properties may adversely impact our 
business.  

   
The severe economic downturn has disproportionately impacted real estate prices in the states of Arizona, California, Colorado and Nevada 

where we have acquired our real estate assets and made real estate related investments.  While the depressed real estate prices and excess 
inventories resulting from this downturn may represent greater opportunities for us to acquire real estate assets at a reduced cost compared to 
historical values, it may also mean that we may have to hold our real estate assets and real estate-related investments for a longer period of time 
or sell or otherwise dispose of our real estate assets and real estate-related investments at a loss, in order to attain our investment objectives, both 
long and short term, which may adversely affect our net income, capital and business, generally, as well as your investment.  
   

Difficult conditions in the financial markets and the economy generally have made raising capital more difficult for us and may make the 
successful implementation of our business plan more difficult.  

   
Although there are indications that an economic recovery in the United States is underway, the nature of the recovery in the economic, credit 

and financial markets remains uncertain, and there can be no assurance that market conditions will continue to improve in the near future or that 
our results will not continue to be materially and adversely affected. Disruptions, uncertainty or volatility in the capital and credit markets may 
limit our access to the capital we need to grow our business and successfully implement our business plan.  We raised approximately $18 million 
in our $200 million initial public offering, which ended August 29, 2010. We currently have limited diversification in terms of the number of 
investments owned, the geographic regions in which our investments are located, and the types of investments we have made. Your investment 
in our shares is subject to greater risk to the extent that we lack a diversified portfolio of investments. In such event, the likelihood of our 
profitability being significantly affected by the performance of any one of our investments will increase.  

   
There is currently no public market for our shares of common stock. Therefore, it will likely be difficult for you to sell your shares and, if 
you are able to sell your shares, you may have to sell them at a substantial discount from the price you paid.  

   
There currently is no public market for our shares of common stock. We do not expect a public market for our stock to develop prior to the 

listing of our shares on a national securities exchange, which we do not expect to occur in the near future and which may not occur at all. 
Additionally, our charter contains restrictions on the ownership and transfer of our shares, and these restrictions may inhibit your ability to sell 
your shares. If you are able to sell your shares, you may only be able to sell them at a substantial discount from the price you paid. This may be 
the result, in part, of the fact that available funds have been reduced to pay organizational and offering expenses and acquisition and advisory 
fees and other expenses. Unless our aggregate investments increase in value to compensate for up front fees and expenses, which may not occur, 
it is unlikely that you will be able to sell your shares without incurring a substantial loss. We cannot assure you that your shares will ever 
appreciate in value to equal the price you paid for your shares. Shares in our initial public offering were sold at $9.50 per share. On February 20, 
2012, the Company’s board of directors approved a basic estimated value per share of the Company’s common stock of $6.56 and a fully diluted 
estimated value per share of the Company’s common stock of $6.24. Our stockholders should consider the purchase of our shares of common 
stock as an illiquid and long-term investment. You must be prepared to hold your shares for an indefinite length of time.  

   

  

• Increases in supply of competing properties and/or decreases in demand for our properties may impact our results; 

• Changes in interest rates and availability of debt financing could render the sale of properties difficult or unattractive; 

• Increased insurance premiums, real estate taxes or energy or other expenses may reduce funds available for distribution. 
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The estimated per share value of our common stock determined by our board of directors is subject to certain limitations and qualifications 
and may not reflect the amount an investor would obtain if such investor tried to sell his/her/its shares or if we liquidated our assets.  
   

On February 20, 2012, our board of directors approved a basic estimated value per share of the Company’s common stock of $6.56 and 
a fully diluted estimated value per share of the Company’s common stock of $6.24. The valuation methodology was based upon a number of 
estimates and assumptions that may not be accurate or complete. Different parties with different assumptions and estimates could derive a 
different estimated value per share. Accordingly, with respect to the estimated value per share, the Company can give no assurance that (i) a 
stockholder would be able to resell his or her shares at this estimated value; (ii) a stockholder would ultimately realize distributions per share 
equal to the Company’s estimated value per share upon liquidation of the Company’s assets and settlement of its liabilities or a sale of the 
Company; (iii) the Company’s shares of common stock would trade at the estimated value per share on a national securities exchange; (iv) an 
independent third-party appraiser or other third-party valuation firm would agree with the Company’s estimated value per share; or (v) the 
methodology used to estimate the Company’s value per share would be acceptable to the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or for 
compliance with Employee Retirement Income Security Act reporting requirements. The value of the Company’s shares will fluctuate over time 
in response to developments related to individual assets in the portfolio and the management of those assets and in response to the real estate and 
finance markets.  

   
Our shareholders will be unable to evaluate the manner in which the net proceeds are invested and the economic merits of projects prior to 
investment.  

   
Our shareholders will not have the opportunity to evaluate the transaction terms or other financial or operational data concerning our real 

estate and real estate-related investments. You must rely on the investment committee of the Advisor to evaluate our investment opportunities, 
and the investment committee of the Advisor may not be able to achieve our investment objectives, may make unwise decisions or may make 
decisions that are not in our best interest because of conflicts of interest. Further, we cannot assure you that acquisitions of real estate or real 
estate-related investments made by the Advisor will produce a return on our investment or will generate any operating cash flow to enable us to 
make distributions to our stockholders.  
   

As we were unable to raise substantial funds in our offering, we are limited in the number and type of investments we may make, which will 
result in a less diversified portfolio.  

   
As we were unable to raise substantially more than the minimum offering amount, we have limited diversification in terms of the number of 

investments owned, the geographic regions in which our investments are located and the types of investments that we have made. Your 
investment in our shares is subject to greater risk as we lack a diversified portfolio of investments. Due to our lack of a diversified portfolio of 
investments, the likelihood of our profitability being significantly affected by the performance of any one of our investments has increased. In 
addition, as we were unable to raise substantially more than the minimum offering amount, the value of your shares have declined, because the 
payment of fees and expenses to the Advisor and its affiliates, and the operating expenses of the REIT have absorbed a greater percentage of the 
aggregate amount of funds raised, resulting in a lower amount of funds remaining for investments in real estate.  

   
The board of directors has significant discretion to modify or expand our investment objectives and policies without shareholder approval.  

   
Subject to the limitations in our charter, our bylaws and the Maryland General Corporation Law, or MGCL, our powers will be exercised by 

or under the authority of, and our business and affairs will be controlled by, the board of directors. The board of directors has the right and power 
to establish policies concerning our investments and the right, power and obligation to monitor our procedures, investment operations and 
performance.  
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In general, our charter can be amended if approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock, but 

the board of directors has the exclusive power to amend or repeal the bylaws and to make new bylaws.  
   

Within the express restrictions and prohibitions of our bylaws, our charter and applicable law, the board of directors has significant 
discretion to modify our investment objectives and policies. We have no present intention to modify any of our investment objectives and 
policies, and it is anticipated that any modification would occur only if business and economic factors affecting us made our stated investment 
objectives and policies unworkable or imprudent.  
   

Thus, while this annual report on Form 10-K accurately and fully discloses our current investment objectives and policies, prospective 
stockholders must be aware that the board of directors, acting consistently with our organizational documents, applicable law and their fiduciary 
obligations, may elect to modify or expand our objectives and policies from time to time. Any action by the board of directors would be based 
upon the best interests of our stockholders. Our stockholders will have no voting rights with respect to implementing our investment objectives 
and policies, all of which are the responsibility of our board of directors and the investment committee of the Advisor and may be changed at any 
time.  
   

Some states’ securities laws may limit secondary trading of our common stock, which may restrict the states in which you can sell your 
shares.  

   
Our shares are not registered in all states and U.S. territories. You may not be able to resell the shares in certain states and U.S. territories 

unless the shares of our common stock are registered under the applicable securities laws of the jurisdiction or there is confirmation that an 
exemption from registration is available for secondary trading in such jurisdiction. If we are not registered or qualified or subject to an 
exemption for the secondary trading of, our common stock in any particular jurisdiction, the shares of common stock could not be offered or sold 
to, or purchased by, a resident of that jurisdiction. In addition, resales of shares registered under the securities laws of the State of California are 
subject to the approval of the California Commissioner of Corporations, subject to certain exceptions.  

   
Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate  
   

Uncertainties in the entitlement process may result in increased costs and risks of ownership of the properties.  
   

We have invested a substantial portion of the proceeds available for investment in undeveloped real estate and in the entitlement of such real 
estate. For those properties, we are subject to risks relating to uncertainties associated with entitlements, environmental risks, and other 
mandates/concerns of governmental entities and/or community groups and our ability to control entitlement costs and/or to develop the land in 
conformity with plans, specifications and timetables. While we generally expect at least a 2-year entitlement process for the undeveloped real 
estate properties we acquire, delays in completion of the entitlement process beyond the expected time period could result in increased costs of a 
project and/or loss of our investment. Furthermore, we must rely upon projections of expenses and estimates of the fair market value of property 
upon completion of the entitlement process when determining a price to be paid for the property at the time of its acquisition. If our projections 
are inaccurate, we may pay too much for a property, and our return on our investment could suffer.  
   

Uncertain market conditions relating to the future disposition of properties could cause us to sell our properties at a loss in the future.  
   

We intend to hold our real estate and real estate-related investments until such time as the Advisor determines that a sale or other disposition 
appears to be advantageous to achieve our investment objectives. The Advisor, subject to the oversight of our board of directors, may exercise its 
discretion as to whether and when to sell a property, and we will have no obligation to sell properties at any particular time, except upon our 
liquidation if we do not list the shares by August 29, 2017. We generally intend to hold properties for an extended period of time, and we cannot 
predict with any certainty the various market conditions affecting real estate investments that will exist at any particular time in the future. 
Because of the uncertainty of market conditions that may affect the future disposition of our properties, we cannot assure you that we will be 
able to sell our properties at a profit in the future. Additionally, we may incur prepayment penalties in the event we sell a property subject to a 
mortgage earlier than we had planned. Accordingly, the extent to which you will receive cash distributions and realize potential appreciation on 
our real estate investments will, among other things, be dependent upon fluctuating unpredictable market conditions.  
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We face possible liability for environmental cleanup costs and damages for contamination related to properties we acquire, which could 
substantially increase our costs and reduce our liquidity and cash distributions to stockholders.  

   
Because we own undeveloped real estate, partially improved residential and commercial properties, and real estate-related investments, we 

are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations. Under these laws, ordinances and regulations, a 
current or previous owner or operator of real estate may be liable for the cost of remediation of hazardous or toxic substances on, under or in 
such property. The costs of remediation could be substantial. Such laws often impose liability whether or not the owner or operator knew of, or 
was responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances. Environmental laws also may impose restrictions on the manner in 
which property may be used or businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures. Environmental laws 
provide for sanctions in the event of noncompliance and may be enforced by governmental agencies or, in certain circumstances, by private 
parties. Certain environmental laws and common law principles could be used to impose liability for release of and exposure to hazardous 
substances, including asbestos-containing materials into the air, and third parties may seek recovery from owners or operators of real estate for 
personal injury and/or property damage associated with exposure to released hazardous substances. In addition, new or more stringent laws 
and/or stricter interpretations of existing laws could change the cost of compliance or liabilities and restrictions arising out of such laws. The cost 
of defending these claims, complying with environmental regulatory requirements, conducting remediation of any contaminated property, and/or 
of paying personal injury claims could be substantial, which would reduce our liquidity and cash available for distribution to you. In addition, the 
presence of hazardous substances on a property or the failure to meet environmental regulatory requirements may materially impair our ability to 
sell a property, or to use the property as collateral for borrowing.  

   
Competition with third parties in acquiring properties and other investments may reduce our profitability and the return on your 
investment.  

   
We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, including individuals, corporations, bank and insurance 

company investment accounts, pension funds, other REITs, real estate limited partnerships and foreign investors, many of which have greater 
resources than we do. Many of these entities may enjoy significant competitive advantages that result from, among other things, a lower cost of 
capital and/or enhanced operating efficiencies. In addition, the number of entities and the amount of funds competing for suitable investments 
may increase. As such, competition with third parties would result in increased demand for these assets and therefore increased prices paid for 
them. If we pay higher prices for properties and other investments, our profitability will be reduced and you may experience a lower return (if 
any) on your investment.  
   

Uninsured losses relating to real estate may reduce your returns.  
   

The Advisor will attempt to ensure that all of our properties are adequately insured to cover certain casualty losses; however, there are types 
of losses, generally catastrophic in nature, such as losses due to wars, acts of terrorism, earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, pollution or 
environmental matters, for which we do not intend to obtain insurance unless we are required to do so by mortgage lenders. If any of our 
properties incurs a casualty loss that is not fully covered by insurance, the value of our assets will be reduced by any such uninsured loss. In 
addition, other than any reserves we may establish, we have no source of funding to repair or reconstruct any uninsured damaged property, and 
we cannot assure you that any such sources of funding will be available to us for such purposes in the future. Also, to the extent we must pay 
unexpectedly large amounts for uninsured losses, we could suffer reduced earnings that would result in less cash to be distributed to 
stockholders. In cases where we are required by mortgage lenders to obtain casualty loss insurance for catastrophic events, such insurance may 
not be available, or may not be available at a reasonable cost, which could inhibit our ability to finance or refinance our properties.  
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Risks Associated With Real Estate-Related Investments  
   

We may make or acquire real estate-related investments which include but are not limited to first mortgages, second mortgages or 
mezzanine loans secured, directly or indirectly by the same types of properties we may acquire directly, and also preferred equity investments in 
partnerships and/or limited liability companies that own the same types of properties that we may acquire directly. We will be subject to risks 
associated with these real estate-related investments, including the material risks discussed below.  
   

Our real estate-related investments may be impacted by unfavorable real estate market conditions, which could decrease their value.  
   

If we make real estate-related investments, we will be at risk of a loss on those investments, including losses as a result of defaults on 
mortgage loans. These losses may be caused by many conditions beyond our control, including local and other economic conditions affecting 
real estate values, interest rate levels, and other economic and liability risks associated with real estate. We do not know whether the values of 
the property securing any real estate-related investments we may acquire will remain at the levels existing on the dates we initially make such 
investment. If the values of the underlying properties decline, our risk will increase and the values of our interests may decrease.  
   

Our returns on mortgage loans may be reduced by interest rate fluctuations.  
   

If we invest in fixed-rate, long-term mortgage loans and interest rates rise, the mortgage loans could yield a return lower than then-current 
market rates. Also, if interest rates decrease and mortgage loans are prepaid without adequate penalty, we may not be able to make new loans or 
other real estate-related investments at the previously higher interest rates.  
   

Delays in liquidating defaulted real estate-related investments could reduce our investment returns.  
   

If there are defaults under our real estate-related investments, we may not be able to foreclose on or obtain a suitable remedy with respect to 
such investments. Specifically, if there are defaults under mortgage loans, we may not be able to repossess and sell the underlying properties 
quickly. The resulting time delay could reduce the value of our investment. For example, an action to foreclose on a property securing a 
mortgage loan is regulated by state statutes and rules and is subject to many of the delays and expenses of lawsuits if the defendant raises 
defenses or counterclaims. Additionally, in the event of default by a mortgagor, these restrictions, among other things, may impede our ability to 
foreclose on or sell the mortgaged property or to obtain proceeds sufficient to repay all amounts due to us on the mortgage loan.  
   

Returns on our mortgage loans may be limited by regulations.  
   

The mortgage loans may also be subject to regulation by federal, state and local authorities and subject to various laws and judicial and 
administrative decisions, which may increase our costs associated with making or acquiring mortgage loans and thereby reduce our returns. In 
addition, we may determine not to make mortgage loans in certain jurisdictions based on state or local regulation, which may limit our ability to 
make or acquire mortgage loans that we otherwise believe to be attractive investments.  

   
Foreclosures create additional risks, as we would be subject to all of the risks of owning the property on which we foreclose.  

   
If we acquire property by foreclosure following defaults under our mortgage loans, we will have the economic and liability risks inherent in 

the ownership of real property.  
   

If we liquidate prior to the maturity of our real estate-related investments, we may be forced to sell those investments on unfavorable terms 
or at a loss.  

   
If we have not listed our shares on a national securities exchange by August 29, 2017, we will be required to submit for a vote of our 

stockholders to liquidate all of our assets and distribute the net proceeds to our stockholders. We may make real estate-related investments with 
terms that expire after August 29, 2017. If we become required to liquidate those investments prior to their maturity, we may be forced to sell 
those investments on unfavorable terms or at a loss. For instance, if we are required to liquidate mortgage loans at a time when prevailing 
interest rates are higher than the interest rates of such mortgage loans, we would likely sell such loans at a discount to their principal amount.  
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Risks Associated With Debt Financing  
   

We expect to incur mortgage and other indebtedness, which may increase our business risks and impair our ability to make distributions to 
our stockholders.  

   
We have made investments with both the net proceeds from our offering and debt. In addition, we have incurred mortgage debt by obtaining 

loans secured by some or all of our real estate. We may also borrow funds if necessary to satisfy the requirement that we distribute to 
stockholders as dividends at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income, or otherwise as is necessary or advisable to assure that we maintain 
our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes.  
   

Although we intend not to have a debt to equity ratio that exceeds 100% of the aggregate value of our real estate assets, incurring mortgage 
debt increases our risks since defaults on indebtedness secured by a property may result in foreclosure actions initiated by lenders and our loss of 
the property securing the loan that is in default. For tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property 
for a purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the 
mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property, we would recognize taxable income on foreclosure, but would not receive any cash proceeds. We 
may give full or partial guarantees of mortgage debt to the entities that own our properties. When we give a guaranty on behalf of an entity that 
owns one of our properties, we will be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the debt if it is not paid by such entity. If any mortgages 
contain cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions, there is a risk that more than one real property may be affected by a default. If any of 
our properties are foreclosed upon due to a default, we may have less cash available for distributions to our stockholders.  
   

If mortgage debt is unavailable at reasonable rates, we may not be able to finance or refinance the properties, which could reduce the 
number of properties we can acquire and the amount of cash distributions we can make.  

   
If mortgage debt is unavailable at reasonable rates, we may not be able to finance properties we wish to acquire, even if such acquisition 

would otherwise be in our best interests, which could reduce the number of properties we can acquire. In addition, once we have placed 
mortgage debt on properties, we run the risk of being unable to refinance the entire outstanding loan balance when the loans come due, or of 
being unable to refinance any amount on favorable terms. In addition, if interest rates are higher when properties require refinancing, we may not 
be able to refinance the entire outstanding loan balance or our debt service may be higher if we do refinance the loan balance, either of which 
could reduce our income from those properties and reduce cash available for distribution to our stockholders.  
   

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations, which could limit our ability to make distributions to 
our stockholders.  

   
In connection with obtaining debt financing, a lender could impose restrictions on us that affect our ability to incur additional debt and affect 

our distribution and operating policies. Loan documents we enter into may contain customary negative covenants that may limit our ability to 
further mortgage the property, to discontinue insurance coverage, to replace the Advisor as our advisor, and/or to impose other limitations. Any 
such restriction or limitation may have an adverse effect on our operations.  
   

Fluctuations in interest rates could increase our expenses, require us to sell investments and/or make it more difficult to make attractive 
investments.  

   
We expect that a portion of our indebtedness may bear interest at a variable rate. Accordingly, increases in interest rates would increase our 

interest costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our operating cash flow and our ability to pay dividends to you. In addition, if rising 
interest rates cause us to need additional capital to repay indebtedness in accordance with its terms or otherwise, we would be required to 
liquidate one or more of our investments in properties at times which may not permit realization of the maximum return on such investments. 
Further, increases in interest rates may make investments in other entities more attractive than an investment in us. Conversely, decreases in 
interest rates may cause the price of real estate and real estate-related investments to increase, thus making it more difficult for us to make 
otherwise attractive investments. Any of these circumstances could reduce our profitability and our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders.  
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If we enter into financing arrangements involving balloon payment obligations, the repayment of the balloon payments may require us to 
enter into unfavorable refinancings and/or to divert funds from other sources, which would reduce dividends paid.  

   
Some of our financing arrangements may require us to make a lump-sum or “balloon” payment at maturity. Our ability to make a balloon 

payment at maturity is uncertain and may depend upon our ability to obtain additional financing or our ability to sell the property. At the time the 
balloon payment is due, we may or may not be able to refinance the balloon payment on terms as favorable as the original loan or sell the 
property at a price sufficient to make the balloon payment, which could require us to incur debt on unfavorable terms and/or divert funds from 
other sources to make the balloon payment. As a result, financing arrangements with balloon payments could result in increased costs and reduce 
our liquidity. In addition, payments of principal and interest to service our debts may leave us with insufficient cash to pay the distributions that 
we are required to pay to maintain our qualification as a REIT. Any of these results would have a significant, negative impact on your 
investment.  
   

The tightening of the credit markets in Arizona, California, Hawaii, Nevada, and Texas, which may continue for an indefinite period of 
time, may make it increasingly difficult for us to secure financing at reasonable rates or at all, which may limit our ability to finance or 
refinance our real estate properties, reduce the number of properties we can acquire, and adversely affect your investment.  

   
Due to the collapse of the residential sub-prime mortgage market and the resulting credit crisis, the subsequent increased scrutiny of the 

lending industry by government regulators, and the resulting abundance of caution by lenders in evaluating and underwriting new transactions, 
there has been a significant tightening of the credit markets in Arizona, California, Hawaii, Nevada, and Texas, where we have acquired the 
majority of our real estate assets and real estate-related investments. The tightening in these credit markets, which may continue for an indefinite 
period of time, may make it increasingly difficult for us to secure mortgage debt at reasonable rates or at all, limiting the mortgage debt on real 
estate properties we wish to acquire, and even reducing the number of properties we can acquire. Even in the event that we are able to secure 
mortgage debt on, or otherwise finance, our real estate properties, due to increased costs associated with securing financing and other factors 
beyond our control, we run the risk of being unable to refinance the entire outstanding loan balance or being subject to unfavorable terms (such 
as higher loan fees, interest rates and periodic payments) if we do refinance the loan balance. Either of these results could reduce any income 
from those properties and reduce cash available for distribution, which may adversely affect your investment.  
   
Risks Associated with Joint Ventures  
   

The terms of joint venture agreements or other joint ownership arrangements into which we may enter could impair our operating 
flexibility and our results of operations.  

   
In connection with the purchase of real estate or making real estate-related investments, we may enter into joint ventures with affiliated or 

unaffiliated partners. In addition, we may also purchase or develop properties in co-tenancies and other co-ownership arrangements with 
affiliates of the Sponsor, the sellers of the properties, developers and/or similar persons. These structures involve participation in the investment 
by outsiders whose interests and rights may not be the same as ours. These joint venture partners or co-tenants may have rights to take some 
actions over which we have no control and may take actions contrary to our interests. For example, joint ownership of an investment, under 
certain circumstances, may involve risks not associated with direct ownership of such investment, including the following:  
   

   

   

   

  

• a partner or co-investor might have economic and/or other business interests or goals which are unlike or incompatible with our 
business interests or goals, including inconsistent goals relating to the sale of properties held in a joint venture and/or the timing of the 
termination and liquidation of the venture; 

• such partners or co-investors may become bankrupt and such proceedings could have an adverse impact on the operation of the 
partnership or joint venture; 

• we may incur liabilities as the result of actions taken by joint venture partners in which we had no direct involvement; and 
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If we have a right of first refusal or buy/sell right to buy out a co-venturer or partner, we may be unable to finance such a buy-out if it 

becomes exercisable or we may be forced to exercise those rights at a time when it would not otherwise be in our best interest to do so. If our 
interest is subject to a buy/sell right, we may not have sufficient cash, available borrowing capacity or other capital resources to allow us to 
purchase an interest of a co-venturer subject to the buy/sell right, in which case we may be forced to sell our interest when we would otherwise 
prefer to retain our interest. We may not be able to sell our interest in a joint venture on a timely basis or on acceptable terms if we desire to exit 
the venture for any reason, particularly if our interest is subject to a right of first refusal of our co-venturer or partner.  
   

We may structure our joint venture relationships in a manner which could limit the amount we participate in the cash flow or appreciation 
of an investment.  

   
We may enter into joint venture agreements, the economic terms of which may provide for the distribution of income to us otherwise than in 

direct proportion to our ownership interest in the joint venture. For example, while we and a co-venturer may invest an equal amount of capital 
in an investment, the investment may be structured such that we have a right to priority distributions of cash flow up to a certain target return 
while the co-venturer may receive a disproportionately greater share of cash flow than we are to receive once such target return has been 
achieved. This type of investment structure may result in the co-venturer receiving more of the cash flow, including appreciation, of an 
investment than we would receive. If we do not accurately judge the appreciation prospects of a particular investment or structure the agreement 
appropriately, we may incur losses on joint venture investments and/or have limited participation in the profits of a joint venture investment, 
either of which could reduce our ability to make cash distributions to our stockholders.  
   
Risks Associated With Our Organizational Structure  
   

Your interest in us may be diluted if we issue additional shares.  
   

Our stockholders do not have preemptive rights to any shares issued by us in the future. Our charter currently authorizes the issuance of 
200,000,000 shares of common stock. All such shares may be issued at the discretion of our board of directors.  
   

Our stockholders may also experience dilution of their equity investment in us in the event that we:  
   

   

   

   

   
The limit on the number of shares a person could own may discourage a takeover attempt.  

   
Our charter prohibits the ownership of more than 9.8% of the outstanding shares of common stock by any one investor. This restriction may 

discourage a change of control and may deter individuals or entities from making tender offers for our shares of common stock, which offers 
might otherwise be financially attractive to our stockholders and/or which might cause a change in our management. Further, this restriction may 
limit the opportunity for stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of common stock that might otherwise exist if an investor attempted 
to acquire in excess of 9.8% of our shares of common stock or otherwise to effect a change of control of us.  

   

  

• such partners or co-investors may be in a position to take action contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary to our policies and 
objectives or fail to take actions as we instruct, or in accordance with our policies and objectives, including our policy with respect to 
qualifying and maintaining our qualification as a REIT. 

• sell additional shares in the future; 

• sell securities that are convertible into shares of our common stock; 

• issue shares of our common stock in a private offering to institutional investors; or 

• issue shares of our common stock to sellers of properties acquired by us in connection with an exchange of limited partnership interests of 
the Operating Partnership (we have no intention of making such exchanges at this time). 

22 



   
Certain provisions of Maryland law and our charter and bylaws could hinder, delay or prevent a change in control of our company.  
   

Certain provisions of Maryland law, our charter and our bylaws have the effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing transactions that 
involve an actual or threatened change in control of our company. These provisions include the following:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

• Number of Directors, Board Vacancies, Term of Office. Under certain amendments to our charter which became effective at such time as a 
class of our equity securities was registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act (which occurred 
upon completion of our initial public offering), we have elected to be subject to certain provisions of Maryland law which vest in the board 
of directors the exclusive right to determine the number of directors and the exclusive right, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the 
remaining directors, to fill vacancies on the board even if the remaining directors do not constitute a quorum. 

• Classified Board. Under our charter, we have a classified board serving staggered, five-year terms, which may lengthen the time required to 
gain control of our board of directors. 

• Advance Notice Provisions for Stockholder Nominations and Proposals. Our bylaws require advance written notice for stockholders to 
nominate persons for election as directors at, or to bring other business before, any meeting of stockholders. This bylaw provision limits the 
ability of stockholders to make nominations of persons for election as directors or to introduce other proposals unless we are notified in a 
timely manner prior to the meeting. 

      
• Exclusive Authority of our Board to Amend the Bylaws. Our bylaws provide that our board of directors has the exclusive power to adopt, 

alter or repeal any provision of the bylaws or to make new bylaws. Thus, our stockholders may not effect any changes to our bylaws. 

• Preferred Stock. Under our charter, our board of directors has authority to issue preferred stock from time to time in one or more series and 
to establish the terms, preferences and rights of any such series of preferred stock, all without approval of our stockholders. 

• Duties of Directors with Respect to Unsolicited Takeovers Maryland law provides protection for Maryland corporations against unsolicited 
takeovers by limiting, among other things, the duties of the directors in unsolicited takeover situations. The duties of directors of Maryland 
corporations do not require them to (1) accept, recommend or respond to any proposal by a person seeking to acquire control of the 
corporation, (2) authorize the corporation to redeem any rights under, or modify or render inapplicable, any stockholders rights plan, (3) 
make a determination under the Maryland Business Combination Act or the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act, or (4) act or fail to 
act solely because of the effect of the act or failure to act may have on an acquisition or potential acquisition of control of the corporation or 
the amount or type of consideration that may be offered or paid to the stockholders in an acquisition. Moreover, under Maryland law the act 
of the directors of a Maryland corporation relating to or affecting an acquisition or potential acquisition of control is not subject to any 
higher duty or greater scrutiny than is applied to any other act of a director. Maryland law also contains a statutory presumption that an act 
of a director of a Maryland corporation satisfies the applicable standards of conduct for directors under Maryland law. 

• Ownership Limit. In order to preserve our status as a REIT under the Code once such status is obtained, our charter generally prohibits any 
person, from beneficially or constructively owning more than 9.8% in value or in number of shares (whichever is more restrictive) of the 
aggregate of our outstanding common stock or more than 9.8% of the aggregate of our outstanding shares of capital stock unless our board 
of directors waives or modifies this ownership limit. 

• Maryland Business Combination Act. The Maryland Business Combination Act provides that unless exempted, a Maryland corporation 
may not engage in business combinations, including mergers, dispositions of 10% or more of its assets, issuance of shares of stock and 
other specified transactions, with an “interested stockholder” or an affiliate of an interested stockholder for five years after the most recent 
date on which the interested stockholder became an interested stockholder, and thereafter unless specified criteria are met. An interested 
stockholder is generally a person owning or controlling, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the voting power of the outstanding stock of 
a Maryland corporation. Our board of directors has adopted a resolution exempting only transactions between us and our affiliates from this 
statute. Therefore, the provisions of the Maryland Business Combination Act are applicable to business combinations between our 
company and persons other than our affiliates. 
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Your investment return may be reduced if we are required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act.  

   
We are not registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. If we were required to register as 

an investment company, our ability to enter into certain transactions would be restricted by the Investment Company Act. Furthermore, the costs 
associated with registration as an investment company and compliance with such restrictions could be substantial. In addition, registration under 
and compliance with the Investment Company Act would require a substantial amount of time on the part of the Advisor and its affiliates, 
thereby decreasing the time they spend actively managing our investments. If we were required to register as an investment company but failed 
to do so, we would be prohibited from engaging in our business, and criminal and civil actions could be brought against us. In addition, our 
contracts would be unenforceable unless a court were to require enforcement, and a court could appoint a receiver to take control of us and 
liquidate our business.  
   
Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest  
   

We will be subject to conflicts of interest arising out of relationships among us, our officers, the Advisor and its affiliates, including the 
material conflicts discussed below. All references to affiliates of the Advisor include the Sponsor and each other affiliate of the Sponsor and the 
Advisor.  

   
We will compete with affiliates of the Advisor in the acquisition of properties.  

   
Affiliates of the Advisor have approximately 20 existing programs with investment objectives and strategies similar to ours (“Shopoff 

Programs”), and such affiliates may sponsor or advise other similar programs in the future. These existing and future programs may own 
properties located in geographical areas in which we may acquire properties. Therefore, we may compete with affiliates of the Advisor in the 
purchase of properties.  
   

If we enter into joint ventures with affiliates, we may face conflicts of interest or disagreements with our joint venture partners that will not 
be resolved as quickly or on terms as advantageous to us as would be the case if the joint venture had been negotiated at arm’s-length with 
an independent joint venture partner. As a result, your returns may be decreased by us entering into joint ventures with affiliates of the 
Advisor.  

   
In the event that we enter into a joint venture with any other program sponsored or advised by the Advisor or one of its affiliates, we may 

face certain additional risks and potential conflicts of interest. For example, securities issued by the other Shopoff Programs may never have an 
active trading market. Therefore, if we were to become listed on a national securities exchange, we may no longer have similar goals and 
objectives with respect to the resale of our properties in the future. In addition, in the event that we are not listed on a securities exchange, by 
August 29, 2017, our organizational documents provide for an orderly liquidation of our assets upon the affirmative vote of our stockholders. In 
the event of such liquidation, any joint venture between us and another Shopoff Programs may be required to sell its properties at such time. Our 
joint venture partners may not desire to sell the properties at that time. Joint ventures between us and other Shopoff Programs will not have the 
benefit of arm’s-length negotiation of the type normally conducted between unrelated co-venturers. Under these joint venture agreements, none 
of the co-venturers may have the power to control the venture, and an impasse could be reached regarding matters pertaining to the joint venture, 
including the timing of a liquidation, which might have a negative impact on the joint venture and decrease returns to you. Joint ventures with 
other Shopoff programs would also be subject to the risks associated with joint ventures with unaffiliated third parties described above.  

   

  

• Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act. Maryland law provides that “control shares” of a corporation acquired in a “control share 
acquisition” shall have no voting rights except to the extent approved by a vote of two-thirds of the votes eligible to be cast on the matter 
under the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act. “Control shares” means shares of stock that, if aggregated with all other shares of stock 
previously acquired by the acquiror, would entitle the acquiror to exercise voting power in electing directors within one of the following 
ranges of the voting power: one-tenth or more but less than one-third, one-third or more but less than a majority or a majority or more of all 
voting power. A “control share acquisition” means the acquisition of control shares, subject to certain exceptions. If voting rights of control 
shares acquired in a control share acquisition are not approved at a stockholders’ meeting, then subject to certain conditions and limitations, 
the issuer may redeem any or all of the control shares for fair value. If voting rights of such control shares are approved at a stockholders’
meeting and the acquiror becomes entitled to vote a majority of the shares of stock entitled to vote, all other stockholders may exercise 
appraisal rights. Our bylaws contain a provision exempting acquisitions of our shares from the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act. 
However, our board of directors may amend our bylaws in the future to repeal or modify this exemption, in which case any control shares 
of our company acquired in a control share acquisition will be subject to the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act. 
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The Advisor and employees of the Advisor and its affiliates will face conflicts of interest relating to time management and allocation of 
resources, and our results of operations may suffer as a result of these conflicts of interest.  

   
Affiliates of the Advisor are active in other real estate programs having investment objectives similar to ours or to which they have legal and 

fiduciary obligations similar to those they owe to us and our stockholders. Because affiliates of the Advisor have interests in other real estate 
programs and also engage in other business activities, they may have conflicts of interest in allocating their time and resources between our 
business and these other activities. During times of intense activity in other programs and ventures, they may devote less time and resources to 
our business than is necessary or appropriate. If the Advisor, for any reason, is not able to provide sufficient resources to manage our business 
due to the other activities of its affiliates, our business will suffer as we have no other personnel to perform these services. Likewise, if the 
Advisor or its affiliates suffer financial and/or operational problems as a result of any of the activities of its affiliates, whether or not related to 
our business, and the Advisor is unable to manage our business, we will have no one to manage or dispose of our investments. Conflicts with our 
business and interests are most likely to arise from involvement in activities related to:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   
The Advisor will face conflicts of interest relating to its compensation structure. The distribution payable to the Advisor upon termination of 
the Advisory Agreement may also influence decisions about terminating the Advisor or our acquisition or disposition of investments.  

   
Under the Advisory Agreement between us, the Operating Partnership and the Advisor, the Advisor holds a subordinated participation 

interest in the Operating Partnership which entitles it to certain fees and distributions that are structured in a manner intended to provide 
incentives to the Advisor to perform in our best interests and in the best interests of our stockholders. The Advisor is entitled to receive fees 
including acquisition and advisory fees, asset management fees and a subordinated disposition fee. The distributions the Advisor may become 
entitled to receive would be payable upon distribution of distributable cash to our stockholders, the listing of our shares or the termination of the 
Advisor as our advisor.  
   

However, because the Advisor does not maintain a significant equity interest in us and is entitled to receive substantial minimum 
compensation regardless of performance, the Advisor’ interests are not wholly aligned with those of our stockholders. In that regard, the only fee 
the Advisor receives with respect to on-going operation and management of properties is the asset management fee, which is initially based on 
the amount of our initial investment and not the performance of those investments, which could result in the Advisor not having adequate 
incentive to manage our portfolio to provide profitable operations during the period we hold our investments. On the other hand, the Advisor 
could be motivated to recommend riskier or more speculative investments in order to increase the fees payable to the Advisor or for us to 
generate the specified levels of performance or distributable cash that would entitle the Advisor to fees or distributions. In addition, the Advisor’ 
entitlement to fees upon the sale of our assets and to participate in distributable cash could result in the Advisor recommending sales of our 
investments at the earliest possible time at which sales of investments would produce the level of return which would entitle the Advisor to 
compensation relating to such sales, even if continued ownership of those investments might be in the best long-term interest of our 
stockholders.  

   

  

• the allocation of new investments among us and affiliates of the Advisor; 

• the allocation of time and resources among us and affiliates of the Advisor; 

• the timing and terms of the investment in or sale of an asset; 

• entitlement or management of our properties by affiliates of the Advisor; 

• investments with and/or sales to and acquisitions from affiliates of the Advisor; and 

• compensation to the Advisor. 
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The subordinated participation interest requires the Operating Partnership to make a distribution to the Advisor upon termination of the 

Advisory Agreement, other than a termination by us because of a material breach of the Advisory Agreement by the Advisor. This distribution 
will not be paid if we terminate the Advisory Agreement after the listing of our shares. To avoid the Operating Partnership making this 
distribution, our independent directors may decide against terminating the Advisory Agreement prior to listing our shares even if, but for the 
requirement to make this distribution, termination of the Advisory Agreement would be in the best interest of our stockholders. In addition, the 
requirement for the Operating Partnership to make this distribution could cause our independent directors to make different investment or 
disposition decisions than they would otherwise make, in order to satisfy the Operating Partnership’ obligation to the terminated advisor.  
   

We may acquire assets from, or dispose of assets to, entities managed by the Advisor or its affiliates, which could result in us entering into 
transactions on less favorable terms than we would receive from an unrelated party and/or that negatively affect the public’s perception of 
us.  

   
We may acquire properties or other real estate-related investments from entities which are managed by affiliates of the Advisor. Further, we 

may also dispose of properties or other real estate-related investments to entities which are controlled by affiliates of the Advisor. Affiliates of 
the Advisor may make substantial profits in connection with such transactions. Affiliates of the Advisor may owe fiduciary and/or other duties to 
the selling or purchasing entity in these transactions, and conflicts of interest between us and the selling or purchasing entities could exist in such 
transactions. Because our independent directors would rely on the investment committee of the Advisor in identifying and evaluating any such 
transaction, these conflicts could result in transactions based on terms that are less favorable to us than we would receive from a third party. 
Also, the existence of conflicts, regardless of how they are resolved, might negatively affect the public’s perception of us.  

   
The fees we pay the Advisor under the Advisory Agreement and the distributions payable to the Advisor under the partnership agreement of 
the Operating Partnership were not determined on an arm’s-length basis and therefore may not be on the same terms as those we could 
negotiate with a third-party.  

   
Our Sponsor and its affiliates have determined the fees and distributions payable to the Advisor and its affiliates under the Advisory 

Agreement and the subordinated participation interest in the Operating Partnership. As a result, these fees and distributions cannot be viewed as 
having been determined on an arm’s-length basis and we cannot assure you that an unaffiliated third party would not be willing and able to 
provide to us the same services at a lower price. The Advisor is entitled to receive fees including acquisition and advisory fees, asset 
management fees and a subordinated disposition fee. The distributions the Advisor may become entitled to receive would be payable upon 
distribution of distributable cash to our stockholders, the listing of our shares or the termination of the Advisor as our advisor.  
   
Risks Associated with Income Taxes  
   

We will be subject to tax risks arising out of our election to be taxed as a REIT, including the material risks discussed below. We strongly 
urge you to consult your own tax advisor concerning the effects of federal, state and local income tax law on an investment in our stock or your 
individual tax situation.  
   

Failure to qualify as a REIT would reduce our net income (if any) and cash available for distributions.  
   

Manatt, Phelps & Phillips, LLP, our legal counsel, has rendered an opinion to us in connection with our offering that we will qualify as a 
REIT, based upon our representations as to the manner in which we are and will be owned, invest in assets and operate, among other things. 
However, our qualification as a REIT will depend upon our ability to meet, on an on-going basis, requirements regarding our organization and 
ownership, distributions of our income, the nature and diversification of our income and assets, and other tests imposed by the Internal Revenue 
Code. Manatt, Phelps & Phillips will not review our compliance with the REIT qualification standards on an on-going basis. This means that we 
may fail to satisfy the REIT requirements in the future. Also, this opinion represents Manatt, Phelps & Phillips’ legal judgment based on the law 
in effect as of the date of its issuance. Manatt, Phelps & Phillips’ opinion is not binding on the Internal Revenue Service or the courts. Future 
legislative, judicial or administrative changes to the federal income tax laws could be applied retroactively, which could result in our 
disqualification as a REIT.  
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The REIT qualification requirements are complex and there is only limited guidance available regarding the interpretation of those 

requirements. We are a newer entity, and our Sponsor and Advisor do not have experience operating a REIT. These factors may increase the 
likelihood that we will fail to meet on a continuing basis one or more of the REIT qualification requirements.  
   

Once we obtain REIT status, if we fail to qualify as a REIT for any taxable year, we will be subject to federal income tax on our taxable 
income at corporate rates. In addition, we would generally be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year 
of losing our REIT status. Losing our REIT status would reduce our net earnings, if any, available for investment and/or distribution to 
stockholders because of the additional tax liability that we would incur. In addition, distributions to stockholders would no longer qualify for the 
dividends paid deduction, and we would no longer be required to make distributions. If this occurs, we might be required to borrow funds and/or 
liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable tax.  
   

Even if we qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to other tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow and our 
ability to make distributions to you.  

   
Even if we remain qualified as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to some federal, state and local taxes on our 

income or property. For example:  
   

   

   

   

   

   
Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates.  

   
Tax legislation enacted in 2003 reduced the maximum U.S. federal tax rate on certain corporate dividends paid to individuals and other non-

corporate taxpayers to 15%. This favorable tax rate was scheduled to terminate at the end of 2010. The rate was subsequently extended to the 
end of 2012. It is uncertain whether this favorable tax rate will be continued beyond its scheduled expiration date. Dividends paid by REITs to 
these stockholders are generally not eligible for these reduced rates. Although this legislation does not adversely affect the taxation of REITs or 
dividends paid by REITs, the more favorable rates applicable to certain non-REIT corporate dividends could cause investors to perceive 
investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could 
adversely affect the value of the stock of REITs, including our stock.  

   
To maintain our REIT status, we may be forced to borrow funds during unfavorable market conditions to make distributions to our 
stockholders, which could increase our operating costs and decrease the value of your investment.  

   
To qualify as a REIT, we must distribute to our stockholders each year at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (which is determined 

without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain). At times, we may not have sufficient funds to satisfy these distribution 
requirements and may need to borrow funds to maintain our REIT status and avoid the payment of income and excise taxes. These borrowing 
needs could result from (1) differences in timing between the receipt of cash and inclusion of income for federal income tax purposes, (2) the 
effect of nondeductible capital expenditures, and/or (3) the creation of reserves. We may need to borrow funds at times when the market 
conditions are unfavorable. Such borrowings could increase our costs and reduce the value of our common stock.  

   

  

• In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders (which is 
determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain). To the extent that we satisfy the distribution requirement but 
distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, we will be subject to federal corporate income tax on the undistributed income. 

• We will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which distributions we pay in any calendar year are less than 
the sum of 85% of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. 

• If we have net income from the sale of foreclosure property that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business 
or other nonqualifying income from foreclosure property, we must pay a tax on that income at the highest corporate income tax rate. 

• If we sell a property, other than foreclosure property, that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, our 
gain would be subject to the 100% “prohibited transaction”  tax. 

• Our taxable REIT subsidiaries will be subject to tax on their taxable income. 
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To maintain our REIT status, we may be forced to forego attractive investment opportunities, which could delay or hinder our ability to 
meet our investment objectives and lower the return on your investment.  

   
To qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy tests on an on-going basis concerning, among other things, the sources of our income, nature of our 

assets and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders. We may be required to make distributions to stockholders at times when it would be 
more advantageous to reinvest cash in our business or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution. Compliance with the REIT 
requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits.  
   

The extent of our use of taxable REIT subsidiaries may affect the value of our common stock relative to the share price of other REITs.  
   

We intend to conduct a portion of our business activities through one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries, or TRSs. A TRS is a fully taxable 
corporation that may earn income that would not be qualifying REIT income if earned directly by us. Our use of TRSs will enable us to engage 
in non-REIT qualifying business activities, such as the sale of inventory properties. However, under the Internal Revenue Code, no more than 
25% of the value of the assets of a REIT may be represented by securities of one or more TRSs. This limitation may affect our ability to increase 
the size of our non-REIT qualifying operations. Furthermore, because the income earned by our TRSs will be subject to corporate income tax 
and will not be subject to the requirement to distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders, our use of TRSs 
may cause our common stock to be valued differently than the shares of other REITs that do not use TRSs in the manner in which we expect to 
use them.  

   
Even if we qualify as a REIT, we could be subject to an excise tax on non-arm’s-length transactions with our taxable REIT subsidiaries.  

   
In the event that any transaction between us and our TRSs is not conducted on an arm’s-length basis, we could be subject to a 100% excise 

tax on such transactions. We believe that all such transactions will be conducted on an arm’s-length basis, but there can be no assurance that the 
Internal Revenue Service will not successfully contest the arm’s-length nature of such transactions or that we will be otherwise able to avoid the 
100% excise tax. Any such tax could adversely affect our overall profitability and the amounts of distributions to our stockholders.  
   

We may be required to pay a penalty or may not qualify as a REIT if the value of our taxable REIT subsidiaries exceeds 25% of the value of 
our total assets at the close of any calendar quarter.  

   
To qualify as a REIT, not more than 25% of the value of our total assets may be represented by the securities of one or more taxable REIT 

subsidiaries at the close of any calendar quarter (subject to a 30-day “cure” period following the close of the quarter). We will monitor the value 
of our investment in our TRSs in relation to our other assets to comply with the test. There cannot be complete assurance that we will be 
successful in that effort. Although we will seek to be prudent in valuing our investment in our TRSs and our other assets, there can be no 
assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will not disagree with those determinations. In the event of a more than de minimis failure of the 
test, we will not lose our REIT status as long as (i) the failure was due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect, (ii) we dispose of the assets 
causing the failure or otherwise comply with the test within six months after the last day of the applicable quarter in which we identify such 
failure, and (iii) we pay a tax equal to the greater of $50,000 or 35% of the net income from the nonqualifying assets during the period in which 
we failed to satisfy the test. If there is a more than de minimis failure of the test and we do not satisfy the requirements described in the 
preceding sentence, we would lose our REIT status.  
   

Certain of our business activities are potentially subject to the prohibited transaction tax, which could reduce the return on your 
investment.  

   
As a REIT, we will be subject to a 100% tax on any net income from “prohibited transactions.” In general, prohibited transactions are sales 

or other dispositions of property to customers in the ordinary course of business. Sales by us of inventory property at the REIT level would 
constitute prohibited transactions.  
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For these purposes, inventory property does not include foreclosure property. Examples of inventory property include sales to customers of 

condominium units or subdivided lots in a development tract. The determination of whether property is inventory property is fact-driven. Some 
of the relevant factors are the number, frequency and continuity of sales, the duration of ownership, the level of sales activities, the types of 
development activities undertaken with respect to the property, the purpose for acquisition of the property and the reason for which the property 
is held, the substantiality of sales in relation to other business activities and statements by the taxpayer regarding the property. There is a safe 
harbor in the REIT rules exempting certain sales from the prohibited transactions tax. In order to be in the safe harbor, certain factual tests must 
be satisfied. We will attempt to meet the safe harbor requirements whenever practicable, but we cannot guarantee that everyone of our sales of 
real property interests will take place within the safe harbor.  
   

We intend to avoid the 100% prohibited transaction tax by conducting activities that would be prohibited transactions through one or more 
TRSs. We may not, however, always be able to identify properties that will become part of our “dealer” land sales business. Therefore, if we sell 
any properties at the REIT level that we incorrectly identify as property not held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or that 
subsequently become properties held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, we may be subject to the 100% prohibited 
transactions tax.  

   
If the Operating Partnership, or any joint ventures in which the Operating Partnership invests, fails to maintain its status as a partnership 
for federal income tax purposes, its income may be subject to taxation and we may fail to satisfy the REIT asset requirements.  

   
We intend to maintain the status of the Operating Partnership as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. However, if the Internal 

Revenue Service were to successfully challenge the status of the Operating Partnership as a partnership, it would be taxable as a corporation. In 
such event, this would reduce the amount of distributions that the Operating Partnership could make to us. This could also result in our losing 
REIT status and becoming subject to a corporate level tax on our own income. This would substantially reduce our cash available to pay 
distributions and the return on your investment. In addition, if any of the entities through which the Operating Partnership owns its properties, in 
whole or in part, loses its characterization as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, it would be subject to taxation as a corporation, 
thereby reducing distributions to the Operating Partnership. Such a recharacterization of the Operating Partnership or an underlying property 
owner could also threaten our ability to maintain REIT status.   
   

We may incur excess inclusion income that would increase the tax liability of our stockholders.  
   

In general, dividend income that a tax-exempt entity receives from us should not constitute unrelated business taxable income as defined in 
Section 512 of the Internal Revenue Code. If we realize excess inclusion income and allocate it to stockholders, however, such income would be 
fully taxable as unrelated business taxable income under Section 512 of the Internal Revenue Code. If the stockholder is foreign, it would 
generally be subject to U.S. federal income tax withholding on this income without reduction pursuant to any otherwise applicable income-tax 
treaty. U.S. stockholders would not be able to offset such income with their operating losses.  
   

Excess inclusion income could result if we held a residual interest in a real estate mortgage investment conduit, or REMIC. Excess inclusion 
income also may be generated if we were to issue debt obligations with two or more maturities and the payment terms on these obligations bore 
a relationship to the payments that we received on our mortgage loans or mortgage-backed securities securing those debt obligations. The 
Internal Revenue Service may determine that these borrowings give rise to excess inclusion income that should be allocated among our 
stockholders. We may invest in equity securities of other REITs and it is possible that we might receive excess inclusion income from those 
investments.  
   

Misplaced reliance on legal opinions or statements by issuers of mortgage-backed securities and government securities could result in a 
failure to comply with REIT gross income or asset tests.  

   
When purchasing interests in other REITs, partnership interests, mortgage-backed securities and government securities, we may rely on 

opinions of counsel for the issuer or sponsor of such securities, or statements made in related offering documents, for purposes of determining 
whether and to what extent those securities constitute REIT real estate assets for purposes of the REIT asset tests and product income that 
qualifies under the REIT gross income tests. The inaccuracy of any such opinions or statements may harm our REIT qualification and result in 
significant corporate level tax.  
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Risks Related to Employee Benefit Plans and IRAs  
   

We, and our investors that have employee benefit plans or IRAs, will be subject to risks relating specifically to our having employee benefit 
plans as stockholders, which risks are discussed below.  

   
There are special considerations for pension or profit-sharing or 401(k) plans, health or welfare plans or individual retirement accounts 
whose assets are being invested in our common stock.  

   
If you are investing the assets of a pension, profit sharing or 401(k) plan, health or welfare plan, or an IRA in us, you should consider:  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
You also should consider whether your investment in us will cause some or all of our assets to be considered assets of an employee benefit 

plan or IRA. We do not believe that under ERISA or U.S. Department of Labor regulations currently in effect that our assets would be treated as 
“plan assets” for purposes of ERISA. However, if our assets were considered to be plan assets, transactions involving our assets would be subject 
to ERISA and/or Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code, and some of the transactions we have entered into with the Advisor and its 
affiliates could be considered “prohibited transactions” under ERISA and/or the Internal Revenue Code. If such transactions were considered 
“prohibited transactions” the Advisor and its affiliates could be subject to liabilities and excise taxes or penalties. In addition, our officers and 
directors, the Advisor and its affiliates could be deemed to be fiduciaries under ERISA, subject to other conditions, restrictions and prohibitions 
under Part 4 of Title I of ERISA, and those serving as fiduciaries of plans investing in us may be considered to have improperly delegated 
fiduciary duties to us. Additionally, other transactions with “parties-in-interest” or “disqualified persons” with respect to an investing plan might 
be prohibited under ERISA, the Internal Revenue Code and/or other governing authority in the case of a government plan. Therefore, we would 
be operating under a burdensome regulatory regime that could limit or restrict investments we can make and/or our management of our 
properties. Even if our assets are not considered to be plan assets, a prohibited transaction could occur if we or any of our affiliates is a fiduciary 
(within the meaning of ERISA) with respect to an employee benefit plan purchasing shares, and, therefore, in the event any such persons are 
fiduciaries (within the meaning of ERISA) of your plan or IRA, you should not purchase shares unless an administrative or statutory exemption 
applies to your purchase.  
   
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS  

   
We have no unresolved staff comments.  

   
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

   
As of December 31, 2011, we owned one hundred percent of five properties and owned a portion of a sixth property, and have made three 

real estate-related investments, one of which is outstanding as of December 31, 2011. A description of our activities with respect to real property 
and real estate-related investments is presented below:  

   

  

• whether your investment is consistent with the applicable provisions of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code, or any other applicable 
governing authority in the case of a government plan; 

• whether your investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing your plan or IRA, including your plan’s 
investment policy; 

• whether your investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404(a)(1)(B) and 404(a)(1)(C) of ERISA; 

• whether your investment will impair the liquidity of the plan or IRA; 

• whether your investment will produce unrelated business taxable income, referred to as UBTI and as defined in Sections 511 through 514 
of the Internal Revenue Code, to the plan; and 

• your need to value the assets of the plan annually. 
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Underwood Project  
    
On May 19, 2009, our affiliate, SPT Lake Elsinore Holding Co. LLC, closed on the purchase of real property constituting 543 single family 

residential lots, a 9.4 acre park and over 70 acres of open space on a total of 225 acres of unimproved land commonly referred to as tract 29835 
located in the City of Menifee, Riverside County, California, commonly known as the “Underwood Project.” The purchase price was 
$1,650,000. The purchase was made pursuant to a Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions, dated May 13, 2009 by and 
between SPT Lake Elsinore Holding Co. LLC as buyer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as seller. U.S. Bank National Association is not 
affiliated with the Company or any of its affiliates.  
   

On August 31, 2010, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC (“Borrower”) closed a closed a secured loan from Cardinal Investment Properties 
– Underwood, L.P. (“Lender”). The loan amount was $1,000,000 and was made pursuant to a loan agreement between SPT-Lake Elsinore 
Holding Co., LLC and Cardinal Investment Properties – Underwood, L.P. dated August 30, 2010. Cardinal Investment Properties – Underwood, 
L.P. is not affiliated with the Company or any of its affiliates.  

   
The loan bore interest at a rate of twelve percent per annum, and had a maturity date in twenty-four months at which time all accrued and 

unpaid interest and principal was due in full. A non-refundable interest payment equal to the first year’s interest for the loan was prepaid out of 
the loan amount of the initial loan funding in the amount of $120,000. Thereafter, interest was due and payable quarterly, commencing on the 
date that was three months after the one-year anniversary of the disbursement date. An initial loan fee of five percent of the Loan amount, or 
$50,000, was payable to Lender upon the earliest to occur of (i) full repayment of the loan, (ii) a default by the Borrower under the loan, or (iii) 
the first anniversary date of the Loan.  Borrower could extend the loan for up to two additional periods of six months, provided (i) Borrower was 
not in default at the time of the extension, (ii) Borrower gave written notice to Lender of its intent to extend no less than ten days prior to the 
then-current maturity date, (iii) Borrower made payment to Lender of a two percent loan extension fee, based on the then-outstanding loan 
balance, and (iv) Borrower made payment to Lender of any unpaid interest accrued under the loan. Interest accruing under the loan during an 
extension period shall be paid monthly in arrears.  
   

The loan was secured by a deed of trust with assignment of rents in favor of Lender on property purchased by the Company on May 19, 
2009. The Underwood property is comprised of five hundred forty-three unimproved residential lots in the City of Menifee, California. Borrower 
agreed to indemnify and hold harmless Lender from and against any and all indemnified costs directly or indirectly arising out of or resulting 
from any hazardous substance being present or released in, on or around, or potentially affecting, any part of the property securing the loan.  
   

If Borrower failed to make any payment when required under the promissory note, Lender had the option to immediately declare all sums 
due and owing under the promissory note.  

   
Borrower used the proceeds from this loan (i) to pay a delinquent special assessment from the Watson Road Community Facilities District, 

payable to the City of Buckeye in Arizona, in the approximate amount of $276,434, (ii) to make a $500,000 principal payment to AZPro 
Developments, Inc. as required under a secured promissory note in favor of AZPro Developments, Inc. This payment was originally due July 31, 
2010 but was extended by one month to August 31, 2010, and (iii) for payment of other outstanding liabilities of the Company.  

   
As undeveloped land, the Underwood Project was not an income-producing property. The purchase was made based upon the anticipated 

capital appreciation of the property.  
   

On May 10, 2011, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, as seller, sold the Underwood Project to CV Communities, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company, as buyer, 543 single family residential lots, a 9.4 acre park, and over 70 acres of open space on a total of 225 acres of 
unimproved land commonly referred to as tract 29835 located in the City of Menifee, Riverside County, California, commonly known as the 
Underwood Project. The sale was made pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement and joint escrow instructions, dated March 10, 2011, as 
amended. The sales price was $4,500,000 in cash and SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC recognized a gain on the sale of this asset of 
approximately $2,401,000.  
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The sale provided liquidity to the Company in addition to paying off t he $1,000,000 loan made to SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., 

LLC by Cardinal Investment Properties – Underwood, LP , thereby reducing the Company’s overall liabilities.  
   

Desert Moon Estates Property  
   

On July 31, 2009, our affiliate, SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and wholly owned subsidiary of our 
Operating Partnership, closed on the purchase of real property consisting of a final plat of 739 single family residential lots on a total of 
200 acres of unimproved land commonly known as “Desert Moon Estates” located in the Town of Buckeye, Maricopa County, Arizona (the 
“Desert Moon Estates Property”). The purchase price was $3,000,000. The purchase was made pursuant to a Purchase and Sale Agreement and 
Joint Escrow Instructions, dated June 29, 2009 (the “Desert Moon Purchase Agreement”), by and between SPT AZ Holdings, LLC and AZPro 
Developments, Inc., an Arizona corporation. On July 28, 2009, SPT AZ Holdings, LLC and AZPro Developments, Inc. executed a First 
Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions modifying the terms of the original Desert Moon Purchase 
Agreement to provide for SPT AZ Holdings, LLC’s payment of the purchase price through a $2,000,000 Secured Promissory Note and Deed of 
Trust with Assignment of Rents.  
   

In connection with the Desert Moon Purchase Agreement, SPT AZ Holdings, LLC executed a $2,000,000 Secured Promissory Note (the 
“Desert Moon Promissory Note”) in favor of AZPro Developments, Inc. Interest on the Desert Moon Promissory Note will accrue on the 
principal outstanding from the date of the Desert Moon Promissory Note at a rate of six percent (6.00%) per annum. Payments of interest only 
will be made quarterly in arrears on November 1, 2009, February 1, 2010 and May 1, 2010. On the maturity date of the Desert Moon Promissory 
Note, July 31, 2010, the entire outstanding principal balance and all unpaid interest on the Desert Moon Promissory Note will be due and 
payable in full. The Desert Moon Promissory Note is secured by a Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents which encumbers the Desert Moon 
Estates Property. SPT AZ Holdings, LLC may prepay in whole or in part the principal amount outstanding under the Desert Moon Promissory 
Note, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon computed to the date of prepayment and any sums owing to AZPro Developments, Inc., 
without penalty or premium.  

   
If SPT AZ Holdings, LLC fails to pay any installment of interest by the fifth day of each calendar quarter, AZPro Developments, Inc. has the 

right to assess a late fee equal to 10% of the amount that is delinquent and the interest rate on the entire principal amount outstanding will adjust 
to 12% per annum from the date the delinquent payment was first due until the delinquent payment has been made. Similar penalties apply if the 
principal is not paid upon the maturity date.  

   
On March 11, 2010, AZPro Developments, Inc. and SPT AZ Holdings, LLC executed a First Amendment to Secured Promissory Note which 

extended the current maturity date of the Desert Moon Promissory Note to July, 31, 2011 provided SPT AZ Holdings, LLC had made a principal 
reduction of $500,000 on or before the current maturity date of July 31, 2010 and all property taxes and CFD bond payments on the property are 
current. Additionally, SPT AZ Holdings, LLC agreed to a two percent increase in the original interest rate beginning on the original maturity 
date of July 31, 2010. The $500,000 principal pay down date of July 31, 2010 was extended to August 31, 2010. SPT AZ Holdings, LLC paid 
the principal pay down of $500,000 on September 2, 2010.  

   
On July 31, 2011, AZPro Developments, Inc. and SPT AZ Holdings, LLC, executed an additional extension on the existing $2,000,000 

secured promissory note as previously amended with AZPro Developments, Inc. A one year extension of the maturity date was granted to SPT 
AZ Holdings, LLC by AZPro Developments, Inc. in exchange for a principal pay down of $300,000 on or before the current maturity date of 
July 31, 2011. In addition to the principal pay down of $300,000 on or before the current maturity date of July 31, 2011, SPT AZ Holdings, LLC 
agreed to pay current, all project taxes including any special assessments. All other terms of the Desert Moon Promissory Note as amended 
remained unchanged. SPT AZ Holdings, LLC made the principal payment of $300,000 on August 5, 2011.  
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On January 13, 2011, the Company received a Notice of Potential Sale of Real Estate for Delinquent Special Assessment from the Watson 

Road Community Facilities District. This Notice was received when the Company failed to pay a required special assessment when due on 
December 1, 2010. On February 25, 2011, the Company received a Notice of Sale of Real Estate for Delinquent Special Assessment from the 
Watson Road Community Facilities District. Management paid this past due special assessment on March 29, 2011 and the City of Buckeye 
subsequently informed management that the Desert Moon Estates Property was in current status.  

   
As undeveloped land, the Desert Moon Estates Property is not an income-producing property. The purchase was made based upon the 

anticipated capital appreciation of the property.  
   
Springbrook Properties  
   
On January 9, 2009, SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, made two separate loans to Aware Development Company, Inc. (“Aware”), in the 

aggregate amount of $2,300,000. The loans to Aware were made pursuant to two promissory notes, which were secured by two separate 
collateral pledge agreements encumbering the following real property located in Riverside County, California:  

   

   
The Meadowbrook Project and the Coffman Project are, collectively, the “Springbrook Properties.”  

       
The making of the loans to Aware was a related party transaction in that, immediately prior to the loans being made, Aware purchased from 

Vineyard Bank two loans made by Vineyard Bank (the “Vineyard Loans”) to our affiliate Springbrook Investments, L.P. (“Springbrook”) whose 
general partner is a California corporation wholly owned by The Shopoff Revocable Trust dated August 12, 2004 (“Shopoff Trust”). William 
Shopoff is a co-trustee of the Shopoff Trust.  

   
     In lieu of payment of the Vineyard Loans, Aware assigned the Vineyard Loans to SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC. The assignment was 
completed and documented by two separate Memoranda of Assignment of Note, Deed of Trust and Loan Documents, each dated August 29, 
2009.  
   

     At the time of the assignment of the Vineyard Loans to SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, the Vineyard Loans were in default and all 
obligations of Springbrook were due and payable in full. Springbrook executed and delivered to SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC grant deeds to 
the Springbrook Properties, the underlying real estate collateral for the Vineyard Loans, in consideration for the discharge by SPT Real Estate 
Finance, LLC of all Springbrook’s obligations under the Vineyard Loans. On September 4, 2009, SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC took title to the 
Springbrook Properties and on September 24, 2009, SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC deeded the Springbrook Properties to our affiliate, SPT Lake 
Elsinore Holding Co., LLC.  

   
We intend to hold the Springbrook Properties for the long-term for the purpose of capital appreciation and, accordingly, we have no 

current plans for improvement or development of the Springbrook Properties.  
    
The Meadowbrook Project is an undeveloped property that is not anticipated to be developed until after 2015. The property is currently 

zoned rural residential, and a zone change, general plan amendment, and tentative map approval are necessary to achieve the entitlements being 
sought. As such, it is anticipated that the Meadowbrook Project will be developed after entitled or partially improved projects owned by others in 
the vicinity of the City of Lake Elsinore are developed. The Meadowbrook Project competes with nearby projects, such as Tentative Tract Maps 
25475 (commonly known as Tuscany Crest) and 33725 (commonly known as Tuscany Valley), which consist of a total of approximately 355 
single-family lots and are also owned by us. Other competition may come from nearby properties that obtain entitlements for residential 
development prior to the development of the Meadowbrook Project.  

   
The Coffman Project is part of a proposed annexation, led by the City of Lake Elsinore, of a larger area of properties into the City of Lake 

Elsinore. The annexation is anticipated to occur concurrently with the update of the City of Lake Elsinore’s General Plan and Environmental 
Report (the “General Plan”). This update to the General Plan will provide for a change to the zoning of the property from commercial-industrial 
to multi-family/high-density residential development, allowing up to 18 units per acre. The annexation is anticipated to be completed in 2012, 
although the City of Lake Elsinore has not committed to a completion date for the annexation. Projects with which the Coffman Project may 
compete include a 126-unit multi-family project proposed by MBK Homes near the Coffman Project. Timing for the MBK Homes project is 
unknown.  

   

  

• approximately 118 acres of vacant and unentitled land located near the City of Lake Elsinore, in an unincorporated area of Riverside 
County, California (the “Meadowbrook Project” ); and 

• approximately 6.11 acres of vacant and unentitled land located near the City of Lake Elsinore, in an unincorporated area of 
Riverside County, California (the “Coffman Project”). 
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Tuscany Valley Properties  

      
      On November 5, 2009, our affiliate, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co.,(“SPTLE”), purchased real property commonly known as “Tuscany 
Valley,” consisting of (a) 519 entitled but unimproved residential lots and 2 commercial lots located in the City of Lake Elsinore, California (the 
“Lake Elsinore Property”), and (b) 400 acres of unentitled and unimproved land located in the City of Chino Hills, California (the “Chino Hills 
Property”). The combined purchase price for the Lake Elsinore Property and the Chino Hills Property was $9,600,000.  

   
     The purchase of the Lake Elsinore Property and the Chino Hills Property was made pursuant to a series of purchase agreements and 
amendments thereto that were entered into by the parties over the course of more than twelve months between September 30, 2008 and 
November 5, 2009 (collectively, the “Tuscany Valley Purchase Agreement”), by and between our Advisor and TSG Little Valley L. P., a 
California limited partnership (“Little Valley”).  
   
     Pursuant to the Tuscany Valley Purchase Agreement, Little Valley agreed to sell and our Advisor agreed to buy, 163 entitled but unimproved 
residential lots located in the City of Lake Elsinore, California. The contract purchase price was $4,890,000. On September 3, 2009, the Tuscany 
Valley Purchase Agreement was amended as follows: (a) SPTLE agreed to purchase additional property from Little Valley consisting of 356 
entitled but unimproved, residential lots and 2 commercial lots located in the City of Lake Elsinore, California and 400 acres of unentitled and 
unimproved land located in the City of Chino Hills, California, (b) the purchase price was increased to $9,600,000 from $4,890,000, (c) the 
nonrefundable deposit requirement was increased to $2,000,000 from $1,000,000, and (d) the escrow closing date was amended to on or before 
November 30, 2009. In addition, ourAdvisor assigned all of its rights, title and interest in the Tuscany Valley Purchase Agreement to SPTLE.  

   
     Of the total purchase price, $2,900,000 was paid by SPTLE’s execution and delivery of (a) an all-inclusive purchase money note secured by 
deed of trust (“Tuscany Promissory Note”) in favor of Little Valley, in the principal amount of $2,900,000, and (b) an all-inclusive deed of trust 
executed by SPTLE in favor of Little Valley, as beneficiary therein, securing the Tuscany Promissory Note. The Tuscany Promissory Note bore 
interest at a rate of twelve percent per annum, and was payable in full on November 6, 2010. No payments were due during the term of the 
Tuscany Promissory Note. The Tuscany Promissory Note included the unpaid balance of another promissory note made on April 3, 2006, in the 
original principal amount of $2,000,000, payable by Seller to 1st Centennial Bank (the “Included Note”). The Included Note was secured by a 
deed of trust encumbering a portion of the Lake Elsinore Property. The outstanding principal balance on the Included Note as of November 3, 
2009 was approximately $1,750,000. The current payee under the Included Note was Multibank 2009-1 CRE Venture, LLC.  

   
     Even though the Tuscany Promissory Note was all-inclusive, if Little Valley failed to pay any installments when due upon the Included Note, 
SPTLE had retained the right to make such payments directly to payee of the Included Note, and the amount so paid shall be credited against the 
next following installment or installments due under the Tuscany Promissory Note. If SPTLE failed to make any payment when required under 
the Tuscany Promissory Note, Little Valley had the option to immediately declare all sums due and owing under the Tuscany Promissory Note.  
   

On March 5, 2010, Little Valley and SPTLE executed a First Amendment to Secured Promissory Note which extended the current maturity 
date of the Tuscany Promissory Note to November, 6, 2011 provided SPTLE had made a principal reduction of at least $500,000 on or before 
the current maturity date of November 6, 2010. Additionally, SPTLE agreed to a two percent increase in the original interest rate beginning on 
the original maturity date of November 6, 2010. As of December 31, 2010, a principal pay down of $991,584 had been made on the Tuscany 
Promissory Note.  
   

On October 26, 2010, SPTLE deeded the Chino Hills Property to a newly created limited liability company, SPT – Chino Hills, LLC which 
is 100% owned by the Operating Partnership and therefore its accounts are consolidated in the Company’s financial statements. The purpose of 
this transfer was to remove from SPTLE property that was not located in the Lake Elsinore California submarket.  
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On November 10, 2010, the Company received a Notice of Default And Election To Sell Under Deed of Trust (or “Notice”) from First 

American Title Insurance Company. This Notice was received when Little Valley failed to pay the outstanding principal balance to Multibank 
2009-1 CRE Venture, LLC, the current payee (“Lender”) under the Included Note. Prior to receiving this Notice, representatives of Little Valley 
had been in discussions and ongoing negotiations with Lender regarding the Included Note with the intent of renegotiating the terms of or 
reaching a settlement on the Included Note. These discussions and ongoing negotiations were unsuccessful and Little Valley and the Company 
received the Notice. The Company, when it purchased the Tuscany Valley properties in November 2009, took ownership through a seller 
financed all-inclusive promissory note and deed of trust in favor of Little Valley that included the Lender note. The Company did not received a 
formal demand from Little Valley for payment to Lender. If Little Valley or the Company had failed to reach a resolution with Lender, the 
Company could have lost a portion of the Tuscany Valley properties (approximately 163 of the 519 lots). Management was in discussions with 
Little Valley regarding the Notice and believed that a satisfactory resolution would be reached prior to the completion of the foreclosure process, 
which was a minimum of 120 days from Notice recordation, or November 5, 2010. After January 30, 2011, Lender had the right to file a Notice 
of Sale.  
   

On April 28, 2011, upon a request from Little Valley, the Company made a $100,000 interest payment to Little Valley.  
   
On May 12, 2011, the Company paid all outstanding principal and interest due on the Tuscany Valley properties note payable to Little 

Valley, (to and including the Included Note), and in return for payment, a full release and reconveyance was executed by Little Valley, and 
documentation was received from the Lender confirming payoff of the Included Note.  

   
On May 13, 2011, SPTLE, as seller, sold to Richland Communities Inc, a Florida corporation, as buyer, the Tuscany West portion of 

the larger Tuscany Valley properties (164 of 519 entitled but unimproved residential lots and 2 commercial lots), commonly referred to as tract 
25473 located in the City of Lake Elsinore, California. The sale was made pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement and joint escrow 
instructions, dated March 23, 2011, as amended. The sales price was $1,800,000 in cash and SPTLE recognized a loss on the sale of this asset of 
approximately $21,500.  

   
This sale provided liquidity to the Company which was used with other cash to pay outstanding Company liabilities including the 

payoff of an existing Company notes payable in the approximate principal amount of $1,908,000, thereby reducing the Company’s overall 
liabilities.  

   
Stevan J. Gromet, President of Portfolio Partners, Inc., a California corporation, the general partner o f Little Valley, is a shareholder of 

the Company with ownership of 11,000 shares as of December 31, 2011, which represents approximately 0.53% of our total shares outstanding 
including 21,100 shares purchased by our sponsor, 70,000 vested restricted stock grants issued to our officers and directors, and 61,100 shares of 
our common stock issued to certain accredited investors in a private placement as part of the consideration for the acquisition of land.  

   
Thru June 30, 2011, Little Valley was a shareholder of the Company with ownership of 14,900 shares, which represented approximately 

0.74% of the Company’s total shares outstanding including 21,100 shares purchased by our sponsor and 71,250 vested restricted stock grants 
issued to our officers and directors. In August 2011, Little Valley distributed its 14,900 shares to a limited partner and as of December 31, 2011, 
no longer had any ownership in the Company.  
   

As undeveloped land, the Tuscany Valley properties are not income-producing properties. The purchase was made based upon the anticipated 
capital appreciation of the property.  

   
See Note 9 of the notes to consolidated financial statements for more information.  
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Vantage Point Property  

   
On November 18, 2011, an affiliate of Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc., SPT-Vantage Point, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

(“SPTVP”), closed on the purchase of real property consisting of a 47.9 acre parcel of land zoned commercial/retail and multi-family residential, 
which currently permits 306 residential units and 25 acres of retail land commonly known as “Vantage Point” located in the Town of Parker, 
Douglas County, Colorado.  
   

The purchase was made pursuant to an Agreement to Purchase and Sell Interest In Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate (the “Vantage 
Point Agreement”), dated September 7, 2011, by and between SPTVP and Steven F. Dallman (“Dallman”).  Under the Vantage Point 
Agreement, Dallman agreed to sell to SPTVP all of its rights and obligations under an existing real estate contract (a certain Contract to Buy and 
Sell Real Estate, dated June 14, 2011, as amended (the “Original Agreement”)), and an escrow agreement between Dallman and Lundieck 
Investments, Ltd.  This Vantage Point Agreement allowed SPTVP to purchase the Vantage Point property. The purchase price for the Vantage 
Point property was $4,900,000, comprised of $1,650,000 paid to Dallman and $3,250,000 paid to Lundieck Investments, Ltd. On October 21, 
2011, SPTVP and Dallman executed a first amendment to the Vantage Point Agreement to extend the due diligence time frame for SPTVP. On 
October 28, 2011, SPTVP and Dallman executed a second amendment to the Vantage Point Agreement to provide for SPTVP’s payment of the 
purchase price through a $1,100,100 Second Lien Promissory Note (defined below) and a second lien Deed of Trust. As part of the Original 
Agreement, Lundieck Investments, Ltd. accepted as part of SPTVP’s payment of the purchase price, a $2,600,000 First Lien Promissory Note 
and Deed of Trust (defined below).  

   
As part of the overall purchase price, Dallman agreed to accept 61,100 shares of the Company’s common stock at $9 per share (total of 

$549,900), as part of the overall consideration required to close this proposed acquisition.  
   

Shopoff Partners, L.P., an affiliate of the Company, is a member and the manager of SPT-Vantage Point, LLC.  Shopoff Partners, L.P.’s 
ownership percentage of SPT-Vantage Point, LLC is dependent on the level of capital contributed to SPT-Vantage Point, LLC and is anticipated 
to change as the Company contemplates the use of additional joint venture partners to fund a majority of the cash required for this 
project.  Currently one such joint venture partner is an entity that is affiliated with the Company, our Advisor, and Sponsor.  
   

Dallman and Lundieck Investments, Ltd. are not affiliated with the Company or any of its affiliates.  
   
In connection with the Vantage Point Agreement, SPTVP executed two first lien promissory notes (the “First Lien Promissory Notes”) 

in favor of Lundieck Investments, Ltd. which in aggregate totaled $2,600,000. One First Lien Promissory Note (the “Tracts A and B Promissory 
Note”), is in the amount of $1,405,560.  The second First Lien Promissory Note (the “Tracts C and D Promissory Note”) is in the amount of 
$1,194,440. Interest on both First Lien Promissory Notes accrues on the principal outstanding from the date of the First Lien Promissory Note at 
a rate of five and one-half percent (5.50%) per annum with interest paid semi-annually on the semi-annual and annual anniversary dates of the 
First Lien Promissory Notes. SPTVP agreed to pay a principal pay down of $135,150 on the first through fifth anniversary dates of the First Lien 
Promissory Note for the Tract A and B Promissory Note. SPTVP agreed to pay a principal pay down of $114,850 on the first through fifth 
anniversary dates of the Note for the Tract C and D First Lien Promissory Note. On the maturity date of the two First Lien Promissory Notes, 
November 14, 2017, the entire outstanding principal balance and all unpaid interest on the two First Lien Promissory Notes will be due and 
payable in full. The two First Lien Promissory Notes are secured by two first lien Deeds of Trust which encumber separate portions of the 
Vantage Point property. SPTVP may prepay in whole or in part the principal amount outstanding under the two First Lien Promissory Notes, 
together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon computed to the date of prepayment and any sums owing to Lundieck Investments, Ltd., 
without penalty or premium.  
   

If SPTVP fails to pay any installment of principal or interest when due, SPTVP will be considered in default and the First Lien 
Promissory Notes will thereafter bear interest at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum.  
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In connection with the Vantage Point Agreement, SPTVP also executed a $1,100,100 second lien promissory note (the “Second Lien 

Promissory Note”) in favor of Dallman. Interest on the Second Lien Promissory Note will accrue on the principal outstanding from the date of 
the Second Lien Promissory Note at a rate of six percent (6.00%) per annum for the first ninety days of the note term and at nine percent (9.00%) 
thereafter. On the maturity date of the Second Lien Promissory Note, 180 days from the close of escrow, the entire outstanding principal balance 
and all unpaid interest on the Second Lien Promissory Note will be due and payable in full. The Second Lien Promissory Note is secured by a 
second lien Deed of Trust which encumbers the entire Vantage Point property. SPTVP may prepay in whole or in part the principal amount 
outstanding under the Second Lien Promissory Note, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon computed to the date of prepayment and 
any sums owing to Dallman, without penalty or premium.  
   

If SPTVP fails to pay any installment of principal or interest when due, SPTVP will be considered in default and the principal and all 
accrued interest will thereafter bear interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum until paid in full.       

   
As undeveloped land, the Vantage Point property is not an income-producing property. The purchase was made based upon the anticipated 

capital appreciation of the property.  
   
We also owned the following real estate-related investment as of December 31, 2011:  
   
Mesquite Venture I, LLC - $600,000 Secured Loan  
   
On September 30, 2008, we originated, through SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, an affiliated entity 100% owned by the Operating Partnership 

(“SPT Real Estate Finance”), one real estate loan of $600,000. Mesquite Venture I, LLC was the borrower. The loan is a second position lien 
behind a $3,681,000 first position lien. The term of the loan was nine months and bore interest at an annual rate of 14%. The loan was secured by 
a second deed of trust, assignment of rents and security agreement encumbering real property situated in the City of Mesquite. This real estate 
loan was recorded as a note receivable with $63,000 of prepaid interest netted against the note balance on our consolidated balance sheet.  

   
On or about June 30, 2009, SPT Real Estate Finance agreed to extend the maturity date of its secured note with Mesquite Venture I, LLC 

from June 30, 2009 to May 15, 2010. In consideration of this loan extension, Mesquite Venture I, LLC agreed to pay a loan extension fee of five 
percent of the outstanding principal balance or $30,000 payable as follows: $10,000 upon execution of the secured note extension, $10,000 on 
October 1, 2009 and $10,000 on January 1, 2010. Mesquite Venture I, LLC also agreed to make a $10,000 payment on April 1, 2010, which was 
to be applied against accrued and unpaid interest. Interest accrued on the outstanding principal balance at an annual rate of fourteen percent and 
all accrued and unpaid interest and principal became due and payable in full at the new maturity date of May 15, 2010.  

   
On or about October 12, 2009, SPT Real Estate Finance was informed that on September 28, 2009 a Notice of Default and Election to Sell 

Under Deed of Trust (“NOD”) was recorded on behalf of East West Bank, as beneficiary (“East West Bank”), with respect to the first position 
lien securing certain obligations of Mesquite Venture I, LLC to East West Bank, including without limitation indebtedness under a Promissory 
Note in the initial principal amount of $3,681,000 (the "Senior Loan"). The NOD was filed due to Mesquite Venture I, LLC’s failure to pay the 
August 1, 2009 installment of principal and interest and all subsequent installments of principal and interest under the Senior Loan.  
   

A default on our secured note was triggered when Mesquite Venture I, LLC failed to make their $10,000 loan extension fee payment due on 
October 1, 2009. Mesquite Venture I, LLC subsequently failed to make their $10,000 loan extension fee payment due on January 1, 2010.  

   
On December 24, 2009, an entity controlled by one of the original guarantors of the aforementioned Senior Loan, entered into a Mortgage 

Loan Sale Agreement whereby the holder of the Senior Loan, East West Bank, agreed to sell to PLQ Mesquite Investors, LLC (Paul J. Giuntini, 
one of the original guarantors of the Senior Loan is manager of PLQ Mesquite Investors, LLC), the $3,681,000 mortgage note together with all 
of East West Bank’s interest in and to any of Mesquite Venture I, LLC’s property held by East West Bank, all collateral and any guarantees 
obtained in connection with the $3,681,000 note. On December 30, 2009, East West Bank officially assigned to PLQ Mesquite Investors, LLC, 
the beneficial interest under the Deed of Trust, Security Agreement, Assignment of Rents & Fixture Filing dated as of June 26, 2006, made by 
Mesquite Venture I, LLC as trustor, for the benefit of East West Bank, as beneficiary and recorded June 26, 2006. Mesquite Venture I, LLC 
cured its first lien position default upon the purchase, by PLQ Mesquite Investors, LLC, of the $3,681,000 mortgage note from East West Bank 
as PLQ Mesquite Investors, LLC’s manager, was also a guarantor on the $3,681,000 mortgage note with East West Bank.  
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Mesquite Venture I, LLC and our Advisor agreed that if Mesquite Venture I, LLC paid (i) all past due payments required as outlined in the 
extension agreement, (ii) the April 1, 2010 payment of $10,000, and (iii) reimburses SPT Real Estate Finance $10,000 for attorney’s fees 
incurred due to Mesquite Venture I, LLC’s failure to make timely payments as outlined in the extension agreement, SPT Real Estate Finance 
would consider Mesquite Venture I, LLC reinstated and would not pursue the guarantees from Mesquite Venture I, LLC and would no longer 
demand payment in full on their secured note. The total amount due from Mesquite Venture I, LLC was $40,000.  
   

On March 4, 2010, Mesquite Venture I, LLC paid SPT Real Estate Finance the negotiated $40,000, representing (i) the past due loan fee 
payments of $10,000 each due on October 1, 2009 and January 1, 2010, (ii) the April 1, 2010 payment of $10,000, and (iii) $10,000 for 
attorney’s fees incurred by SPT Real Estate Finance due to non-payment on behalf of Mesquite Venture I, LLC. Mesquite Venture I, LLC was 
then deemed reinstated by SPT Real Estate Finance.  

   
This note matured on May 15, 2010; however SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC did not receive payment in full as agreed to by Mesquite 

Venture I, LLC. Management began discussions with Mesquite Venture I, LLC regarding their matured $600,000 promissory note with SPT 
Real Estate Finance, LLC and on or about August 13, 2010, management and Mesquite Venture I, LLC documented and executed a 
reinstatement and modification agreement whereby management (i) granted an extension to Mesquite Venture I, LLC resulting in a new maturity 
date of January 15, 2011, (ii) agreed to waive extension fees relating to the modification, (iii) agreed the interest rate during the extension period 
would be 14%, (iv) added all accrued and unpaid interest through the date of the reinstatement and modification to the outstanding principal 
balance of the promissory note, (v) agreed during the extension period, Mesquite Venture I, LLC would make monthly payments of $5,000 
towards accrued and unpaid interest, and (vi) agreed Mesquite Venture I, LLC would provide additional collateral, specifically fifty percent 
(50%) of one guarantors ownership position in Silvertip Resort Village, LLC, a limited liability company whose primary purpose is real estate 
investment and which currently owns an option on a hotel site in northern California.  

   
As of December 31, 2010, Mesquite Venture I, LLC had failed to make its December 2010, $5,000 monthly payment towards accrued and 

unpaid interest as required under the reinstatement and modification agreement. Due to the failure by Mesquite Venture I, LLC to make its 
December 2010 monthly payment, Mesquite Venture I, LLC was in default under the terms of its reinstatement and modification agreement.  

   
The secured note to Mesquite Venture I, LLC matured on January 15, 2011 and SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC did not receive payment 

in full as required by Mesquite Venture I, LLC. The Company sent a demand letter to the guarantors on the Mesquite loan on January 20, 2011 
indicating that if payment was not received within 10 days the Company intended to immediately pursue collection. The due date on the demand 
letter passed without payment from Mesquite Venture I, LLC. Management began discussions with (i) Mesquite Venture I, LLC regarding their 
matured $600,000 promissory note with SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, and (ii) Company legal counsel regarding options available to the 
Company regarding collection of the outstanding receivable.  

   
On July 14, 2011, an entity controlled by one of the original guarantors of the secured note to Mesquite Ventures I, LLC, which entity 

owns a property known as the Silvertip Resort Village, was placed into bankruptcy by this original guarantor to avoid a pending foreclosure. 
Prior to the bankruptcy filing the Company was notified of the pending filing by this same original guarantor. On August 13, 2010, when 
management and Mesquite Venture I, LLC documented and executed a reinstatement and modification agreement, Mesquite Venture I, 
LLC provided additional collateral, specifically fifty percent (50%) of one guarantors ownership position in Silvertip Resort Village, LLC, a 
limited liability company whose primary purpose is real estate investment and which currently owns an option on the Silvertip Resort Village 
hotel site in northern California. The option agreement is held by an entity affiliated with Silvertip Resort Village, LLC. Management has been 
in discussions with Company legal counsel regarding this recent bankruptcy filing and its impact on the Company’s collection efforts on the 
Mesquite Ventures I, LLC secured note.  
   

On August 12, 2011, Company legal counsel filed suit against the guarantors of the Mesquite Ventures I, LLC secured note for collection of 
all outstanding principal, interest, and other expenses owed to the Company. As of December 31, 2011 this litigation is still ongoing.  
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  
   

Pulte Home Project  
   

A previously owned real estate property known as the “Pulte Home Project” was the subject of a dispute regarding obligations retained 
by both Pulte Home, when it sold the Winchester Ranch project to SPT SWRC, LLC, on December 31, 2008, and by SPT SWRC, LLC when it 
resold the Winchester Ranch project to Khalda Development Inc. (“Khalda”), on March 20, 2009, to complete certain improvements, such as 
grading and infrastructure (the “Improvements”). Both sales were made subject to the following agreements which, by their terms, required the 
Improvements to be made: (i) a Reconveyance Agreement, dated November 15, 2007, by and among Pulte Home and the prior owners of the 
Winchester Ranch project — Barratt American Incorporated, Meadow Vista Holdings, LLC (“Meadow Vista”) and Newport Road 103, LLC 
(“Newport”) (the “Reconveyance Agreement”), and (ii) a letter agreement, dated December 30, 2008, executed by SPT SWRC, LLC, Meadow 
Vista, and Newport, and acknowledged by Pulte Home (the “Subsequent Letter Agreement”). Meadow Vista and Newport, as joint claimants 
(the “Claimants”) against Pulte Home and SPT SWRC, LLC, initiated binding arbitration in an effort to (1) require Pulte Home to reaffirm its 
obligations under the Reconveyance Agreement and the Subsequent Letter Agreement to make the Improvements in light of the subsequent 
transfer of ownership of the Winchester Ranch project to Khalda, (2) require that certain remedial measures be taken to restore the site to a more 
marketable condition, and (3) for damages. Neither SPT SWRC, LLC nor Pulte Home took the position that their respective transfers of the 
project had released them from the obligation to make the Improvements, and the current owner, Khalda, has not failed to, or refused to conduct 
the Improvements required in the Reconveyance Agreement. A settlement was reached that did not require any substantive action by SPT 
SWRC, LLC at this time; however, the issue of attorney fees was deferred.  Meadow Vista and Newport sought approximately $115,000 in 
attorneys’ fees and costs from SPT SWRC, LLC, and that claimed amount could have increased somewhat as the dispute continued.  In addition, 
Pulte Home could have sought indemnity from SPT SWRC for its attorneys’ fees and costs, as well as any attorneys’ fees and costs it paid to 
Meadow Vista and Newport, which were unknown, but most likely would not have exceeded $200,000 combined.  On December 22, 2011, SPT 
SWRC, LLC settled this dispute over attorneys fees and costs with Meadow Vista, Newport, and Pulte by agreeing to pay $70,000 to Meadow 
Vista and Newport (combined).  Payment of $70,000 pursuant to the settlement was made by SPT SWRC, LLC on February 17, 2012.  The 
arbitration initiated by Meadow Vista and Newport was thereafter concluded.  For any amounts  of attorneys’ fees incurred or paid by SPT 
SWRC, LLC, SPT SWRC, LLC may seek indemnity from Khalda.  

   
Management had concluded that it was probable the Company would incur a loss related to the arbitration proceeding and the amount 

of the loss could be estimated; as such the Company originally recorded a legal settlement expense of $200,000 in the accompanying 
consolidated statement of operations and a corresponding liability on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. This original legal 
settlement expense of $200,000 was subsequently reduced to $70,000 once a settlement over attorneys fees and costs was completed.  

   
   

FINRA  
During 2009, our Advisor advised us that FINRA examined Shopoff Securities, Inc.’s (“Shopoff Securities”) records as part of its routine 

sales practice and financial/operational examination for the purpose of meeting applicable regulatory mandates and providing Shopoff Securities 
with an assessment as to its compliance with applicable securities rules and regulations. Shopoff Securities was the broker-dealer for our public 
offering. On December 29, 2009, FINRA issued an examination report, which included certain cautionary items that did not need to be included 
in the Central Registration Depository (the securities industry online registration and licensing database) nor did they need to be reported on 
Shopoff Securities’ Form BD or Form U4 (each, a Uniform Application for Broker-Dealer Registration used by broker-dealers to register and 
update their information with the SEC and FINRA, respectively). Additionally, the examination report included a referral of issues related to our 
offering to a separate examination. This separate examination is ongoing and as of the date of this filing, neither us nor Shopoff Securities has 
received further communication from FINRA regarding this separate examination. We do not know when the examination will be resolved or 
what, if any, actions FINRA may require us to take as part of that resolution. This examination could result in fines, penalties or administrative 
remedies or no actions asserted against us.  
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ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES  
   

Not applicable.  
   

PART II  
   
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’ S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  
   
Market Information  

   
No public market currently exists for our shares of common stock, and we currently have no plans to list our shares on a national 

securities exchange. Until our shares are listed, if ever, our stockholders may not sell their shares unless the buyer meets the applicable suitability 
and minimum purchase requirements. In addition, our charter prohibits the ownership of more than 9.8% of our stock, unless this requirement is 
waived by our board of directors. Consequently, there is the risk that our stockholders may not be able to sell their shares at a time or price 
acceptable to them.  

   
Our shares are not registered in all states and U.S. territories. If you purchase shares of our common stock, you may not be able to resell 

the shares in certain states and U.S. territories unless the shares of our common stock are registered under the applicable securities laws of the 
jurisdiction or there is confirmation that an exemption from registration is available for secondary trading in such jurisdiction. There can be no 
assurance that there exists an available exemption for secondary trading in our common stock in all states and U.S. territories. If we have not 
registered or qualified, or obtained or verified an exemption for the secondary trading of, our common stock in any particular jurisdiction, the 
shares of common stock could not be offered or sold to, or purchased by, a resident of that jurisdiction. In addition, resales of shares registered 
under the securities laws of the State of California are subject to the approval of the California Commissioner of Corporations, subject to certain 
exceptions.  

   
Our charter does not restrict our ability to conduct offerings in the future, and if our board of directors determines that it is in our best 

interest, we may conduct follow-on offerings.  
   
To assist the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) members and their associated persons that participated in our public 

offering of common stock, pursuant to FINRA Conduct Rule 5110, we disclose in each annual report distributed to stockholders a per share 
estimated value of the shares, the method by which it was developed, and the date of the data used to develop the estimated value. For this 
purpose, on February 20, 2012, the Company’s board of directors approved a basic estimated value per share of the Company’s common stock of 
$6.56 and a fully diluted estimated value per share of the Company’s common stock of $6.24 based on an equal weighted average of (i) the 
estimated value of the Company’s assets less the estimated value of the Company’s liabilities, or adjusted net asset value method, and (ii) the 
present value of future expected income of the Company, discounted for risk, or discounted cash flow method, divided by the actual number of 
shares outstanding for the basic estimated value per share and anticipated number of shares outstanding for the fully diluted estimated value per 
share, all as of December 31, 2011. There have been no material changes between December 31, 2011 and the date of this filing to the net values 
of the Company’s assets and liabilities that existed at December 31, 2011. The estimated value per share was based upon the recommendation 
and valuation by Newport Valuations, Inc. (“NewVal”), an independent third-party firm hired by the Company to complete the valuation. Once 
we establish an estimated value per share we currently expect to update the estimated value per share every 12 to 18 months thereafter.  
   

As with any valuation methodology, NewVal’s methodology is based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that may not be 
accurate or complete. Different parties with different assumptions and estimates could derive a different estimated value per share. Accordingly, 
with respect to the estimated value per share, the Company can give no assurance that:  
   

   

  

• a stockholder would be able to resell his or her shares at this estimated value; 
• a stockholder would ultimately realize distributions per share equal to the Company’s estimated value per share upon liquidation of the 

Company’s assets and settlement of its liabilities or a sale of the Company; 
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For further information regarding the estimated value per share, see our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 

29, 2012.  
   

The value of our shares will continue to fluctuate over time in response to developments related to individual assets in the portfolio, 
management of those assets and to the real estate and finance markets.  

   
Holders of Record  
   

We had approximately 291 shareholders of record as of March 23, 2012.  
   

Distribution Information  
   

In order to qualify as a REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our annual taxable income to our stockholders. We own one 
hundred percent of five real estate investments and a portion of a sixth real estate investment, and have made three real estate-related 
investments, one of which is outstanding as of December 31, 2011. Consistent with our investment policy, we will acquire and hold undeveloped 
real estate assets as long-term investments and will not realize any income from these properties until they are sold. Accordingly, we cannot 
predict when, if ever, we will generate any income or income sufficient to pay cash dividends to our stockholders. The amount of any cash 
dividends will be determined by our board of directors and will depend on the amount of distributable funds, current and projected cash 
requirements, tax considerations, any limitations imposed by the terms of indebtedness we may incur and other factors. If and when our 
investments produce operating cash flow, we expect to pay dividends to you on a periodic basis as determined by our board of directors. Because 
our cash available for distribution in any year may be less than 90% of our taxable income for the year, we may be required to borrow money, 
use proceeds from the issuance of securities and/or sell assets to pay out enough of our taxable income to satisfy the distribution requirement.  
   

Generally, dividends that our investors may receive will be taxed as ordinary income to the extent they are from current or accumulated 
earnings and profits. To the extent that we make a distribution in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits, the distribution will 
be treated first as a tax-free return of capital, reducing the tax basis in your shares, and the amount of each distribution in excess of your tax basis 
in your shares will be taxable as a gain realized from the sale of your shares. If you receive a distribution in excess of our current and 
accumulated earnings and profits, upon the sale of your shares you may realize a higher taxable gain or a smaller loss because the reduced basis 
of the shares will be used for purposes of computing the amount of the gain or loss. In addition, individual investors will be subject to tax at 
capital gains rates on distributions made by us that we designate as “capital gain dividends.”  
   
Dividends  
   

Our board of directors will determine the amount and timing of cash dividends to our stockholders based on many factors, including the 
amount of funds available for distribution, our financial condition, requirements we must meet to qualify to be taxed as a REIT, whether to 
reinvest or distribute such funds, capital expenditure and reserve requirements and general operational requirements. The amount of funds 
available for distribution will be affected by (i) our ability to identify and make real estate or real estate-related investments, (ii) the amount of 
the returns upon the sale of those real estate or real estate-related investments we make, and (iii) our operating expense levels, as well as many 
other variables.  
   
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities  
   

On November 27, 2006, prior to the commencement of our initial public offering, the Sponsor purchased 21,100 shares of our common stock 
for cash in a private offering exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.  

   

  

• the Company’s shares of common stock would trade at the estimated value per share on a national securities exchange; 
• an independent third-party appraiser or other third-party valuation firm would agree with the Company’s estimated value per share; or 
• the methodology used to estimate the Company’s value per share would be acceptable to FINRA or for compliance with Employee 

Retirement Income Security Act reporting requirements. 
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On November 18, 2011, an affiliate of Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc., SPT-Vantage Point, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, closed 

on the purchase of real property located in the Town of Parker, Douglas County, Colorado, which we refer to in this report as the “Vantage Point 
property.” As part of the overall purchase price, the sellers of the Vantage Point property, who were all accredited investors, agreed to accept 
61,100 shares of the Company’s common stock at $9.00 per share (a total of $549,900), as part of the overall cash required to close this 
acquisition. The shares were sold in a private placement pursuant to an exemption from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 
1933.  
   
Issuer Redemption of Equity Securities  
   

We do not have an authorized and approved share redemption plan. The board of directors could consider such a plan but no such 
consideration was made as of December 31, 2011. Consequently, there is the risk that our stockholders may not be able to redeem their shares at 
a time or price acceptable to them.  
   
Use of Proceeds from Sales of Registered Securities  
   

On August 29, 2007, we commenced our public offering of up to 2,000,000 shares of common stock at an offering price of $9.50 per share 
and up to 18,100,000 shares of common stock at $10.00 per share pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-139042) that 
was declared effective on August 29, 2007. The maximum aggregate amount of the offering was $200,000,000. We retained Shopoff Securities 
as the sole broker-dealer in the offering. We sold the minimum offering of 1,700,000 shares on August 29, 2008, at $9.50 per share. The offering 
terminated on August 29, 2010. In the public offering we sold a total of 1,919,400 shares of common stock for $18,234,300, excluding shares 
purchased by the Sponsor and excluding shares of vested stock issued to certain directors and executive officers of the Company.  

   
As of December 31, 2011, we had sold 1,940,500 shares of our common stock for $18,434,750, which includes 21,100 shares of our 

common stock purchased by the Sponsor for $200,450 in a private offering exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities 
Act of 1933. From this amount, we incurred approximately $5,286,000 in organization and offering costs (of which approximately $2,251,000 
has been recorded in our financial statements). As of December 31, 2011, we had net offering proceeds from the offering of approximately 
$16,184,000, which includes shares purchased by our Sponsor that resulted in additional cash proceeds to the Company. We have used the net 
offering proceeds to purchase our interests in nine properties, three of which have been one hundred percent sold and one of which has been 
partially sold, and to originate three loans, (two of which we have obtained the underlying real estate which served as collateral for the loans), to 
pay $692,000 in acquisition or origination fees, $405,953 in disposition fees, and $895,727 in asset management fees and to pay other operating 
expenses and fees. For more information regarding how we used the net proceeds (along with how we used cash from operating activities) for 
the year ended December 31, 2011, see our consolidated statements of cash flows included in this report.  
   

At December 31, 2011, on our behalf, the Sponsor had incurred selling commissions, broker-dealer fees, and other organization and 
offering costs in the amounts set forth below. These expenses are our obligation, however, at no time will our obligation for such costs and 
expenses exceed 12.34% of the total proceeds raised in the offering. Accordingly, only a portion of these expenses have been reflected in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheet.   

   

   

  

Type of Expense Amount   Amount     
Estimated/  
Actual 

Selling commissions and broker-dealer fees   $ —      
Finders’  fees     —      
Expenses paid to or for underwriters     —      
Other organization and offering costs   $ 5,286,000     Actual 
Total expenses   $ 5,286,000     Actual 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  

   
The following selected condensed financial data as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011 should be read in conjunction with the 

accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” below:  
   

   

   
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

   
You should read the following discussion and analysis together with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in this 

Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following information contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks and uncertainties. 
Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by the 
forward-looking statements. Please see “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” above for a description of these risks and 
uncertainties.  

   
Company Overview  
   

We are a Maryland corporation that intends to qualify as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, beginning with the taxable year ended 
December 31, 2012. On November 30, 2006, we filed a registration statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-139042) under Section 856 (c) of the 
Internal Revenue Code with the SEC to offer a minimum of 1,700,000 shares and a maximum of 20,100,000 shares of common stock for sale to 
the public. The SEC declared the registration statement effective on August 29, 2007, and we then launched our initial public offering. We sold 
the minimum offering of 1,700,000 shares on August 29, 2008, at $9.50 per share. Our offering terminated August 29, 2010 and we proceeded 
with the deregistration of all shares remaining for sale through the filing of a post effective amendment number 7 with the SEC. As of December 
31, 2011, we had sold 1,919,400 shares of common stock for $18,234,300, excluding shares purchased by the Sponsor.  
   

On October 14, 2011, the Company filed post effective amendment No. 1 to form S-8 registration statement, filed for the purpose of 
terminating the registration statement and deregistering any unissued shares previously registered under the registration statement and issuable 
under the plan. No shares have been issued under the plan since August 2010.  

   
The Company, as a result of the closing of an acquisition that occurred on November 5, 2009, utilized a substantial portion of its remaining 

liquidity as of September 30, 2009. This liquidity shortage continued during 2011, as although the Company successfully sold two real estate 
investments that were designated as held for sale as of December 31, 2010, the Company experienced delays in the payoff of a secured mortgage 
note receivable, and was unable to close joint ventures planned during 2011, which would have generated cash for operations and additional 
investments. Additionally, during 2011 the residential real estate market continued to experience distress and turbulence, including several of the 
markets in which the Company had made investments in residential land. This continued distress and turbulence during 2011 resulted in the 
Company recognizing in 2011, impairment charges on a portion of its real estate investments of which the Company believes a portion will be 

  

    As of   
    December 31, 2011   

Balance sheet data:         
Assets   $ 19,646,490   
Liabilities     5,824,084   
Shopoff Properties Trust Stockholders’  equity     13,411,657   
Stockholders’ Equity     13,822,406   
Liabilities and Stockholder’s Equity   $ 19,646,490   

Operating data:       

    

For the  
Year Ended  
December 31, 2011   

Revenues   $ 6,300,000   
Expenses   $ 7,933,042   
Net loss before income taxes   $ (1,633,042 ) 
Net loss   $ (1,641,954 ) 
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests     (15,775 ) 
Net loss attributable to the Company   $ (1,626,179 ) 
Other data:         
Cash flows used in operating activities     (1,312,220 ) 
Cash flows provided by investing activities     4,083,523   
Cash flows provided by financing activities     (2,781,992 ) 
Per share data:         

Net income per common share - basic     (0.80 ) 
Net income per common share - diluted     (0.80 ) 

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding - basic     2,021,725   
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding - diluted     2,021,725   



earned back when future real estate dispositions occur.  
     
As a result of the Company’s delays in creating additional liquidity, in mid 2011, the Company’s Advisor sold two of the Company’s real 

estate investments (a portion of the Tuscany Valley properties known as Tuscany West and the Underwood Project). The sales of these two 
Company real estate investments were designed to improve the Company’s liquidity position, and the Company utilized the cash generated from 
these two real estate sales to retire a portion of the Company’s outstanding debt, pay outstanding accounts payable, and created a reserve for 
operations. The Company also utilized available funds for additional investments, purchasing in 2011, with an affiliate of our Sponsor and 
Advisor, a 47.9 acre parcel of unimproved land zoned commercial/retail and multi-family residential, which currently permits 306 residential 
units and 25 acres of retail land located in the Town of Parker, Douglas County, Colorado.  
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Since late 2011, the Company has been actively pursuing discussions with potential lending sources for land assets. Additionally, 

management has opened discussions with its current lenders to restructure the due dates of existing loans. Management has also been pursuing 
discussions with potential joint venture partners who would purchase a portion of existing Company real estate assets in exchange for cash. The 
intent of the Company is to obtain new debt on real estate owned that is currently unencumbered and /or enter into a joint venture agreement 
whereby the Company would contribute a portion of its real estate assets to the joint venture in exchange for cash. See Note 9 to the notes to 
consolidated financial statements.  

   
We have used the proceeds of our initial public offering to acquire undeveloped real estate assets that present “value-added” opportunities or 

other opportunistic investments for our stockholders, to obtain entitlements on such opportunities if applicable, and to hold such assets as long-
term investments for eventual sale. “Entitlements” is an all inclusive term used to describe the various components of our value added business 
plan. We will undertake various functions to enhance the value of our land holdings, including land planning and design, engineering and 
processing of tentative tract maps and obtaining required environmental approvals. All of these initial entitlements are discretionary actions as 
approved by the local governing jurisdictions. The subsequent entitlement process involves obtaining federal, state, or local biological and 
natural resource permits if applicable. Federal and state agencies may include the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service, state wildlife, or others as required. By obtaining these approvals or entitlements, we can remove impediments for development for 
future owners and developers of the projects. It is through this systematic process that we believe that we can realize profits for our investors by 
enhancing asset values of our real estate holdings. The majority of the property acquired will be located primarily in the States of California, 
Nevada, Arizona, Hawaii and Texas. If market conditions dictate and if approved by our board of directors, we may invest in properties located 
outside of these states. On a limited basis, we may acquire interests in income producing properties and ownership interests in firms engaged in 
real estate activities or whose assets consist of significant real estate holdings, provided these investments meet our overall investment 
objectives. We plan to own substantially all of our assets and conduct our operations through our Operating Partnership, or wholly owned 
subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership. Our wholly owned subsidiary, Shopoff General Partner, LLC, is the sole general partner of the 
Operating Partnership. We have no paid employees. The Advisor conducts our operations and manages our portfolio of real estate investments.  

   
The recent focus of our acquisitions has been on distressed or opportunistic property offerings. At our inception, our focus was on adding 

value to property through the entitlement process, but the recent real estate market has generated a supply of real estate projects that are all 
partially or completely developed versus vacant, undeveloped land. This has changed the focus of our acquisitions to enhancing the value of real 
property through redesign and engineering refinements and has removed much of the entitlement risk that we expected to undertake. Although 
acquiring distressed assets at greatly reduced prices from the peaks of 2005 – 2006 does not guaranty us success, we believe that it does allow us 
the opportunity to acquire more assets than previously contemplated.  

   
We believe there will be continued distress in the real estate market in the near term, although we feel that prices have found support in some 

of our target markets.  We have seen pricing increase substantially from the lows of the past few years, but opportunities continue to be available 
as properties make their way through the financial system and ultimately come to market. We are also seeing more opportunities to work with 
landowners under options or joint ventures and obtain entitlements in order to create long term shareholder value. Our view of the mid to long 
term is more positive, and we expect property values to improve over the four- to ten-year time horizon. Our plan has been to be in a position to 
capitalize on these opportunities for capital appreciation.  

   
Through December 31, 2011, we had purchased all or a portion of nine properties, four of which were subsequently either fully or partially 

sold, one on March 20, 2009, one on February 3, 2010, one on May 10, 2011 and one on May 13, 2011, and had originated three secured real 
estate loans, two of which were subsequently converted to real estate owned on September 4, 2009 as a result of settlement negotiations between 
the obligor and us. We had no properties in escrow as of December 31, 2011. We have placed one additional property in escrow since December 
31, 2011.  
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A portion of the proceeds of our offering were reserved to meet working capital needs and contingencies associated with our operations. We 

believe this reserve allocation aided our objective of preserving capital for our investors by supporting the maintenance and viability of 
properties we acquired. We have allocated to our working capital reserve not less than 0.5% of the gross proceeds of the offering. As long as we 
own any undeveloped real estate assets, we will retain as working capital reserves an amount equal to at least 0.5% and not more than 5% of the 
gross proceeds of the offering, subject to review and re-evaluation by the board of directors. If reserves and any available income become 
insufficient to cover our operating expenses and liabilities, it may be necessary to obtain additional funds by borrowing, refinancing properties 
and/or liquidating our investment in one or more properties. There is no assurance that such funds will be available or, if available, that the terms 
will be acceptable to us.  

   
As of December 31, 2011, the Company has insufficient liquidity to maintain working capital reserves of 0.5% of the gross proceeds of the 

offering as initially projected. The Company has taken steps to increase overall liquidity, by actively pursuing discussions with potential lending 
sources for land assets and joint venture partners who would purchase a portion of existing Company real estate assets in exchange for cash and 
anticipates that the minimum working capital reserve of 0.5% will be available when the Company is successful in its financing and 
recapitalization efforts.  
   

We intend to make an election to be taxed as a REIT under Section 856(c) of the Internal Revenue Code for our tax year ending December 
31, 2012. In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute to our stockholders each calendar year at least 90% of our taxable income, excluding 
net capital gains. If we qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on income that 
we distribute to our stockholders. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to federal income tax on our taxable 
income at regular corporate rates and will not be permitted to qualify as a REIT for four years following the year in which our qualification is 
denied. Such an event could materially and adversely affect our net income (if any) and results of operations.  

   
Results of Operations  
   

Although we have made several acquisitions without the use of capital from outside investment firms, we contemplate using capital from 
these outside investment firms in the coming years to grow the Company’s investment base. As such our results of operations as of the date of 
this report are not necessarily indicative of those expected in future periods.  
   

Through December 31, 2011, we had purchased all or a portion of nine properties, four of which were subsequently either fully or partially 
sold:  

   

   

  

• The first property was purchased on December 31, 2008 for $2,000,000 and we incurred closing and related costs of approximately 
$614,000 including $476,774 in reconveyance costs. This property was subsequently sold on March 20, 2009 for $5,000,000 and the 
Company recognized a gain on the sale of approximately $2,045,000. 

• The second property was purchased on April 17, 2009 for $650,000 and we incurred closing and related costs of approximately 
$45,000. This property was subsequently sold on February 3, 2010 for $2,231,775 and the Company recognized a gain on the sale of 
approximately $744,000. 

• The third property was purchased on May 19, 2009, for $1,650,000 and we incurred closing and related costs of approximately $60,000. 
On August 31, 2010, we closed on a $1,000,000 loan secured by the third property purchased on May 19, 2009. This third property was 
subsequently sold on May 13, 2011 for $4,500,000 and the Company recognized a gain on the sale of approximately $2,401,000. As a 
condition of the sale, the $1,000,000 loan secured by the third property was paid in full at the close of escrow. 

• The fourth property was purchased on July 31, 2009, for $3,000,000, which included a seller note carry back of $2,000,000 and we 
incurred closing and related costs of approximately $1,482. As of December 31, 2011, we have made principal pay downs totaling 
$800,000 on the $2,000,000 seller note carry back. 

• The fifth and sixth properties were acquired on September 4, 2009 via a Settlement Agreement with Springbrook Investments, L.P., a 
California limited partnership (“Springbrook”), in which Springbrook agreed to execute and deliver a grant deed to the underlying real 
estate collateral in consideration for the discharge by us of all of Springbrook’s obligations under two secured promissory notes owned 
by the Company. The tax basis of the fifth property when acquired was $2,152,210 and tax basis of the sixth property when acquired 
was $472,436. 
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Through December 31, 2011, we have originated three secured real estate loans receivable: one in an amount of $600,000 to one borrower 

and two separate loans to a second borrower in the aggregate amount of $2,300,000. The two separate loans to a second borrower in the 
aggregate amount of $2,300,000 were converted to real estate owned on September 4, 2009 when we took title to the underlying real estate 
serving as collateral for the two loans. The $600,000 secured real estate loan receivable incurred no closing costs as all title, escrow and attorney 
fees were paid for by the borrower through escrow. As of December 31, 2011, from the $600,000 loan, we have earned $201,593 in interest 
income, (i) $22,382 of which was accrued interest receivable that was subsequently written off when the Company recognized a loan loss 
provision in 2011, (ii) $88,000 of which has been paid to us by the borrower, (iii) $91,211 which was added to the principal balance upon the 
reinstatement and modification of this loan in August 2010, (iv) paid an acquisition fee of $18,000, or 3% of the contract price to the Advisor, 
which was paid to SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC upon the closing of escrow on September 30, 2008, and (v) paid the Advisor asset management 
fees of $38,000. Prior to the conversion of the two separate loans aggregating $2,300,000 to real estate owned, we had, (i) accrued $324,647 in 
interest income, (ii) paid an acquisition fee of $69,000, or 3% of the contract price to the Advisor, which was paid upon the closing of escrow on 
January 9, 2009, and (iii) paid the Advisor asset management fees of $31,207. As of December 31, 2011, since the conversion of the two 
separate loans aggregating $2,300,000 to real estate owned, we have paid the Advisor asset management fees of $116,386.  

   
Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011 approximated $6,300,000. These revenues consisted exclusively of two sales of real estate.  
   
Expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 approximated $7,942,000. These expenses consisted primarily of cost of sales of real estate, 

impairment charges, a loan loss provision, professional fees, stock based compensation, insurance, dues and subscriptions, director 
compensation, general and administrative expenses, and a provision for income taxes.  

   
For the year ended December 31, 2011, we had a net loss of approximately $1,642,000 due primarily to the sales of real estate offset by cost 

of sales of real estate, impairment charges, a loan loss provision, stock based compensation, and operating expenses, consisting primarily of 
professional fees, insurance, director compensation, dues and subscriptions, general and administrative expenses, and a provision for income 
taxes.  

   
Comparison of Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2011 to Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2010  

   
Total revenues . Total revenues increased by $3,921,856 or 164.9% to $6,300,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 

compared to $2,378,144 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The significant components of revenue are discussed below.  
   

  

  • The seventh and eighth properties were purchased on November 5, 2009 for an aggregate amount of $9,600,000, which included a 
seller note carry back of $2,900,000, and we incurred closing and related costs of approximately $320,000. A portion of the seventh and 
eighth properties was subsequently sold on May 10, 2011 for $1,800,000 and the Company recognized a loss on the sale of 
approximately $21,500. On May 12, 2011, the Company paid all outstanding principal and interest due on the seller note carryback. 

  • The ninth property was purchased on November 18, 2011 for an aggregate amount of $4,900,000, which included two first position 
seller note carry backs in an aggregate amount of $2,600,000 and one second position seller note carry back of $1,100,100. This ninth 
property was purchased by SPT-Vantage Point, LLC. Shopoff Partners, L.P., an affiliate of the Company, is a member and the manager 
of SPT-Vantage Point, LLC. Shopoff Partners, L.P.’s ownership percentage of SPT-Vantage Point, LLC is dependent on the level of 
capital contributed to SPT-Vantage Point, LLC and is anticipated to change as the Company contemplates the use of additional joint 
venture partners to fund a majority of the cash required for this project.  Currently one such joint venture partner is an entity that is 
affiliated with the Company, our Advisor, and our Sponsor. 
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Sale of real estate . This caption represents revenues earned from the disposition of real estate and real estate-related investments. Sale of 

real estate increased $4,068,225 or 182.3% to $6,300,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 compared to $2,231,775 for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The Company sold two real estate investments during the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 
compared to one real estate investment during the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. During the twelve months ended December 31, 
2011, the Company sold 543 single family residential lots, a 9.4 acre park, and over 70 acres of open space on a total of 225 acres of unimproved 
land located in the City of Menifee, Riverside County California and 164 entitled but unimproved residential lots located in the City of Lake 
Elsinore, California. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 the Company sold 65 finished residential lots and 6 lettered lots located in 
the City of Lake Elsinore, Riverside County, California.  

   
Interest income, notes receivable .  This caption represents revenues earned from the origination of secured real estate loans. Interest 

income, notes receivable decreased $96,248 or 100.0% to $0 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 compared to $96,248 for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The decrease was due to the Company concluding that a collectability issue existed regarding a note 
receivable that had matured and remained unpaid. Due to this collectability issue, the Company stopped accruing interest on this matured note 
receivable. For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company had accrued interest on this note receivable in accordance with the note 
agreement.  
   

Interest income and other .  This caption represents revenues earned from the interest earned on cash held in escrow accounts, operating 
accounts, savings accounts, certificates of deposits, or other similar investments. Interest income and other decreased $1,006, or 100.0% to $0 for 
the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to $1,006 for the year ended December 31, 2010. The decrease was primarily related to the 
reduction in the amount of cash available for temporary investments due to the use of Company cash to make real estate and real estate-related 
investments and for the payment of Company operating expenses.  
   

Other income .  This caption represents revenues earned from the miscellaneous or other non-recurring or non-typical sources. Other income 
decreased $49,115, or 100.0% to $0 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 compared to $49,115 for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2010. The Company received receipt of a storm drain credit whose rights were obtained by us as part of a larger purchase on 
November 5, 2009 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. This was a one-time non-recurring income event for the Company.  
   

Total expenses .  Total expenses increased by $3,437,525 or 76.3% to $7,941,954 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 
compared to $4,504,429 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The significant components of expense are discussed below.  

   
Cost of sales of real estate .  Cost of sale of real estate represents direct costs attributable to the investment in the goods sold by the 

Company. Cost of sales of real estate increased $2,432,431 or 163.5% to $3,920,387 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 compared 
to $1,487,956 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The Company sold two real estate investments during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2011 compared to one real estate investment that was sold during the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. During the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2011 the Company sold 543 single family residential lots, a 9.4 acre park, and over 70 acres of open space on a 
total of 225 acres of unimproved land located in the City of Menifee, Riverside County California and 164 entitled but unimproved residential 
lots located in the City of Lake Elsinore, California. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 the Company sold 65 finished 
residential lots and 6 lettered lots located in the City of Lake Elsinore, Riverside County, California.  

   
Impairment expense .  Impairment expenses increased by $500,000, or 50.0% to $1,500,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 

2011 compared to $1,000,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. Impairment expenses represent the difference between the fair 
value of the Company’s real estate investments and the recorded value of the Company’s real estate investments. During the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2011, the Company recognized impairments on two real estate investments; a $1,000,000 impairment on the Tuscany 
Crest / Tuscany Valley portion of the Tuscany Valley properties and a $500,000 impairment on the Desert Moon Estates Property. During the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2010, the Company recognized impairments on three real estate investments; a $397,000 impairment on the 
Desert Moon Estates Property, a $335,000 impairment on the Tuscany West portion of the Tuscany Valley properties, and a $268,000 
impairment on the commercial portion of the Tuscany Valley properties.  
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Loan loss provision. Loan loss provision increased $356,796, or 100%, to $356,796 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 

compared to $0 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. Based on a review of a matured Company note receivable and the underlying 
collateral securing this note receivable, management concluded that this note receivable may not be fully collectible.  

   
Legal settlement.  This caption represents expenses incurred from the resolution of specific Company legal activities and are considered 

non-recurring or non-typical in nature. Legal settlement increased $70,000, or 100.0% to $70,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2011 compared to $0 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. Based on a recent ruling from an on-going arbitration matter and a 
subsequent settlement between the parties involved, management concluded that it was probable the Company would incur a loss related to this 
arbitration proceeding and also concluded that the amount of the loss could be estimated. This legal settlement is a non-recurring expense for the 
Company.  
   

Stock based compensation .  This caption represents restricted stock grants, stock options, and other share based compensation authorized by 
the Company’s board of directors. Stock based compensation decreased by $21,703, or 4.1% to $514,348 for the twelve months ended December 
31, 2011 compared to $536,051 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The decrease was due to the Company recognizing a smaller 
overall amount of option expense in 2011 as compared to 2010; during the twelve months ended December 31, 2010, the Company recognized 
one full year of option expense based on the vesting schedule of new options issued in August 2010; no new options were issued during the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2011.  

   
Asset management fees .  Asset management fees decreased by $7,754, or 2.1% to $370,696 for the twelve months ended December 31, 

2011 compared to $378,450 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The decrease was primarily due to (i) the Company having one 
less real estate investment in 2011as compared to 2010; during the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 the Company sold one real estate 
investment, (ii) the Company having two less real estate investments in 2011 as compared to 2010; during the twelve months ended December 
31, 2011 the Company sold two real estate investments that were owned during the twelve months ended December 31, 2010, offset by (iii) the 
Company having one more real estate investment in 2011 as compared to 2010; in November 2011, the Company purchased a real estate 
investment that was not owned during the twelve months ended December 31, 2010.  
   

Professional fees .  Professional fees increased by $118,124, or 41.1% to $405,786 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 
compared to $287,662 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The increase was primarily due to (i) higher legal fees generally in 2011 
as compared to 2010, (ii) expenses in 2011 related to the Company’s common stock valuation; prior to 2011 the Company did not provide a 
common stock valuation as the Company’s Offering had recently ended (August 29, 2010), and (iii) a higher level of legal expenses related to 
the default of an existing note receivable originated on September 30, 2008 in 2011 as compared to 2010, partially offset by (iv) a lower amount 
of fees related to the Company’s independent Sarbanes-Oxley consultant in 2011 as compared to 2010.  

   
Insurance .  Insurance decreased by $13,382, or 6.6% to $190,280 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 compared to $203,662 

for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The decrease was primarily due to the cancellation on one Company officer’s key man 
insurance policy in 2011; in 2010 this policy was still being maintained by the Company.  
   

General and administrative .  General and administrative costs increased by $60,922, or 30.4% to $261,316 for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2011 as compared to $200,394 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The increase was primarily due to, (i) 
amortization expense related to legal fees and loan fees incurred on a new loan secured by an existing real estate investment that closed in 
August 2010; the Company did not incur any amortization expense prior to August 2010, and (ii) interest expense on a new loan secured by an 
existing real estate investment that closed in August 2010, partially offset by (iii) in 2010, the Company incurred legal expenses related to an 
arbitration proceeding related to a previously owned asset; in 2011 a settlement was reached with the claimants.  
   

Dues and subscriptions .  Dues and subscriptions represent fees paid by the Company for membership in and benefits from various real 
estate and real estate-related organizations. Dues and subscriptions costs decreased by $48,993 or 36.7% to $84,796 for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2011 as compared to $133,789 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The decrease was primarily due to (i) a material 
renegotiation of an annual Company subscription in 2011; during 2010 the Company negotiated a fifty percent savings for the 2011 annual 
subscription period, and (ii) the cancellation of multiple annual Company subscriptions in 2011; in 2010 these subscriptions had not yet been 
terminated.  
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Director compensation .  Director compensation decreased by $8,250, or 4.3% to $181,750 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 

compared to $190,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The decrease was primarily due to the Company holding fewer board 
and committee meetings in 2011 as compared to 2010.  
   

Due diligence costs related to properties not acquired .   Due diligence costs related to properties not acquired decreased $24,216 or 24.0% 
to $76,887 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 compared to $101,103 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The 
increase was primarily related to the Company incurring as lower a level of expenses related to the review of potential real estate investments in 
2011 as compared to 2010.  
   

Provision (benefit) for income taxes.   This caption represents the amount on the consolidated statement of operations that estimates the 
Company’s total income tax liability for the year. We incurred $8,912 in provision for income taxes for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2011 compared to a benefit of $(14,637) for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. The Company anticipates a tax liability for the year 
ended December 31, 2011 based on the sale of two assets designated as held for sale as of December 31, 2010 and as such recognized a 
provision for income taxes of $8,912 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011. The Company’s provision for income taxes which was 
originally projected in December 2009 for the calendar year ended December 31, 2009 was revised downwards resulting in a credit back to the 
Company due to a lower overall projected income tax exposure for the calendar year ended December 31, 2009. This credit was reflected during 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2010.  

   
Market Conditions  
   

The United States recently faced a severe economic crisis including a major recession from which it is slowly recovering. Business activity 
across a wide range of industries and regions remains reduced and local governments and many businesses have experienced financial difficulty. 
Unemployment levels remain elevated. These conditions have had and will likely continue to have a negative impact on the price of real estate in 
most regions in the U.S. and the terms and availability of credit.  

   
Organization and Offering Costs  
   

The Company’s organization and offering costs were permitted to be paid by the Company’s Advisor, broker-dealer and their affiliates on 
the Company’s behalf. These organization and offering costs included all expenses to be paid by us in connection with the Company’s public 
offering, including but not limited to (i) legal, accounting, printing, mailing, and filing fees; (ii) charges of the escrow holder; (iii) reimbursement 
of the broker-dealer for amounts it may pay to reimburse the bona fide diligence expenses of other broker-dealers and registered investment 
advisors; (iv) reimbursement to the advisor for other costs in connection with preparing supplemental sales materials; (v) the cost of educational 
conferences held by us (including the travel, meal, and lodging costs of registered representatives of broker-dealers); and (vi) reimbursement to 
the broker-dealer for travel, meals, lodging, and attendance fees incurred by employees of the broker-dealer to attend retail seminars conducted 
by broker-dealers.  
   

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement and the broker-dealer agreement, we were obligated to reimburse the Advisor, the broker-dealer or 
their affiliates, as applicable, for organization and offering costs paid by them on our behalf, provided that the Advisor was obligated to 
reimburse us to the extent the organization and offering costs incurred by us in the offering exceed 12.34% of our gross offering proceeds. The 
Advisor and its affiliates incurred on our behalf organization and offering costs of $5.29 million through December 31, 2011. Such costs were 
only a liability to us to the extent the organization and offering costs did not exceed 12.34% of the gross proceeds of the offering. From 
commencement of our initial public offering through its termination on August 29, 2010, we sold 1,919,400 shares for gross offering proceeds of 
$18.23 million, excluding shares purchased by the Sponsor and excluding vested restricted stock grants issued to certain officers and directors, 
and recorded organization and offering costs of $2.63 million.  
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From the 1,919,400 shares sold, excluding shares purchased by the Sponsor and excluding vested restricted stock grants issued to certain 

officers and directors, we reimbursed in excess to the Advisor and its affiliates, approximately $381,000 which represents the amount of 
organizational and offering expenses over the 12.34% limit that were reimbursed to the Advisor during the offering period which terminated 
August 29, 2010. The Advisory Agreement dated August 29, 2007 as amended, entered into between us, the Operating partnership and the 
Advisor, states that the Advisor had 60 days from the end of the month in which the offering terminates to reimburse us for any organizational 
and offering expenses in excess of the 12.34% limit. The Advisor and its affiliates owed us approximately $381,000 on or before October 31, 
2010.  

   
 During the year ended December 31, 2011, we received from the Advisor and affiliated entities, approximately $381,000 which represented 

the amount of organizational and offering expenses in excess of the 12.34% limit that were reimbursed to the Advisor during the offering period 
which terminated August 29, 2010.  
   
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
   

We broke escrow on our initial public offering on August 29, 2008 and commenced real estate operations with the acquisition of our first 
material real estate investment on December 31, 2008. This first real estate investment was subsequently sold on March 20, 2009 for $5,000,000. 
Our offering and selling to the public up to 2,000,000 shares of our common stock, $.01 par value per share, at $9.50 per share and 18,100,000 
shares of our common stock, $.01 par value per share, at $10.00 per share ended August 29, 2010. As of December 31, 2011, we had sold and 
accepted 1,919,400 shares of our common stock for $18,234,300 excluding shares issued to the Sponsor, vested restricted stock grants issued to 
certain officers and directors, and shares of common stock issued to certain accredited investors in a private placement as part of the 
consideration for the acquisition of land.  
   

Our principal demand for funds is and will be for the acquisition of undeveloped real estate properties and other real estate-related 
investments, the payment of operating and general and administrative expenses, capital expenditures and payments under debt obligations when 
applicable.  
   

We did not pay any distributions to stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2011.  
   

As discussed further in Note 1 of the notes to consolidated financial statements, as of December 31, 2011, the Company has suffered losses 
and cash outflows from operations during 2011 and 2010, has limited liquidity and significant liabilities maturing in 2012. These conditions raise 
substantial doubt about our ability to continue to meet liquidity requirements and to continue as a going concern. As a result, management is 
taking the following actions: The Company is actively pursuing discussions with potential lending sources for land assets as the market for 
lending on unentitled and undeveloped land has become more available although the cost of funds could be prohibitive. Additionally, 
management has opened discussions with its current lenders to restructure the due dates of existing loans. Management has also been pursuing 
discussions with potential joint venture partners who would purchase a portion of existing Company real estate assets in exchange for cash. The 
intent of the Company is to obtain new debt on real estate owned that is currently unencumbered and /or enter into a joint venture agreement 
whereby the Company would contribute a portion of its real estate assets to the joint venture in exchange for cash. The Company is currently 
seeking approximately $3,000,000 in new funding from either lending or joint venture sources.  

   
As of December 31, 2011, our liabilities totaled $5,824,084 and consisted of accounts payable and accrued liabilities, due to related parties, 

income taxes payable, interest on notes payable, and notes payable secured by Company assets. Of the $5,824,084 in total liabilities $3,473,284 
are short term and $2,350,800 are long term. We do not currently have sufficient liquidity to meet our short term liability obligations as 
disclosed; however, management believes that (i) an extension of the maturity date of the Desert Moon Estates Company note payable is 
possible as the lender has extended the maturity date of this note on two previous occasions (see Note 5 of the notes to consolidated financial 
statements), (ii) an extension of the maturity date of the second lien on the Vantage Point property is possible as management successfully 
negotiated with the lender during the Company’s acquisition of the Vantage Point property, (iii) lending sources for land assets have become 
more available although the cost of funds could be high, and (iv) a recapitalization whereby a third-party capital source would take partial 
ownership of existing Company assets in a joint venture arrangement in exchange for cash is possible as discussions have occurred with several 
real estate private equity firms who have indicated interest in taking a partial ownership position with existing Company assets. As a result of (i), 
(ii), (iii), and (iv) above, we believe we will have sufficient funds for the operation of the Company for the foreseeable future. If (i), (ii), (iii), and 
(iv) discussed above do not happen, we may need to consider alternative solutions or we may need to cease operations.  
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Cash Flows  
   

The following is a comparison of the main components of our statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2011 to the year 
ended December 31, 2010:  

   
Cash From Operating Activities  
   
As of December 31, 2011, we owned one hundred percent of five real estate investments and a portion of a sixth real estate investment, none 

of which generates recurring income, and owned one real estate-related investment. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 was $1,312,220 compared to $914,300 that was used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2010. Net cash 
used in operating activities increased in 2011 primarily as a result of (i) in 2011 the Company sold two real estate investments; in 2010 the 
Company sold one real estate investment, (ii) in 2011 the Company recognized higher impairment charges as compared to 2010, (iii) in 2011 the 
Company recognized a loan loss provision on one Company real estate related investment; in 2010 the Company did not recognize any loan loss 
provisions, and (iv) a decrease in overall Company liabilities in 2011; in 2010 overall Company liabilities increased.  

   
      Cash From Investing Activities  

   
Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $4,083,523 compared to $759,383 that was provided by 

investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2010. Net cash provided by investing activities increased primarily as a result of (i) in 2011 
the Company sold two real estate investments; in 2010 the Company sold one real estate investment, offset by (ii) in 2011 the Company made a 
larger overall investment into real estate owned as compared to 2010.  
   

      Cash From Financing Activities  
   

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $2,781,992 compared to $39,974 that was provided by 
financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2010. Net cash used in financing activities decreased primarily as a result of (i) the 
Company made principal repayments on three secured notes payable in 2011, repaying two notes in full and making a partial principal pay down 
on a third secured note payable; in 2010 partial principal repayments were required in order to secure extensions on secured notes payable, (ii) 
the Company did not use restricted cash to secure letters of credit which were in turn used to secure bonds on a Company owned real estate 
investment in 2011; in 2010 the Company used restricted cash to secure letters of credit which were in turn used to secure bonds on a Company 
owed real estate investment, (iii) in 2011 the Company received funds from an affiliate of our Advisor and Sponsor as part of a real estate 
acquisition of which this affiliate is a joint venture partner with the Company; in 2010, the Company did not receive acquire any real estate 
investments utilizing joint venture partners, and (iv) in 2010, the Company obtained a new loan on an existing real estate investment; in 2011 the 
Company did not obtain any new loans on existing real estate investments.  
   

Our principal demands for cash will be for property acquisitions and the payment of our operating and administrative expenses, future debt 
service obligations and distributions to our stockholders. We intend to acquire properties with cash and mortgage or other debt, but we may 
acquire properties free and clear of permanent mortgage indebtedness by paying the entire purchase price for properties in cash.  
   

As of December 31, 2011, we have raised $18,434,750 in common stock sales including shares purchased by our Sponsor and have invested 
a majority of this cash in Company assets and operations, significantly reducing funds for future operating and administrative expenses and 
existing and future debt service obligations. Management is aware that in addition to the global and regional economic crisis affecting real estate 
in general, our current lack of liquidity can be reasonably anticipated to have a material impact on capital resources necessary for the entitlement 
of our properties.  

   
Our ability to finance our operations is subject to several uncertainties including those discussed above under “Market Conditions” and 

under “Risk Factors,” and accordingly, we cannot guarantee that we will have adequate cash from this offering or be able to generate adequate 
cash from other non-offering sources such as (i) sales of Company assets, (ii) securing appropriate longer-term debt, or (iii) funding via joint 
venture relationships with real estate private equity firms and hedge funds that have an interest in our investment space, in order to fund our 
operating and administrative expenses, any future debt service obligations and any future payment of distributions to our stockholders. Our 
ability to ultimately sell our real estate investments is partially dependent upon the condition of real estate markets at the time we are required or 
prepared to sell and the ability of purchasers to obtain financing at reasonable commercial rates.  
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Potential future sources of capital include secured and unsecured financings from banks or other lenders, establishing additional lines of 

credit, proceeds from the sale of properties and undistributed cash flow. Although we have identified potential non-conventional lending sources, 
discussions are in the preliminary stage only and there is no assurance that an agreement for financing will be reached. We have also not 
identified any additional sources of financing and there is no assurance that such sources of financings will be available on favorable terms or at 
all.  
   
Distributions  
   

We have not paid any distributions as of December 31, 2011. Our board of directors will determine the amount of distributions, if any, to be 
distributed to our stockholders. The board’s determination will be based on a number of factors, including funds available from operations, our 
capital expenditure requirements and the annual distribution requirements necessary to maintain our REIT status under the Internal Revenue 
Code. Because we expect that the majority of the properties we acquire will not generate any operating cash flow, the timing and amount of any 
dividends paid will be largely dependent upon the sale of acquired properties. Accordingly, it is uncertain as to when, if ever, dividends will be 
paid. Although a change in the REIT tax code related to safe harbor rules has been adopted reducing the safe harbor from four to two years, we 
have not changed our business strategy which is market driven. We will consider making a distribution to shareholders upon an asset sale but 
may choose instead to reinvest the proceeds rather than making a distribution. Our stockholders should have the expectation that no substantial 
income will be generated from our operations for some time.   

   
The Advisory Agreement  
   

The Advisor is responsible for overseeing the day to day operations of us and has the authority to carry out all our objectives and purposes. 
The Advisor has a fiduciary responsibility to us and to our stockholders in carrying out its duties under this Advisory Agreement. In providing 
advice and services hereunder, the Advisor shall not (i) engage in any activity which would require it to be registered as an “Investment 
Advisor,” as that term is defined in the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or in any state securities law or (ii) cause us to make such investments 
as would cause us to become an “Investment Company,” as that term is defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940.  
   

Our board of directors has the right to revoke the Advisor’s authority at any time. We shall pay the Advisor the following fees:  
   

Acquisition and Advisory Fees: 3% of, (i) with respect to any real estate asset acquired by us directly or indirectly other than a real estate 
related investment, the contract purchase price of the underlying property, and (ii) with respect to any real estate related investment acquired by 
us directly or indirectly, the contract purchase price of the underlying property.  

   
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company incurred $98,000 in acquisition and advisory fees earned by its Advisor. For the year 

ended December 31, 2010, the Company incurred $0 in acquisition and advisory fees earned by its Advisor.  
   

Debt Financing Fee: 1% of amount available under any loan or line of credit made available to us.  
   
Asset Management Fees: a monthly payment in an amount equal to one-twelfth of 2% of (i) the aggregate asset value for operating assets and 

(ii) the total contract price plus capitalized entitlement and project related costs for real estate assets held for less than or equal to one year by us, 
directly or indirectly, as of the last day of the preceding month other than a real estate-related investment and (iii) the appraised value as 
determined from time to time for real estate assets held for greater than one year by us, directly or indirectly, as of the last day of the preceding 
month other than a real estate-related investment and (iv) the appraised value of the underlying property, for any real estate-related investment 
held by us, directly or indirectly, as of the last day of the preceding month, in the case of subsection (iv) not to exceed one-twelfth of 2% of the 
funds advanced by us for the purchase of the real estate-related investment.  
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For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company incurred $370,696 in asset management fees earned by its Advisor. For the year ended 

December 31, 2010, the Company incurred $378,450 in asset management fees earned by its Advisor.  
   
Disposition Fees: equal to, (i) in the case of the sale of any real estate asset, other than real estate-related investments, the lesser of: (a) one-

half of the competitive real estate commission paid up to 3% of the contract price or, if none is paid, the amount that customarily would be paid, 
or (b) 3% of the contract purchase price of each real estate asset sold, and (ii) in the case of the sale of any real estate-related investments, 3% of 
the sales price of such real estate-related investments. A disposition fee payable under this section may be paid in addition to real estate 
commissions paid to non-affiliates, provided that the total real estate commissions (including such disposition fee) paid to all persons by us for 
each real estate asset, upon disposition thereof, shall not exceed an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 6% of the aggregate contract price of each 
real estate asset or (ii) the competitive real estate commission for each real estate asset. We will pay the disposition fees for a property at the time 
the property is sold.  

   
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company incurred $189,000 in disposition fees earned by its Advisor. For the year ended 

December 31, 2010, the Company incurred $66,953 in disposition fees earned by its Advisor.  
   

Subordinated Participation in Distributable Cash:    50% of remaining amounts of Distributable Cash after return of capital plus payment to 
stockholders of a 10% annual, cumulative, non-compounded return on capital. The Subordinated Participation in Distributable Cash shall be 
payable to the Advisor at the time or times that the Company determines that the Subordinated Participation in Distributable Cash has been 
earned by the Advisor.  

   
Subordinated Incentive Fee Due Upon Listing:    50% of the amount by which the market value of our common stock exceeds the aggregate 

capital contributed by stockholders plus payment to stockholders of a 10% annual, cumulative, non-compounded return on capital. Upon Listing, 
the Advisor shall be entitled to the Subordinated Incentive Fee Upon Listing. The Subordinated Incentive Fee Due Upon Listing shall be payable 
to the Advisor following twelve (12) months after Listing. We shall have the option to pay such fee in the form of cash, common stock, a 
promissory note with interest accrued as of the date of Listing, or any combination of the foregoing, as determined by the board of directors. In 
the event the Subordinated Incentive Fee Due Upon Listing is paid to the Advisor following Listing, the Advisor will not be entitled to receive 
any payments of Subordinated Performance Fee Upon Termination or Subordinated Participation in Distributable Cash following receipt of the 
Subordinated Incentive Fee Due Upon Listing.  

   
Subordinated Performance Fee Due Upon Termination :   a performance fee of 50% of the amount by which the greater of the market value 

of our outstanding common stock or real estate at the time of termination, plus total distributions paid to our stockholders, exceeds the aggregate 
capital contributed by stockholders plus payment to investors of a 10% annual, cumulative, non-compounded return on capital. Upon termination 
of this Advisory Agreement, the Advisor shall be entitled to the Subordinated Performance Fee Due Upon Termination.  

   
Investment Objectives  
   

A discussion of our Investment Objectives is set forth in Item 1 - Business.  
   
A discussion of the real estate and real estate-related investments executed by us as of December 31, 2011 is set forth in Item 2 – Properties.  
   

Critical Accounting Policies  
   

As defined by the SEC, our critical accounting policies will be those which are both important to the portrayal of our financial condition and 
results of operations, and which require management’s most difficult, subjective, and/or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to 
make significant estimates and assumptions about the future effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Such estimates and assumptions will 
be made and evaluated on an on-going basis using information that is currently available as well as various other assumptions believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. An accounting estimate requires assumptions about uncertain matters that could have a material effect on 
the consolidated financial statements if a different amount within a range of estimates were used or if estimates changed from period-to-period. 
Estimates are made under facts and circumstances at a point in time, and changes in those facts and circumstances could produce actual results 
that differ from when those estimates were made, perhaps in material adverse ways. We anticipate that our critical accounting policies will 
include those which are described immediately below.  
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Use of Estimates  

   
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the 

reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates will 
be made and evaluated on an on-going basis, using information that is currently available as well as applicable assumptions believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may vary from those estimates; in addition, such estimates could be different under other 
conditions and/or if we use alternative assumptions.  
   

Principles of Consolidation  
   

Since the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Shopoff General Partner, LLC, is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and 
has unilateral control over its management and major operating decisions (even if additional limited partners are admitted to the Operating 
Partnership), the accounts of the Operating Partnership are consolidated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The accounts of 
Shopoff General Partner, LLC are also consolidated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since it is wholly owned by the 
Company. Additionally, SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, SPT-SWRC, LLC, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, SPT AZ Land Holdings, 
LLC, SPT – Chino Hills, LLC and Shopoff TRS, Inc. are also 100% owned by the Operating Partnership and therefore their accounts are 
consolidated in the Company’s financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010.  

   
Although not wholly owned, since the Company’s Operating Partnership is the manager of and has control over the management and major 

operating decisions of SPT – Vantage Point, LLC, the accounts of SPT – Vantage Point, LLC are consolidated in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011.  
   

All intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.  
   

Cash and Cash Equivalents  
   

The Company considers all highly liquid short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash 
equivalents.  

   
Revenue and Profit Recognition  

   
It is the Company’s policy to recognize gains on the sale of investment properties. In order to qualify for immediate recognition of revenue 

on the transaction date, the Company requires that the sale be consummated, the buyer’s initial and continuing investment be adequate to 
demonstrate a commitment to pay, any receivable resulting from seller financing not be subject to future subordination, and that the usual risks 
and rewards of ownership be transferred to the buyer. We would expect these criteria to be met at the close of escrow. The Company’s policy 
also requires that the seller not have any substantial continuing involvement with the property. If we have a commitment to the buyer in a 
specific dollar amount, such commitment will be accrued and the recognized gain on the sale will be reduced accordingly.  
   

Transactions with unrelated parties which in substance are sales but which do not meet the criteria described in the preceding paragraph will 
be accounted for using the appropriate method (such as the installment, deposit, or cost recovery method) as set forth in the Company’s policy. 
Any disposition of a real estate asset which in substance is not deemed to be a “sale” for accounting purposes will be reported as a financing, 
leasing, or profit-sharing arrangement as considered appropriate under the circumstances of the specific transaction.  
   

For income-producing properties, we intend to recognize base rental income on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective lease 
agreements (including any rent holidays). Differences between recognized rental income and amounts contractually due under the lease 
agreements will be credited or charged (as applicable) to rent receivable. Tenant reimbursement revenue, which is expected to be comprised of 
additional amounts recoverable from tenants for common area maintenance expenses and certain other expenses, will be recognized as revenue 
in the period in which the related expenses are incurred.  
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Interest income on the Company’s real estate notes receivable is recognized on an accrual basis over the life of the investment using the 

effective interest method. Direct loan origination fees and origination or acquisition costs are amortized over the term of the loan as an 
adjustment to interest income. The Company will place loans on nonaccrual status when concern exists as to the ultimate collection of principal 
or interest. When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, the Company will reserve the accrual for unpaid interest and will not recognize 
subsequent interest income until the cash is received, or the loan returns to accrual status.  
   

We believe that the accounting policy related to revenue recognition is a critical accounting policy because of the significant impact revenue 
recognition will have on our consolidated financial statements.  

   
Cost of Real Estate Assets Not Held for Sale  

   
Real estate assets principally consist of wholly-owned undeveloped real estate for which we obtain entitlements and hold such assets as long 

term investments for eventual sale. Undeveloped real estate not held for sale will be carried at cost subject to downward adjustment as described 
in “Impairment” below. Cost will include the purchase price of the land, related acquisition fees, as well as costs related to entitlement, property 
taxes and interest. In addition, any significant other costs directly related to acquisition and development of the land will be capitalized. The 
carrying amount of land will be charged to earnings when the related revenue is recognized.  
   

Income-producing properties will generally be carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost of income-producing 
properties will include the purchase price of the land and buildings and related improvements. Expenditures that increase the service life of such 
properties will be capitalized; the cost of maintenance and repairs will be charged to expense as incurred. The cost of building and improvements 
will be depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which are expected to principally range from approximately 15 to 39 
years. When depreciable property is retired or disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation will be removed from the accounts and 
any gain or loss will be reflected in operations.  
   

The costs related to abandoned projects are expensed when management believes that such projects are no longer viable investments.  
   
Property Held for Sale  

   
The Company has a policy for property held for sale. Our policy, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or 

disposal of long-lived assets, requires that in a period in which a component of an entity either has been disposed of or is classified as held for 
sale, the income statements for current and prior periods report the results of operations of the component as discontinued operations.  
   

When a property is held for sale, such property will be carried at the lower of (i) its carrying amount or (ii) the estimated fair value less costs 
to sell. In addition, a depreciable property being held for sale (such as a building) will cease to be depreciated. We will classify operating 
properties as held for sale in the period in which all of the following criteria are met:  

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

• Management, having the authority to approve the action, commits to a plan to sell the asset; 

• The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition, subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such 
asset; 

• An active program to locate a buyer and other actions required to complete the plan to sell the asset has been initiated; 

• The sale of the asset is probable, and the transfer of the asset is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed transaction within 
one year; 

• The asset is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current estimated fair value; and 
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Selling commissions and closing costs will be expensed when incurred.  
   

We believe that the accounting related to property valuation and impairment is a critical accounting estimate because: (1) assumptions 
inherent in the valuation of our property are highly subjective and susceptible to change and (2) the impact of recognizing impairments on our 
property could be material to our consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations. We will evaluate our property for impairment 
periodically on an asset-by-asset basis. This evaluation includes three critical assumptions with regard to future sales prices, cost of sales and 
absorption. The three critical assumptions include the timing of the sale, the land residual value and the discount rate applied to determine the 
fair value of the income-producing properties on the balance sheet date. Our assumptions on the timing of sales are critical because the real 
estate industry has historically been cyclical and sensitive to changes in economic conditions such as interest rates and unemployment levels. 
Changes in these economic conditions could materially affect the projected sales price, costs to acquire and entitle our land and cost to acquire 
our income-producing properties. Our assumptions on land residual value are critical because they will affect our estimate of what a willing 
buyer would pay and what a willing seller would sell a parcel of land for (other than in a forced liquidation) in order to generate a market rate 
operating margin and return. Our assumption on discount rates is critical because the selection of a discount rate affects the estimated fair value 
of the income-producing properties. A higher discount rate reduces the estimated fair value of such properties, while a lower discount rate 
increases the estimated fair value of these properties. Because of changes in economic and market conditions and assumptions and estimates 
required of management in valuing property held for investment during these changing market conditions, actual results could differ materially 
from management’s assumptions and may require material property impairment charges to be recorded in the future.  
   

Long-Lived Assets  
   

The Company has a policy for property held for investment. Our policy requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If the cost basis of a long-lived asset held for use 
is greater than the projected future undiscounted net cash flows from such asset (excluding interest), an impairment loss is recognized. 
Impairment losses are calculated as the difference between the cost basis of an asset and its estimated fair value.  

   
The Company recognized impairment charges in the aggregate amount of $1,500,000 on two existing Company investments during the year 

ended December 31, 2011. These two existing Company investments are known as the Desert Moon Estates Property and the Tuscany Crest / 
Tuscany Valley Project (the Tuscany Crest / Tuscany Valley Project being part of a larger original purchase known as the Tuscany Valley 
properties). The Desert Moon Estates Property recognized an impairment charge of $500,000 and the Tuscany Crest / Tuscany Valley Project 
recognized an impairment charge of $1,000,000.  

   
The Company recognized impairment charges in the aggregate amount of $1,000,000 on three real estate investments for the year ended 

December 31, 2010. These three existing Company investments are known as the Desert Moon Estates Property, the Tuscany West Project, and 
the Commercial Project (the Tuscany West Project and the Commercial Project being part of a larger original purchase known as the Tuscany 
Valley properties). The Desert Moon Estates Property recognized an impairment charge of $397,000, the Tuscany West Project recognized an 
impairment charge of $335,000, and the Commercial Project recognized an impairment charge of $268,000.  

   
Our policy also requires us to separately report discontinued operations and extends that reporting to a component of an entity that either has 

been disposed of (by sale, abandonment, or in a distribution to shareholders) or is classified as held for sale. Assets to be disposed of are reported 
at the lower of the carrying amount or estimated fair value less costs to sell.  
   

Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Certain Other Assets/Liabilities  
   

The Company’s financial instruments include cash, notes and accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities and notes and interest payable. Management believes that the fair value of these financial instruments approximates their carrying 
amounts based on current market indicators, such as prevailing interest rates and the short-term maturities of such financial instruments.  
   

  

• Given the actions required to complete the plan to sell the asset, it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan would be made or that 
the plan would be abandoned. 
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Management has concluded that it is not practical to estimate the fair value of amounts due to and from related parties. The Company’s 

policy requires, where reasonable, that information pertinent to those financial instruments be disclosed, such as the carrying amount, interest 
rate, and maturity date; such information is included in Note 7 of the notes to consolidated financial statements.  

   
Management believes it is not practical to estimate the fair value of related party financial instruments because the transactions cannot be 

assumed to have been consummated at arm’s length, there are no quoted market values available for such instruments, and an independent 
valuation would not be practicable due to the lack of data regarding similar instruments (if any) and the associated potential cost.  
   

The Company does not have any assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (except as disclosed in Note 2 of the 
notes to consolidated financial statements) and, as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, did not have any assets or liabilities that were 
measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis except as described in the long-lived assets above.  
   

When the Company has a loan that is identified as being impaired or being reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance with Company policy and is collateral dependent, it is 
evaluated for impairment by comparing the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral, less costs to sell, to the carrying value of the loan.  

   
The Company’s policy establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers 

include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical financial instruments in active markets; Level 2, defined as 
inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as instruments that have 
little to no pricing observability as of the reported date. These financial instruments do not have two-way markets and are measured using 
management’s best estimate of fair value, where the inputs into the determination of fair value require significant management judgment or 
estimation.  
   

The Company’s policy also discusses determining fair value when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability has significantly 
decreased, and identifying transactions that are not orderly. Company policy emphasizes that even if there has been a significant decrease in the 
volume and level of activity for an asset or liability and regardless of the valuation technique(s) used, the objective of a fair value measurement 
remains the same. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction (that is, 
not a forced liquidation or distressed sale) between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. Furthermore, 
Company policy requires additional disclosures regarding the inputs and valuation technique(s) used in estimating the fair value of assets and 
liabilities as well as any changes in such valuation technique(s).  
   

Notes Receivable  
   

The Company’s notes receivable are recorded at cost, net of loan loss reserves, and evaluated for impairment at each balance sheet. The 
amortized cost of a note receivable is the outstanding unpaid principal balance, net of unamortized costs and fees directly associated with the 
origination or acquisition of the loan.  
   

The Company considers a loan to be impaired when, based upon current information and events, it believes that it is probable that the 
Company will be unable to collect all amounts due under the contractual terms of the loan agreement. A reserve is established when the present 
value of payments expected to be received, observable market prices, or the estimated fair value of the collateral (for loans that are dependent on 
the collateral for repayment) of an impaired loan is lower than the carrying value of that loan.  

   
The Company recognized a loan loss provision of $356,796 during the year ended December 31, 2011. This note receivable is known as 

Mesquite Venture I, LLC. See Note 3 in the notes to consolidated financial statements for additional information.  
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Organization and Offering Costs  

   
The Company’s organization and offering costs were permitted to be paid by the Company’s Advisor, broker-dealer and their affiliates on 

the Company’s behalf. These organization and offering costs included all expenses to be paid by us in connection with the Company’s initial 
public offering, including but not limited to (i) legal, accounting, printing, mailing, and filing fees; (ii) charges of the escrow holder; (iii) 
reimbursement of the broker-dealer for amounts it may pay to reimburse the bona fide diligence expenses of other broker-dealers and registered 
investment advisors; (iv) reimbursement to the advisor for other costs in connection with preparing supplemental sales materials; (v) the cost of 
educational conferences held by us (including the travel, meal, and lodging costs of registered representatives of broker-dealers); and (vi) 
reimbursement to the broker-dealer for travel, meals, lodging, and attendance fees incurred by employees of the broker-dealer to attend retail 
seminars conducted by broker-dealers.  

   
Potential Investments in Partnerships and Joint Ventures.  

   
If we invest in limited partnerships, general partnerships, or other joint ventures we will evaluate such investments for potential variable 

interests pursuant to Company policy. We will evaluate variable interest entities (VIEs) in which we hold a beneficial interest for consolidation. 
VIEs, as defined by Company policy, are legal entities with insubstantial equity, whose equity investors lack the ability to make decisions about 
the entity’s activities, or whose equity investors do not have the right to receive the residual returns of the entity if they occur. An entity will be 
considered a VIE if one of the following applies:  
   

   

   

   

   

   
An equity investment of less than 10% of total assets generally should be considered to be insufficient to fund the entity’s operations unless 

there is clear evidence to the contrary, such as evidence that it can get financing for its activities without additional subordinated financial 
support.  
   

If the Company is the interest holder that will absorb a majority of the VIE’s expected losses and/or receive a majority of the VIE’s expected 
residual returns, we will be deemed to be the primary beneficiary and must consolidate the VIE. Management will use its judgment when 
determining if we are the primary beneficiary of, or have a controlling interest in, an unconsolidated entity. Factors considered in determining 
whether we have significant influence or we have control include risk and reward sharing, experience and financial condition of the other 
partners, voting rights, involvement in day-to-day capital and operating decisions and continuing involvement. In the primary beneficiary 
decision, it is important to realize that a holder which will absorb the majority of losses takes precedence over any other interest holder. The 
determination of which enterprise (if any) is the primary beneficiary would be made as of the date the company first becomes involved with the 
VIE, unless events requiring reconsideration of the status of the entity’s variable interest holders have occurred.  
   

Investments in companies that are not consolidated will be accounted for using the equity method when we have the ability to exert 
significant influence. Generally, significant influence will exist if we have the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and 
financial policies of an investee, which may need to include the ability to significantly influence the outcome of corporate actions requiring 
shareholder approval of an investee. Significant influence is generally presumed to be achieved by owning 20% or more of the voting stock of 
the investee. However, we will be required to evaluate all of the facts and circumstances relating to the investment to determine whether there is 
predominant evidence contradicting our ability to exercise significant influence, such as the inability by us to obtain financial information from 
the investee. Under this method, an investee company’s accounts are not reflected within the Company’s consolidated balance sheet and 
statement of operation; however, the Company’s share of the earnings or losses of the investee company will be reflected in the caption “Equity 
in net earning of unconsolidated subsidiaries” in the Company’s statement of operations. The Company’s carrying value in an equity method 
investee company will be reflected in the caption “Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries” in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.  

   

  

• The total equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated 
financial support from other parties (i.e., the equity investment at risk is not greater than the expected losses of the entity). 

• As a group the holders of the equity investment at risk lack any one of the following three characteristics of a controlling financial 
interest: 

• The direct or indirect ability to make decisions about an entity’s activities through voting rights or similar rights. 

• The obligation to absorb the expected losses of the entity if they occur. 

• The right to receive the expected residual returns of the entity if they occur. 

58 



   
Investments in companies in which we cannot exert significant influence will be accounted for under the cost method. Under this method, 

the Company’s share of the earnings or losses of such investee companies will not be included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet or 
statement of operations.  
   

The accounting policy relating to the need to consolidate or to account for such investments or acquisitions using the equity method of 
accounting is a critical accounting policy due to the judgment required in determining whether we are the primary beneficiary or have control or 
significant influence.  

   
Income Taxes  

   
The Company intends to make an election to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended, 

or the Code, beginning with the taxable year ending December 31, 2012. The Company has not yet qualified as a REIT. To qualify as a REIT, 
the Company must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to currently distribute at least 90% of 
ordinary taxable income to stockholders. As a REIT, the Company generally will not be subject to federal income tax on taxable income that it 
distributes to its stockholders. If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any year, it will be subject to federal income taxes on taxable income 
at regular corporate rates and will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax purposes for four years following 
the year during which qualification is lost unless the Internal Revenue Service grants the Company relief under certain statutory provisions. Such 
an event could materially adversely affect the Company’s net income and net cash available for distribution to stockholders. The Company is 
currently being taxed as a C Corporation.  

   
The Company’s computed effective tax rate was negative for the year ended December 31, 2011 and the Company recorded an income tax 

expense of approximately $9,000. The Company’s effective rate differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate primarily due to the deferred tax 
asset valuation position on federal net operating losses (“NOL”), state tax that restricts the use of state net operating losses, and federal and state 
alternative minimum tax effects.  

   
At December 31, 2011, the Company had a federal NOL carry-forward of approximately $445,000 and a state NOL carry-forward of 

approximately $1,260,000. A portion of the carryfowards may expire before being applied to reduce future income tax liabilities.  
   
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the 

deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income 
during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the amount and timing of scheduled 
reversals of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable income over the periods for which the deferred tax assets are deductible. 
Although management believes the Company will be profitable in the foreseeable future, based upon the Company’s history of continuing 
operating losses, realization of its deferred tax assets does not meet the more likely than not criteria under ASC 740 and, accordingly, a valuation 
allowance for the entire deferred tax asset amount has been recorded.  

   
As of December 31, 2011, based on the weight of available evidence, including cumulative losses in recent years, realization of deferred tax 

assets does not appear more likely than not. Therefore a full valuation allowance will continue to be applied against net deferred tax assets.  
   
As of December 31, 2011, the Company had not recorded any unrecognized tax benefit. The Company does not expect the unrecognized tax 

benefit will change significantly within the next 12 months. There have been no material changes to the unrecognized tax benefit during the year 
ended December 31, 2011.  

   
Stock-Based Compensation  

   
Stock-based compensation will be accounted for in accordance with Company policy which requires that the compensation costs relating to 

share-based payment transactions (including the cost of all employee stock options) be recognized in the consolidated financial statements. That 
cost will be measured based on the estimated fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. Our Company policy covers a wide range of 
share-based compensation arrangements including share options, restricted share plans, performance-based awards, share appreciation rights, 
and employee share purchase plans.  
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Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements  

   
The Company classifies noncontrolling interests as part of consolidated net earnings ($(15,775) for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 

$0 for the year ended December 31, 2010) and includes the accumulated amount of noncontrolling interests as part of stockholders’ equity 
($410,749 at December 31, 2011 and $100 at December 31, 2010). Earnings per share reflects amounts attributable only to the Company. 
Similarly, in the presentation of shareholders’ equity, the Company distinguishes between equity amounts attributable to the Company’s 
stockholders and amounts attributable to the noncontrolling interests. Increases and decreases in the Company’s controlling financial interests in 
consolidated subsidiaries will be reported in equity similar to treasury stock transactions. If a change in ownership of a consolidated subsidiary 
results in loss of control and deconsolidation, any retained ownership interests are remeasured with the gain or loss reported in net earnings.  
   

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements  
   

On May 12, 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to 
Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs (“ASU No. 2011-04”). ASU No. 2011-04 
updated accounting guidance does not require additional fair value measurements, but rather, requires additional disclosures while providing 
further explanation for measuring fair value and converging with international accounting standards. The amendments are effective for public 
entities for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011, and should be applied prospectively. As this ASU amends only the 
disclosure requirements, the adoption of ASU No. 2011-04 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.  

   
Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB (including its Emerging Issues Task Force), the AICPA, and the SEC did not or 

are not believed by management to have a material impact on our present or future consolidated financial statements.  
   

Subsequent Events  
   

Note Receivable  
   

On April 4, 2012, one of the original guarantors of the secured note to Mesquite Ventures I, LLC, filed personal bankruptcy to avoid a 
pending foreclosure. Previously, this same guarantor had placed a related business entity into bankruptcy to avoid a similar foreclosure action. 
The Company was notified of the personal bankruptcy filing by this guarantor. Management has commenced discussions with Company legal 
counsel regarding this recent bankruptcy filing and its impact on the Company’s continued collection efforts on the Mesquite Ventures I, LLC 
secured note. Management does not believe that additional impairment of the note is required as (i) the guarantor’s personal bankruptcy does not 
impact the collateral securing the note (ii) there are three guarantors on this note in addition to the guarantor who filed personal bankruptcy that 
the Company can look to for payment, and (iii) the guarantor who filed personal bankruptcy has indicated to management that he is currently 
working on multiple funding solutions in order to payoff this note.  
     

Desert Moon Estates Property  
   

On February 13, 2012, the Company received a Notice of Potential Sale of Real Estate for Delinquent Special Assessment (or “Notice”) from 
the Watson Road Community Facilities District. This Notice was received when the Company failed to pay a required special assessment when 
due on December 1, 2011. Management paid this past due special assessment on February 17, 2012 and the City of Buckeye subsequently 
informed management that the Desert Moon Estates Property was in current status.  

   
Note Payable  
   

On February 17, 2012, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC (“Borrower”), a Delaware limited liability company and wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company’s affiliate, Shopoff Partners, L.P., closed a secured loan from Cardinal Investment Properties – Ramsgate, L.P. 
(“Lender”). The loan amount was $800,000 and was made pursuant to a loan agreement between Borrower and Lender dated February 15, 2012 
(the “Loan”).  
   

The Loan bears interest at a rate of twelve percent per annum, and has a maturity date in twelve months at which time all accrued and unpaid 
interest and principal is due in full. Interest is due and payable quarterly, commencing on the date that is one month after the disbursement date 
and continuing thereafter. A service fee of five percent of the Loan amount, or $40,000, was deemed earned upon the funding of the Loan and 
was paid to Lender at the time of the disbursement of funds to Borrower. Borrower may extend the Loan for up to one additional period of six 
months, provided (i) Borrower is not in default at the time of the extension, (ii) Borrower gives written notice to Lender of its intent to extend no 
less than ten days prior to the then-current maturity date, (iii) Borrower makes payment to Lender of a two percent Loan Extension Fee, based on 
the then-outstanding Loan balance, and (iv) Borrower makes payment to Lender of any unpaid interest accrued under the Loan. Interest accruing 
under the Loan during an extension period shall be paid monthly in arrears. The Loan may be prepaid in whole or in part without penalty before 
the maturity date. However, in no event shall the total cumulative interest payable with respect to the loan be less than $72,000, regardless of 
when the Loan is paid.  
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The Loan is secured by a deed of trust with assignment of rents in favor of Lender on the remaining property originally purchased by the 

Company on November 5, 2009, referred to as Tuscany Valley. The Tuscany Valley properties are comprised of three hundred fifty-five entitled 
but unimproved residential lots and 2 commercial lots located in the City of Lake Elsinore, California. Borrower has agreed to indemnify and 
hold harmless Lender from and against any and all indemnified costs directly or indirectly arising out of or resulting from any hazardous 
substance being present or released in, on or around, or potentially affecting, any part of the property securing the loan.  

   
The Loan is subject to a limited recourse guaranty in favor of Lender executed by William A. Shopoff, the Company’s President and Chief 

Executive Officer, as an individual guarantor.  
   
If Borrower fails to make any payment when required under the promissory note, Lender has the option to immediately declare all sums due 

and owing under the promissory note.  
   
Borrower plans to use the proceeds from this Loan (i) to pay a delinquent special assessment from the Watson Road Community Facilities 

District, payable to the Town of Buckeye in Arizona, in the approximate amount of $136,000 (ii) to make a $70,000 settlement payment to 
attorneys representing claimants in an arbitration matter involving a prior property owned by an affiliated entity of the Company, (iii) for 
payment of certain other outstanding liabilities of the Company, and (iv) reserves for certain projected future Company liabilities.  

   
Other – Estimated Value Per Share  
   

On February 20, 2012, the Company’s board of directors approved a basic estimated value per share of the Company’s common stock of 
$6.56 and a fully diluted estimated value per share of the Company’s common stock of $6.24 based on an equal weighted average of (i) the 
estimated value of the Company’s assets less the estimated value of the Company’s liabilities, or adjusted net asset value method, and (ii) the 
present value of future expected income of the Company, discounted for risk, or discounted cash flow method, divided by the actual number of 
shares outstanding for the basic estimated value per share and anticipated number of shares outstanding for the fully diluted estimated value per 
share, all as of December 31, 2011. The Company provided this estimated value per share to assist broker dealers that participated in the 
Company’s initial public offering in meeting their customer account statement reporting obligations under the National Association of Securities 
Dealers Conduct Rule 2340 as required by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”).  

   
ITEM 7A.   QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES  ABOUT MARKET RISK  

   
Market risk includes risks that arise from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices and 

other market changes that affect market sensitive instruments. In pursuing our business plan, we expect that the primary market risk to which we 
will be exposed is interest rate risk.  
   

We may be exposed to the effects of interest rate changes primarily as a result of borrowings used to maintain liquidity and fund expansion 
and refinancing of our real estate investment portfolio and operations. Our interest rate risk management objectives will be to limit the impact of 
interest rate changes on earnings, prepayment penalties and cash flows and to lower overall borrowing costs while taking into account variable 
interest rate risk. To achieve our objectives, we may borrow at fixed rates or variable rates. We currently have limited exposure to financial 
market risks because of the current stage of our operations. We currently invest our cash and cash equivalents in an FDIC-insured savings 
account which, by its nature, is subject to interest rate fluctuations. As of December 31, 2011, a 10% increase or decrease in interest rates would 
have no material effect on our interest income.  
   

In addition to changes in interest rates, the value of our real estate and real estate related investments is subject to fluctuations based on 
changes in local and regional economic conditions and changes in the creditworthiness of lessees, and which may affect our ability to refinance 
our debt if necessary.  
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ITEM 8.   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DA TA  

   
See the Index to Financial Statements at page F-1 of this report.  

   
ITEM 9.   CHANGES AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANT S ON ACCOUNTING FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

   
None.  

   
ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  
   
Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
   

We carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of December 31, 2011. This evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the 
participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2011, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.  
   

There have been no significant changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2011 that 
have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect such controls.  
   

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in 
our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act are recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the 
SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that 
information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including 
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  

   
This annual report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm 

regarding our internal control over financial reporting as such report is not required for non-accelerated filers such as the Company pursuant to 
certain federal legislation enacted in July 2010.  

   
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Internal Controls  
   

Our management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will necessarily 
prevent all fraud and material error. An internal control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not 
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are 
resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control 
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have 
been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur 
because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or 
more people, or by management override of the internal control. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain 
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under 
all potential future conditions. Over time, control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
   
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

   
The Company will continue to review its disclosure controls and procedures, including its internal controls over financial reporting, and may 

from time to time make changes aimed at enhancing their effectiveness and to ensure that the Company’s systems evolve with its business.  
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Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
   

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) and includes those policies and procedures that:  
   

   
Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance and may 

not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of changes in conditions, effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting may 
vary over time. Our system contains self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified.  
   

Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the system of internal control over financial reporting based on the 
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 
Based on this evaluation, our management concluded that our system of internal control over financial reporting was effective as of 
December 31, 2011.  
   

This report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial 
reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission that permit us as a smaller reporting company, to provide only management’s report in this annual report.  
   
ITEM 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION  
   

None.  
   

PART III  
   
ITEM 10.   DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORA TE GOVERNANCE  

   
Except as hereinafter noted, the information concerning directors and executive officers of the Company and our audit committee financial 

expert is (i) incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Discussion of Proposals recommended by the Board — Proposal 1: Election of 
Directors” of our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after the end of the last fiscal year or (ii) will be included in an 
amendment to this report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on Form 10-K/A not later than the end of such 120 day period.  

   
Code of Conduct  
   

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct And Ethics, which applies to our directors, principal executive officer, 
principal financial officer, our other executive officers, and all employees who perform these functions. A copy of the Code Business Conduct 
And Ethics is available to any person without charge by submitting a request to our Chief Financial Officer at 2 Park Plaza Suite 700, Irvine, 
California 92614. If we amend our Code of Business Conduct And Ethics as it applies to the directors, principal executive officer, principal 
financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller (or persons performing similar functions) or grant a waiver from any provision of the 
Code of Business Conduct And Ethics to any such person, we will disclose such amendment or waiver on our website at 
www.shopoffpropertiestrust.com .  

   

  

• pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company; 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management 
and directors of the company; and 

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on its financial statements. 
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

   
Information concerning management remuneration and transactions is (i) incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Election of 

Directors” and “Executive Compensation” of our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after the end of the last fiscal year, or 
(ii) will be included in an amendment to this report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on Form 10-K/A not later than the end of such 120 day 
period.  

   
ITEM 12.   SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL  OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  
   

The following table summarizes information, as of December 31, 2011, relating to our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan pursuant to which grants of 
options, restricted stock, or other rights to acquire shares may be granted from time to time.  

   
Equity Compensation Plan Information    

   
Information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is (i) incorporated by reference from the sections 

entitled “Stock Ownership” of our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after the end of the last fiscal year or (ii) will be 
included in an amendment to this report on From 10-K filed with the SEC on Form 10-K/A not later than the end of such 120 day period.  

   
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE  
   

Information concerning certain relationships and related transactions with management and others and information regarding director 
independence is (i) incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Executive Compensation — Certain Relationships and Related 
Transactions” of our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after the end of the last fiscal year or (ii) will be included in an 
amendment to this report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on Form 10-K/A not later than the end of such 120 day period.  

   
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES  
   

Information concerning principal accounting fees and services is (i) incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Ratification of 
Appointment of Independent Public Accountants” of our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after the end of the last fiscal 
year or (ii) will be included in an amendment to this report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on Form 10-K/A not later than the end of such 120 
day period.  

     

  

                Number of Securities   
                Remaining Available for   
    Number of Securities to     Weighted-average     Future Issuance Under   
    be Issued Upon Exercise     Exercise Price of     Equity Compensation Plans   
    of Outstanding Options,     Outstanding Options,     ( excluding securities   
Plan Category   Warrants and Rights (a)     Warrants and Rights (b)     reflected in column (a)) ( c )   
                  

Equity compensation plans approved by  security holders     1,655,000     $ $9.50       1,357,500   
Equity compensation plans not approved by security 
holders     —      —      —  
Total     1,655,000     $ $9.50       1,357,500   
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PART IV  

   
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES  
   
The following documents are filed as part of this report:  
   
1.      Financial Statements  
   

   
2.      Financial Statement Schedules  
   
All schedules have been omitted as the required information is either not material, inapplicable or the information is presented in the financial 
statements or related notes.  
   
3.      Exhibits  
   

   

  

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm   F-2 
      
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010   F-3 
      
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010   F-4 
      
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’  Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010   F-5 
      
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010   F-6 
      
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements   F-7 

Exhibit  
Number  

  
Exhibit 

      
1.1   Broker-Dealer Agreement between Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. and Shopoff Securities, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 1.1 on August 16, 

2007 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Registration No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein 
by reference). 

      
3.1   Charter of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.1 on November 30, 2006 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Registration Statement on 

Form S-11(Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

3.2   Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
3.3   Bylaws of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.2 on November 30, 2006 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Registration Statement on 

Form S-11(Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

3.4   Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.4 on June 22, 2007 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-11(Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
3.5   Agreement of Limited Partnership of Shopoff Partners (filed as Exhibit 3.5 on June 6, 2007 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s 

Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

3.6   Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.3 on May 1, 2009 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Post Effective 
Amendment No. 3 (Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
4.1   Form of Registrant’s Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.1 on March 30, 2007 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s 

Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.1   2007 Equity Incentive Plan  (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-152782) on August 5, 
2008 and incorporated herein by reference). + 

      
10.2   Advisory Agreement between Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc., Shopoff Partners, L.P. and Shopoff Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 

10.2 on August 16, 2007 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Registration Statement on Form S-11(Reg. No. 333-139042) and 
incorporated herein by reference). 
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Exhibit  
Number  

  
Exhibit 

      
10.3   Amendment to Advisory Agreement, dated January 21, 2009, by and among Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc., Shopoff Partners, L.P. 

and Shopoff Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.4 on January 22, 2009 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Post-Effective Amendment 
No. 2 (Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.5   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Escrow Instructions by and between SPT-SWRC, LLC and Pulte Home Corporation, dated 

December 23, 2008 and amendments thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current Report on Form 8-K on 
January 7, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.6   Assignment and Assumption Agreement by and between SPT-SWRC, LLC and Pulte Home Corporation, dated December 30, 

2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 7, 2009 and incorporated herein 
by reference). 

      
10.7   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and Shopoff Advisors, L.P., 

dated September 30, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.8   Amendment to Purchase and Sale and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and Shopoff Advisors, 

L.P., dated December 30, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 7, 
2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.9   Collateral Assignment and Pledge of Note, Deed of Trust and Loan Documents made as of January 9, 2009, by Aware 

Development Company, Inc. in favor of SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC securing Promissory Note in the amount of $414,000 
dated January 9, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 15, 2009 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.10   Collateral Assignment and Pledge of Note, Deed of Trust and Loan Documents made as of January 9, 2009, by Aware 

Development Company, Inc. in favor of SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC securing Promissory Note in the amount of $1,886,000 
dated January 9, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 15, 2009 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.11   Promissory Note in the amount of $1,886,000, dated January 9, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current 

Report on Form 8-K on January 15, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.12   Promissory Note in the amount of $414,000, dated January 9, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K on January 15, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.13   Amendment to Purchase and Sale and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and Shopoff Advisors, 

L.P., dated January 13, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 (Registration No. 333-139042) on January 
22, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.14   Amendment to Purchase and Sale and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and Shopoff Advisors, 

L.P., dated January 27, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on March 4, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference).  
   

10.15   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Escrow Instructions by and between SPT-SWRC, LLC and Khalda Development, Inc., dated 
February 27, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on March 26, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.16   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between SPT Lake Elsinore Holding Co. and MS Rialto 

Wasson Canyon CA, LLC, dated April 17, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on April 23, 2009 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.17   Agreement of Purchase and Sale and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between SPT Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and U.S. 

Bank National Association, dated May 13, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on May 21, 2009 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
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Exhibit  
Number  

  
Exhibit 

      
10.18   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions, dated June 29, 2009, by and between SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC 

and AZPro Development, Inc (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on August 5, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.19   First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC 
and AZPro Development, Inc., dated July 28, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on August 5, 2009 and incorporated herein 
by reference). 

      
10.20   Memorandum of Assignment of Note, Deed of Trust and Loan Documents, dated August 24, 2009, by and between Aware 

Development Company, Inc. and SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC related to the promissory note in the original principal amount of 
$5,187,000 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on September 11, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.21   Memorandum of Assignment of Note, Deed of Trust and Loan Documents, dated August 24, 2009, by and between Aware 

Development Company, Inc. and SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC related to the promissory note in the original principal amount of 
$1,072,000 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on September 11, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.22   Settlement Agreement, dated September 3, 2009, by and between Springbrook Investments, L.P, and SPT Real Estate Finance, 

LLC related to the promissory note in the original principal amount of $5,187,000 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K on 
September 11, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.23   Settlement Agreement, dated September 3, 2009, by and between Springbrook Investments, L.P, and SPT Real Estate Finance, 

LLC related to the promissory note in the original principal amount of $1,072,000 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K on 
September 11, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.24   Assignment of Purchase and Sale Agreement between Shopoff Advisors and SPT- Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC dated 

September 3, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on November 12, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.25   First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and SPT-Lake 
Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and dated September 3, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K on November 12, 2009 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.26   Second Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and SPT-

Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and dated October 15, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K on November 12, 2009 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.27   Restated Second Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and 

SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and dated October 15, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 8-K on November 12, 2009 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.28   All-Inclusive Purchase Money Note Secured By Deed of Trust between SPT- Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and TSG Little 

Valley, L.P. and dated November 6, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 8-K on November 12, 2009 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.29   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and D. R. Horton 

Los Angeles Holding Company, Inc., dated December 8, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on February 9, 2010 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.30   First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC 

and D. R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company, Inc., dated January 20, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on February 9, 
2010 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.31   Participation Agreement between SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and D. R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company, Inc., 

dated February 3, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K on February 9, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference).   
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Exhibit  
Number  

  
Exhibit 

      
10.32   Loan Agreement, dated August 30, 2010, by and between SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company, and Cardinal Investment Properties-Underwood, L.P., a California limited partnership (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-
K on September 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.33   Promissory Note Secured By Deed Of Trust between SPT- Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and Cardinal Investment Properties – 

Underwood, L.P. and dated August 30, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on September 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.34   Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents, dated August 30, 2010, by and among SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a 

Delaware limited liability company, as trustor, First American Title Insurance Company, a California corporation, as trustee, and 
Cardinal Investment Properties - Underwood, L.P., a California limited partnership, as beneficiary (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 
8-K on September 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.35   Rider to Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents, dated August 30, 2010, by and among SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a 

Delaware limited liability company, as trustor, First American Title Insurance Company, a California corporation, as trustee, and 
Cardinal Investment Properties - Underwood, L.P., a California limited partnership, as beneficiary (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 
8-K on September 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.36   Security Agreement, dated August 30, 2010, by and between SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company, and Cardinal Investment Properties-Underwood, L.P., a California limited partnership (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 8-
K on September 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.37   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and CV 

Communities, LLC, dated March 10, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.37 to Form 10-K on April 15, 2011 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.38   First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC 

and CV Communities, LLC, dated April 6, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.38 to Form 10-K on April 15, 2011 and incorporated herein 
by reference). 

      
10.39   Agreement to Purchase and Sell Interest in Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate, dated September 7, 2011, by and between Steven 

F. Dallman and Shopoff Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.40   Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate (LAND), dated June 14, 2011, by and between Steven F. Dallman or Assigns and Lundieck 

Investments, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.41   Second Amendment to Agreement to Purchase and Sell Interest in Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate, dated September 7, 2011, 
by and between Steven F. Dallman and Shopoff Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.42   First Amendment to Agreement to Purchase and Sell Interest in Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate, dated September 7, 2011, by 

and between Steven F. Dallman and Shopoff Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.43   Promissory Note and Deed of Trust – Tracts A & B - Lundieck Investments, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 8-K on November 

25, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.44   Promissory Note and Deed of Trust – Tracts C & D - Lundieck Investments, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 8-K on November 
25, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.45   Statement of Authority and Special Warranty Deed (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and incorporated 

herein by reference). 
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Exhibit  
Number  

  
Exhibit 

      
10.46   Promissory Note and Deed of Trust - Steven F. Dallman (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and 

incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.47   Assignment Agreement, dated November 2, 2011, by and among Steven F.Dallman, SPT Vantage Point, LLC and Shopoff 
Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.48   Limited Liability Company Agreement of SPT-Vantage Point LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 

and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.49   Loan Agreement, dated February 15, 2012, by and between SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company, and Cardinal Investment Properties-Ramsgate, L.P., a California limited partnership (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K 
on February 24, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.50   Promissory Note Secured By Deed of Trust between SPT- Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and Cardinal Investment Properties – 

Ramsgate, L.P. and dated February 15, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on February 24, 2012 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.51   Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents, dated February 15, 2012, by and among SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a 

Delaware limited liability company, as trustor, First American Title Insurance Company, a California corporation, as trustee, and 
Cardinal Investment Properties - Ramsgate, L.P., a California limited partnership, as beneficiary (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-
K on February 24, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.52   Rider to Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents, dated February 15, 2012, by and among SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company, as trustor, First American Title Insurance Company, a California corporation, as trustee, and 
Cardinal Investment Properties - Ramsgate, L.P., a California limited partnership, as beneficiary (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-
K on February 24, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.53   Security Agreement, dated February 15, 2012, by and between SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company, and Cardinal Investment Properties-Ramsgate, L.P., a California limited partnership (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 8-K 
on February 24, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
21.1   List of Subsidiaries. 

      
23.1   Consent of Squar, Milner, Peterson, Miranda & Williamson, LLP. 

      
31.1   Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

      
31.2   Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

      
32.1   Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

      
32.2   Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

+ Indicates a management contract or compensation plan. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED  

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
   

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders  
Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries  
   
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries (collectively the “Company”) 
as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits.  
   
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. The Company was not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. 
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that were appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated results of their operations and their 
cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  
   
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed 
in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered losses and cash outflows from operations during 2011 and 2010, 
and is experiencing difficulty in generating sufficient cash flow to meet its obligations and sustain its business operations. These matters raise 
substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. 
The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.  
   
Newport Beach, California  
April 6, 2012  
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

   

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

   

  

  

  

    
December 31,  

2011      
December 31,  

2010    
ASSETS                 

                  
Assets                 

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 20,390     $ 31,079   
Restricted cash     80,845       80,845   
Note and interest receivable, net     356,797       713,593   
Real estate investments     19,063,229       14,545,271   
Real estate investments, held for sale     —      3,471,869   
Prepaid expenses and other assets, net     109,122       53,057   
Due from related parties     —      380,390   
Loan fees and related loan expenses, net     —      52,741   
Property and equipment, net     16,107       56,850   

Total Assets   $ 19,646,490     $ 19,385,695   
                  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’  EQUITY                 
                  
L iabilities                 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   $ 670,551     $ 848,690   
Due to related parties     203,854       88,276   
Interest payable     40,667       146,625   
Income taxes payable     8,912       —  
Notes payable secured by real estate investments, net     4,900,100       4,328,416   

Total Liabilities     5,824,084       5,412,007   
                  
Commitments and Contingencies     —      —  
                  
Stockholders’  Equity                 

Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. stockholders’  equity:                 
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 2,109,100 and 2,011,750 shares issued 

at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively     21,091       20,118   
Treasury stock, 37,500 and zero shares at par value     (375)       —  
Additional paid-in capital, net of offering costs     18,350,365       17,286,715   
Accumulated deficit     (4,959,424 )     (3,333,245 ) 

Total Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. stockholders’ equity     13,411,657       13,973,588   
Non-controlling interest     410,749       100   
Total stockholders’ equity     13,822,406       13,973,688   

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity   $ 19,646,490     $ 19,385,695   
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
   

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

   

  

  

  

    For The Years Ended   
    December 31,     December 31,   
    2011     2010   
              
Revenues:                 

Sale of real estate   $ 6,300,000     $ 2,231,775   
Interest income – notes receivable     —      96,248   
Interest income and other     —      1,006   
Other income     —      49,115   

      6,300,000       2,378,144   
                  
Expenses:                 

Cost of sales of real estate     3,920,387       1,487,956   
Impairment charges     1,500,000       1,000,000   
Loan loss provision     356,796       —  
Legal settlement     70,000       —  
Stock based compensation     514,348       536,051   
Asset management fees     370,696       378,450   
Professional fees     405,786       287,662   
Insurance     190,280       203,662   
General and administrative     261,316       200,394   
Director compensation     181,750       190,000   
Dues and subscriptions     84,796       133,789   
Due diligence costs related to properties not acquired     76,887       101,103   

      7,933,042       4,519,067   
Net loss before income taxes     (1,633,042 )     (2,140,923 ) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes     8,912       (14,637 ) 
Net loss   $ (1,641,954 )   $ (2,126,286 ) 
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests     (15,775 )      —  
Net loss attributable to the Company     (1,626,179 )     (2,126,286 ) 
Earnings per common share attributable to Company - Basic   $ (0.80 )   $ (1.08 ) 
Earnings per common share attributable to Company - Diluted   $ (0.80 )   $ (1.08 ) 
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, used in per share computations:                 
Basic     2,021,725       1,961,372   
Diluted     2,021,725       1,961,372   
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
For the Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

   

      
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

   

  

  

  

                Additional           Total                 
    Common        Treasury     Paid-In     Accumulated     Stockholder's     Non-controlling       Total   
    Stock     Stock     Capital     Deficit     Equity     Interest       Equity   
                                              
Balance - December 31, 2009   $ 19,184     $ —    $ 15,828,758     $ (1,206,959 )     14,640,983     $ 100         14,641,083   
Issuance of common stock     634               601,666               602,300                 602,300   
Subscribed stock     (63 )              (59,787 )             (59,850 )               (59,850 ) 
Vesting of restricted stock issued to certain directors and 
officers     363               344,012               344,375                 344,375   
Stock compensation                     191,676               191,676                 191,676   
Offering costs paid to sponsor                     380,390               380,390                 380,390   
Net loss                             (2,126,286 )     (2,126,286 )               (2,126,286 ) 
Balance - December 31, 2010     20,118       —      17,286,715       (3,333,245 )     13,973,588       100         13,973,688   
Issuance of common stock     611               549,289               549,900                 549,900   
Vesting of restricted stock issued to certain directors and 
officers     362               344,014               344,376                 344,376   
Vested restricted stock forfeited and held as treasury stock             (375)       375                —                —  
Stock compensation                     169,972               169,972                 169,972   
Noncontrolling interests contributions             —                      —      426,424         426,424   
Net loss                             (1,626,179 )     (1,626,179 )     (15,775 )        (1,641,954 ) 

Balance - December 31, 2011   $ 21,091     $ (375 )    $ 18,350,365     $ (4,959,424 )   $ 13,411,657     $ 410,749       $ 13,822,406   
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
   

     

  

  

  

    For The Years Ended   

    
December 31,  

2011      
December 31,  

2010    
              
Cash Flows from Operating Activities                 
                  

Net loss   $ (1,641,954 )   $ (2,126,286 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:                 

Gain on sale of real estate investment     (2,379,613 )     (743,819 ) 
Impairment charges     1,500,000       1,000,000   
Loan loss provision     356,796       —  
Loan fee from new issuance of debt secured by real estate investment     —      (50,000 ) 
Interest receivable from real estate-related investment     —      (96,248 ) 
Interest expense added to loan secured by real estate investment     80,000       40,000   
Depreciation expense     40,744       44,804   
Amortization expense     52,741       10,548   
Stock compensation     514,348       536,051   

Changes in assets and liabilities:                 
Due to related parties     115,578       71,577   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     (246,444 )     312,643   
Income taxes payable     8,912       (42,986 ) 
Interest payable     (105,958 )     74,132   
Prepaid expenses and other assets, net     12,240       23,573   
Due from related parties     380,390       —  
Loan fees and related loan expenses, net     —      (13,289 ) 
Interest and loan fee receivable     —      45,000   

Net cash used in operating activities     (1,312,220 )     (914,300 ) 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities                 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment     —      (1,444 ) 
Real estate investments     (1,846,090 )     (1,133,426 ) 
Proceeds from sale of real estate investment, net     5,929,613       1,894,253   

Net cash provided by investing activities     4 ,083,523       759,383   
Cash Flows from Financing Activities                 

Issuance of common stock to subscribers     —      602,300   
Subscribed stock     —      (59,850 ) 
Non-controlling interest     426,424       —  
Repayment of notes payable secured by real estate investment     (3,208,416 )     (1,491,584 ) 
Proceeds from new loan secured by real estate investment     —      880,000   
Restricted cash     —      109,108   

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities     (2,781,992 )     39,974   
Net change in cash     (10,689 )     (114,943 ) 
Cash, beginning of year     31,079       146,022   
Cash, end of year   $ 20,390     $ 31,079   
                  
 SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES                 
                  
Acquisition of real estate investment with assumption of debt   $ 3,700,100     $ –  

Issuance of common stock in lieu of cash for acquisition of real estate   $ 549,900     
$ 
  —  

Reimbursement of excess organizational and offering expenses paid to the Advisor and affiliated entities   $ –    $ 380,390   
Pre-paid interest   $ -    $ 120,000   
                  
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION                 
                  
Cash paid for interest   $ 417,473     $ 341,827   
Cash paid for income taxes   $ –    $ 37,000   
                  



    
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

   

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON CASH FLOW INFORMATION                 
                  
Unbilled insurance reimbursements included in other assets and unpaid legal liability included in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities   $ 68,304     $ -  
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

     

   
Formation and nature of operations  

   
Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. (the “Trust”) was incorporated on November 16, 2006 under the laws of the State of Maryland. The 

Company adopted December 31 as its fiscal year end. The Trust intends to elect to be treated as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for 
federal income tax purposes for its tax year ending December 31, 2012. The Trust was incorporated to raise capital and acquire ownership 
interests in undervalued, undeveloped, non-income producing real estate assets for which the Trust will obtain entitlements and hold such assets 
as long-term investments for eventual sale. In addition, the Trust may acquire partially improved and improved residential and commercial 
properties and other real estate investments. It is presently expected that the majority of the Trust’s real estate related assets will be located in 
California, Nevada, Arizona, Hawaii, Texas and Colorado. The Trust and all of its majority-owned subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as (the “Company” or “We”).  
   

The recent focus of our acquisitions has been on distressed or opportunistic property offerings. At our inception, our focus was on 
adding value to property through the entitlement process, but the recent real estate market has generated a supply of real estate projects that are 
all partially or completely developed versus vacant, undeveloped land. This changed the focus of our acquisitions to enhancing the value of real 
property through redesign and engineering refinements and removed much of the entitlement risk that we expected to undertake. Although 
acquiring distressed assets at greatly reduced prices from the peaks of 2005-2006 does not guaranty us success, we believe that it does allow us 
the opportunity to acquire more assets than previously contemplated.  
   

We believe there will be continued distress in the real estate market in the near term, although we believe that prices have found support 
in some of our target markets.  We have seen pricing increases compared to earlier years, but opportunities continue to be available as properties 
make their way through the financial system and ultimately come to market. We are also seeing more opportunities to work with landowners 
under options or joint ventures and obtain entitlements in order to create long term shareholder value. Our view of the mid to long term is more 
positive, and we expect property values to improve over the next four- to ten-year time horizon. Our plan has been to position the REIT to 
capitalize on these opportunities for capital appreciation.  
   

  

  

  

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS 
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

     
As of August 29, 2010, the Company concluded its best-efforts initial public offering in which it offered 2,000,000 shares of its 

common stock at a price of $9.50 per share and 18,100,000 shares of common stock at $10.00 per share. On August 29, 2008, the Company met 
the minimum offering requirement of the sale of at least 1,700,000 shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2011, the Company had 
accepted subscriptions for the sale of 1,919,400 shares of its common stock at a price of $9.50 per share not including: 21,100 shares issued to 
The Shopoff Group L.P.; 70,000 shares of vested restricted stock issued to certain officers and directors; and 61,100 shares of our common stock 
issued to certain accredited investors in a private placement as part of the consideration for the acquisition of land . As of August 29, 2010, the 
end of the offering period, the Company had 80,600 shares of common stock at a price of $9.50 and 18,100,000 shares at a price of $10.00 
remaining for sale and subsequently proceeded with the deregistration of these shares totaling 18,180,600 through the filing of a post effective 
amendment number 7 with the SEC. The SEC declared this post effective amendment number 7 effective on September 7, 2010.  

   
As of December 31, 2011, the Company owned one hundred percent of five properties and a portion of a sixth property (See Note 4 for 

additional information):  
   

  

  

  

• A final plat of seven hundred and thirty nine residential lots on a total of two hundred acres of unimproved land in the Town of 
Buckeye, Maricopa County, Arizona purchased for $3,000,000. 

• Approximately one hundred eighteen acres of vacant and unentitled land located near the City of Lake Elsinore, in an unincorporated 
area of Riverside County, California, acquired via a Settlement Agreement with Springbrook Investments, L.P., a California limited 
partnership (“Springbrook”), in which Springbrook agreed to execute and deliver a grant deed to the underlying real estate collateral in 
consideration for the discharge by us of all of Springbrook’s obligations under a secured promissory note owned by the Company. 

• Approximately 6.11 acres of vacant and unentitled land located near the City of Lake Elsinore, in an unincorporated area of Riverside 
County, California, also acquired via a Settlement Agreement with Springbrook, in which Springbrook agreed to execute and deliver a 
grant deed to the underlying real estate collateral in consideration for the discharge by us of all of Springbrook’s obligations under a 
second, separate secured promissory note owned by the Company. 

• Three hundred and fifty-five entitled but unimproved residential lots and two commercial lots located in the City of Lake Elsinore, 
California. The three hundred and fifty-five entitled but unimproved residential lots and two commercial lots were originally purchased 
as part of a larger original transaction that included five hundred and nineteen entitled but unimproved residential lots and two 
commercial lots with an overall purchase price of $9,600,000. The remaining three hundred and fifty-five entitled but unimproved 
residential lots and two commercial lots have an allocated basis of $4,430,000. 

• Four hundred acres of unentitled and unimproved land located in the City of Chino Hills, California purchased as part of a larger 
transaction with an overall purchase price of $9,600,000. The four hundred acres have an allocated basis of $3,270,000. 
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

   

    
Through December 31, 2011, the Company had originated three loans, a $600,000 secured loan to Mesquite Venture I, LLC and two 

secured loans totaling $2,300,000 to Aware Development Company, Inc. One loan, the $600,000 secured loan to Mesquite Venture I, LLC, was 
outstanding as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 (See Note 3).  
   

The Company’s day-to-day operations are managed by Shopoff Advisors, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “Advisor”), as 
further discussed in Note 7. The Advisor manages, supervises and performs the various administrative functions necessary to carry out our day-
to-day operations. In addition, the Advisor identifies and presents potential investment opportunities and is responsible for our marketing, sales 
and client services. Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor’s activities are subject to oversight by our board of directors.  
   

The Company’s majority-owned subsidiary, Shopoff Partners, L.P., a Maryland limited partnership (the “Operating Partnership”), or 
wholly owned subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership, will own substantially all of the properties acquired on behalf of the Company. The 
Trust’s wholly owned subsidiary, Shopoff General Partner, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company (the “Sole General Partner”), is the sole 
general partner of the Operating Partnership and owns 1% of the equity interest therein. The Trust and the Advisor own 98% and 1% of the 
Operating Partnership, respectively, as limited partners.  

   
Although not wholly owned, the Company’s Operating Partnership is the manager of and has control over the management and major 

operating decisions of SPT – Vantage Point, LLC, a joint venture formed in November, 2011. Accordingly, the accounts of SPT – Vantage 
Point, LLC are consolidated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011.  

       

  

  

  

• 47.9 acres of unimproved land zoned commercial/retail and multi-family residential, which currently permits 306 residential units and 
25 acres of retail land located in the Town of Parker, Douglas County, Colorado purchased for $4,900,000. The Company owns a 
portion of this property through a specific purpose limited liability company with an affiliate of our Advisor. 
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

   
Going Concern and Liquidity Matters  
   

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue to meet its liquidity 
requirements for the foreseeable future. For each of the two years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company has reported losses and 
cash outflows from operations. Additionally, as of December 31, 2011, the Company has an accumulated deficit of approximately $4,959,000, 
has approximately $20,000 in cash, owes vendors approximately $924,000, and has two notes payable aggregating $2,300,100 that mature in 
2012, one of which is due and payable May 17, 2012, the other due and payable July 31, 2012. Additionally, the Company has required principal 
payments aggregating $250,000 due in 2012 on two other notes payable (such other notes payable are in addition to the two notes payable 
discussed above). These conditions raised substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue to meet its liquidity requirements and to 
continue as a going concern. As a result, management is taking the following actions: The Company is actively pursuing discussions with 
potential lending sources for land assets as the market for lending on unentitled and undeveloped land has become more available although the 
cost of funds could be prohibitive. Additionally, management will open discussions with its current lenders to restructure the due dates of 
existing loans. Management has also been pursuing discussion with potential joint venture partners who would purchase a portion of existing 
Company real estate assets in exchange for cash. The intent of the Company is to extend existing debt, to obtain new debt on real estate owned 
that is currently unencumbered and/or enter into a joint venture agreement whereby the Company would contribute a portion of its real estate 
assets in exchange for cash. The Company is currently seeking approximately $3,000,000 in new funding from either lending or joint venture 
sources.  

   
The Company believes it will have sufficient funds for the operation of the Company for the near future. However, if new financings and a 

recapitalization utilizing existing Company assets as discussed above do not happen, the Company may need to consider alternative solutions or 
may need to cease operations. The financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability 
and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.  

   

The summary of significant accounting policies presented below is designed to assist in understanding the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements. Such consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are the representation of the Company’s management, who 
is responsible for their integrity and objectivity.  
   
Principles of Consolidation  

   
Since the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Shopoff General Partner, LLC, is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership 

and has unilateral control over its management and major operating decisions (even if additional limited partners are admitted to the Operating 
Partnership), the accounts of the Operating Partnership are consolidated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The accounts of 
Shopoff General Partner, LLC are also consolidated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since it is wholly owned by the 
Company. Additionally, SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, SPT-SWRC, LLC, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, SPT AZ Land Holdings, 
LLC, SPT – Chino Hills, LLC and Shopoff TRS, Inc. are also 100% owned by the Operating Partnership and therefore their accounts are 
consolidated in the Company’s financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010.  

   

  

  

  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

   
Although not wholly owned, since the Company’s Operating Partnership is the manager of and has control over the management and major 

operating decisions of SPT – Vantage Point, LLC, the accounts of SPT – Vantage Point, LLC are consolidated in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011.  
   

All intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.  
   

Use of Estimates  
   

It is the Company’s policy to require management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates will be made and evaluated on 
an on-going basis, using information that is currently available as well as applicable assumptions believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results may vary from those estimates; in addition, such estimates could be different under other conditions and/or if we 
use alternative assumptions.  
   
Reclassifications  

   
      Certain amounts in the Company’s prior period consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period 

presentation. These reclassifications have not changed the results of operations of prior periods.  
   

  Cash and Cash Equivalents  
   

     The Company considers all highly liquid short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be 
cash equivalents.  

   
Concentrations of Credit Risk  

   
The financial instrument that potentially exposes the Company to a concentration of credit risk consists of cash. As of December 31, 2011, 

we did not have bank balances in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) limit of $250,000.  
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

     
As of December 31, 2011, the Company maintained marketable securities in a money market account at certain financial institutions that 

were subject to the Securities Investor Protection Corporation (“SIPC”) limit of $500,000. We did not have any bank balances in excess of the 
SIPC limit as of December 31, 2011. This money market account, also known as a brokerage safekeeping account, is protected by additional 
coverage that the financial institution has purchased through Lloyd’s of London, which provides additional protection up to $149.5 million.  

   
The Company’s real estate and real estate related assets are located in Arizona, California, Colorado and Nevada. Accordingly, there is a 

geographic concentration of risk subject to fluctuations in the local economies of Arizona, California, Colorado and Nevada. Additionally, the 
Company’s operations are generally dependent upon the real estate industry, which is historically subject to fluctuations in local, regional and 
national economies.  

   
  Revenue and Profit Recognition  

   
It is the Company’s policy to recognize gains on the sale of investment properties. In order to qualify for immediate recognition of revenue 

on the transaction date, the Company requires that the sale be consummated, the buyer’s initial and continuing investment be adequate to 
demonstrate a commitment to pay, any receivable resulting from seller financing not be subject to future subordination, and that the usual risks 
and rewards of ownership be transferred to the buyer. We expect these criteria to be met at the close of escrow. The Company’s policy also 
requires that the seller not have any substantial continuing involvement with the property. If we have a commitment to the buyer for a specific 
dollar amount, such commitment will be accrued and the recognized gain on the sale will be reduced accordingly.  

   
Transactions with unrelated parties which in substance are sales but which do not meet the criteria described in the preceding paragraph will 

be accounted for using the appropriate method (such as the installment, deposit, or cost recovery method) as set forth in the Company’s policy. 
Any disposition of a real estate asset which in substance is not deemed to be a “sale” for accounting purposes will be reported as a financing, 
leasing, or profit-sharing arrangement as considered appropriate under the circumstances of the specific transaction.  

   
For income-producing properties we intend to recognize base rental income on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective lease 

agreements (including any rent holidays). Differences between recognized rental income and amounts contractually due under the lease 
agreements will be credited or charged (as applicable), to rent receivable. Tenant reimbursement revenue, which is expected to be comprised of 
additional amounts recoverable from tenants for common area maintenance expenses and certain other expenses, will be recognized as revenue 
in the period in which the related expenses are incurred.  
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

   
Interest income on the Company’s real estate notes receivable is recognized on an accrual basis over the life of the investment using the 

effective interest method. Direct loan origination fees and origination or acquisition costs are amortized over the term of the loan as an 
adjustment to interest income. The Company will place loans on nonaccrual status when concern exists as to the ultimate collection of principal 
or interest. When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, the Company will reserve the accrual for unpaid interest and will not recognize 
subsequent interest income until the cash is received, or the loan returns to accrual status.  
   
Notes Receivable  
   

The Company’s notes receivable are recorded at cost, net of loan loss reserves, and evaluated for impairment at each balance sheet date. 
The amortized cost of a note receivable is the outstanding unpaid principal balance, net of unamortized costs and fees directly associated with the 
origination or acquisition of the loan.  

   
The Company considers a loan to be impaired when, based upon current information and events, it believes that it is probable that the 

Company will be unable to collect all amounts due under the contractual terms of the loan agreement. A reserve is established when the present 
value of payments expected to be received, observable market prices, or the estimated fair value of the collateral (for loans that are dependent on 
the collateral for repayment) of an impaired loan is lower than the carrying value of that loan.  

   
The Company recognized a loan loss provision of $356,796 during the year ended December 31, 2011. This note receivable is known as 

Mesquite Venture I, LLC. See Note 3 for additional information.  
   

Cost of Real Estate Assets Not Held for Sale  
   

Real estate assets principally consist of wholly-owned undeveloped real estate for which we obtain entitlements and hold such assets as 
long term investments for eventual sale. Undeveloped real estate not held for sale will be carried at cost subject to downward adjustment as 
described in “Impairment” below. Cost will include the purchase price of the land, related acquisition fees, as well as costs related to entitlement, 
property taxes and interest. In addition, any significant other costs directly related to acquisition and development of the land will be capitalized. 
The carrying amount of land will be charged to earnings when the related revenue is recognized.  
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

     
Income-producing properties will generally be carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost of income-producing 

properties will include the purchase price of the land and buildings and related improvements. Expenditures that increase the service life of such 
properties will be capitalized; the cost of maintenance and repairs will be charged to expense as incurred. The cost of building and improvements 
will be depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which are expected to principally range from approximately 15 to 39 
years. When depreciable property is retired or disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation will be removed from the accounts and 
any gain or loss will be reflected in operations.  

   
The costs related to abandoned projects are expensed when management believes that such projects are no longer viable investments.  
   

Property Held for Sale  
   

The Company’s policy, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets, requires that 
in a period in which a component of an entity either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale, the income statements for current and 
prior periods report the results of operations of the component as discontinued operations.  

   
When a property is held for sale, such property will be carried at the lower of (i) its carrying amount or (ii) the estimated fair value less costs 

to sell. In addition, a depreciable property being held for sale (such as a building) will cease to be depreciated. We will classify operating 
properties as held for sale in the period in which all of the following criteria are met:  
   

       

  

  

  

  •   Management, having the authority to approve the action, commits to a plan to sell the asset; 
        
  •   The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition, subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such 

asset ; 
        
  •   An active program to locate a buyer and other actions required to complete the plan to sell the asset has been initiated ; 
        
  •   The sale of the asset is probable, and the transfer of the asset is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed transaction within one 

year; 
        
  •   The asset is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current estimated fair value; and 
        
  •   Given the actions required to complete the plan to sell the asset, it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan would be made or that 

the plan would be abandoned . 
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

   
Selling commissions and closing costs will be expensed when incurred .  
   

We believe that the accounting related to property valuation and impairment is a critical accounting estimate because: (1) assumptions 
inherent in the valuation of our property are highly subjective and susceptible to change and (2) the impact of recognizing impairments on our 
property could be material to our consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations. We will evaluate our property for impairment 
periodically on an asset-by-asset basis. This evaluation includes three critical assumptions with regard to future sales prices, cost of sales and 
absorption. The three critical assumptions include the timing of the sale, the land residual value and the discount rate applied to determine the 
fair value of the income-producing properties on the balance sheet date. Our assumptions on the timing of sales are critical because the real 
estate industry has historically been cyclical and sensitive to changes in economic conditions such as interest rates and unemployment levels. 
Changes in these economic conditions could materially affect the projected sales price, costs to acquire and entitle our land and cost to acquire 
our income-producing properties. Our assumptions on land residual value are critical because they will affect our estimate of what a willing 
buyer would pay and what a willing seller would sell a parcel of land for (other than in a forced liquidation) in order to generate a market rate 
operating margin and return. Our assumption on discount rates is critical because the selection of a discount rate affects the estimated fair value 
of the income-producing properties. A higher discount rate reduces the estimated fair value of such properties, while a lower discount rate 
increases the estimated fair value of these properties. Because of changes in economic and market conditions and assumptions and estimates 
required of management in valuing property held for investment during these changing market conditions, actual results could differ materially 
from management’s assumptions and may require material property impairment charges to be recorded in the future.  

   
Long-Lived Assets  
   

     The Company’s policy requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If the cost basis of a long-lived asset held for use is greater than the projected future 
undiscounted net cash flows from such asset (excluding interest), an impairment loss is recognized. Impairment losses are calculated as the 
difference between the cost basis of an asset and its estimated fair value.  

   
The Company recognized impairment charges in the aggregate amount of $1,500,000 on two existing Company investments during the year 

ended December 31, 2011. These two existing Company investments are known as the Desert Moon Estates Property and the Tuscany Crest / 
Tuscany Valley Project (the Tuscany Crest / Tuscany Valley Project being part of a larger original purchase known as the Tuscany Valley 
properties). The Desert Moon Estates Property was impaired by $500,000 and the Tuscany Crest / Tuscany Valley Project was impaired by 
$1,000,000.  

   

  

  

  

F- 15 



   

   
SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

    
The Company recognized impairment charges in the aggregate amount of $1,000,000 on three real estate investments for the year ended 

December 31, 2010. These three existing Company investments are known as the Desert Moon Estates Property, the Tuscany West Project, and 
the Commercial Project (the Tuscany West Project and the Commercial Project being part of a larger original purchase known as the Tuscany 
Valley properties). The Desert Moon Estates Property was impaired by $397,000, the Tuscany West Project was impaired by $335,000, and the 
Commercial Project was impaired by $268,000.  

   
The Company’s policy also requires us to separately report discontinued operations and extends that reporting to a component of an entity 

that either has been disposed of (by sale, abandonment, or in a distribution to shareholders) or is classified as held for sale. Assets to be disposed 
of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or estimated fair value less costs to sell. There were no significant operations related to the 
properties sold.  

   
Earnings Per Share  

   
Basic net income (loss) per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares 

outstanding during each period. The computation of diluted net income (loss) further assumes the dilutive effect of stock options, stock warrants 
and contingently issuable shares, if any.  

   
As of December 31, 2011, the Company had granted 173,750 shares of restricted stock to certain directors and officers, 107,500 of which 

were vested as of December 31, 2011 and 66,250 of which remain unvested as of December 31, 2011. Of the 107,500 shares which had vested as 
of December 31, 2011, 37,500 shares were voluntarily forfeited and are held as treasury stock by the Company, reducing the number of vested 
shares that are outstanding from 107,500 to 70,000. Unvested shares were excluded in the calculation of EPS for the year ended December 31, 
2011 since their effect would be anti-dilutive.  

   
As of December 31, 2010, the Company had granted 173,750 shares of restricted stock to certain directors and officers, 71,250 of which 

were vested as of December 31, 2010 and 102,500 of which remain unvested as of December 31, 2010. Unvested shares were not included in the 
calculation of EPS for the year ended December 31, 2010 since their effect would be anti-dilutive.  

   
As of December 31, 2011, the Company had 123,750 stock options that were granted to certain directors and officers, 69,400 of which 

were vested as of December 31, 2011 and 54,350 of which remain unvested as of December 31, 2011. However, the 123,750 stock options were 
excluded in the calculation of EPS for the years ended December 31, 2011 since their effect would be anti-dilutive.  
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

     
As of December 31, 2010, the Company had 123,750 stock options that were granted to certain directors and officers, 42,900 of which were 

vested as of December 31, 2010 and 80,850 of which remain unvested as of December 31, 2010. The 123,750 stock options were excluded in the 
calculation of EPS for the year ended December 31, 2010 since their effect would be anti-dilutive.    

   
The following is a reconciliation of the shares used in the computation of basic and diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 

2010, respectively:  
   

   
Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Certain Other Assets/Liabilities  

   
The Company’s financial instruments include cash, notes and accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities and notes and interest payable. Management believes that the fair value of these financial instruments approximates their carrying 
amounts based on current market indicators, such as prevailing interest rates and the short-term maturities of such financial instruments.  

   
Management has concluded that it is not practical to estimate the fair value of amounts due to and from related parties. The Company’s 

policy requires, where reasonable, that information pertinent to those financial instruments be disclosed, such as the carrying amount, interest 
rate, and maturity date; such information is included in Note 7.  

   

  

  

  

    Year Ended   
    December 31,   
    2011     2010   
        
Numerator:                 
Net loss   $ (1,641,954 )   $ (2,126,286 ) 
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests   $ (15,775 )   $ —  
Net loss attributable to the Company   $ (1,626,179 )   $ (2,126,286 ) 
                  
Denominator:                 
Weighted average outstanding shares of common stock     2,021,725       1,961,372   
Effect of contingently issuable restricted stock     —      —  
Effect of contingently issuable stock options     —      —  
Weighted average number of common shares and potential common shares outstanding     2,021,725       1,961,372   
                  
Basic loss per common share   $ (0.80 )   $ (1.08 ) 
Diluted loss per common share   $ (0.80 )   $ (1.08 ) 
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

   
Management believes it is not practical to estimate the fair value of related party financial instruments because the transactions cannot be 

assumed to have been consummated at arm’s length, there are no quoted market values available for such instruments, and an independent 
valuation would not be practicable due to the lack of data regarding similar instruments (if any) and the associated potential cost.  

   
The Company does not have any assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (except as disclosed below) and, as 

of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, did not have any assets or liabilities that were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis 
except as described in the long-lived assets above.  

   
When the Company has a loan that is identified as being impaired or being reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance with Company policy and is collateral dependent, it is 
evaluated for impairment by comparing the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral, less costs to sell, to the carrying value of the loan.  

   
The Company’s policy establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers 

include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical financial instruments in active markets; Level 2, defined as 
inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as instruments that have 
little to no pricing observability as of the reported date. Level 3 instruments do not have two-way markets and are measured using management’s 
best estimate of fair value, where the inputs into the determination of fair value require significant management judgment or estimation.  

   
The Company’s policy also discusses determining fair value when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability has 

significantly decreased, and identifying transactions that are not orderly. Company policy emphasizes that even if there has been a significant 
decrease in the volume and level of activity for an asset or liability and regardless of the valuation technique(s) used, the objective of a fair value 
measurement remains the same. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction (that is, not a forced liquidation or distressed sale) between market participants at the measurement date under current market 
conditions. Furthermore, Company policy requires additional disclosures regarding the inputs and valuation technique(s) used in estimating the 
fair value of assets and liabilities as well as any changes in such valuation technique(s).  
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SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

    
The following items are measured at fair value on a recurring basis subject to the Company’s disclosure requirements at December 31, 2011 

and December 31, 2010:  
   

   

      
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements  

   
      The Company classifies noncontrolling interests as part of consolidated net earnings ($(15,775) for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 
$0 for the year ended December 31, 2010) and includes the accumulated amount of noncontrolling interests as part of stockholders’ equity 
($410,749 at December 31, 2011 and $100 at December 31, 2010). Earnings per share reflects amounts attributable only to the Company. 
Similarly, in the presentation of shareholders’ equity, the Company distinguishes between equity amounts attributable to the Company’s 
stockholders and amounts attributable to the noncontrolling interests. Increases and decreases in the Company’s controlling financial interests in 
consolidated subsidiaries will be reported in equity similar to treasury stock transactions. If a change in ownership of a consolidated subsidiary 
results in loss of control and deconsolidation, any retained ownership interests are remeasured with the gain or loss reported in net earnings.  

   
Stock-Based Compensation  

   
          The Company’s policy requires that all employee stock options and rights to purchase shares under stock participation plans be accounted 
for under the fair value method and requires the use of an option pricing model for estimating fair value. Accordingly, share-based compensation 
is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award.  
   

  

  

  

    As of December 31, 2011   
                Fair Value Measurements Using:   
                Quoted     Significant     Significant   
                Markets     Observable     Unobservable   
    Carrying     Total     Prices     Inputs     Inputs   
    Value     Fair Value     (Level 1)     (Level 2)     (Level 3)   
Financial Assets (Liabilities)                                         
Cash Equivalents   $ 14,073     $ 14,073     $ 14,073     $ —    $ —  

    As of December 31, 2010   
                Fair Value Measurements Using:   
                Quoted     Significant     Significant   
                Markets     Observable     Unobservable   
    Carrying     Total     Prices     Inputs     Inputs   
    Value     Fair Value     (Level 1)     (Level 2)     (Level 3)   
Financial Assets (Liabilities)                                         
Cash Equivalents   $ 12,204     $ 12,204     $ 12,204     $ —    $ —  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

     
Organization and Offering Costs  
   

The Company’s organization and offering costs were paid by the Company’s Advisor, broker-dealer and their affiliates on the 
Company’s behalf. These organization and offering costs included all expenses to be paid by us in connection with the Company’s initial public 
offering, including but not limited to (i) legal, accounting, printing, mailing, and filing fees; (ii) charges of the escrow holder; (iii) reimbursement 
of the broker-dealer for amounts it may pay to reimburse the bona fide diligence expenses of other broker-dealers and registered investment 
advisors; (iv) reimbursement to the advisor for other costs in connection with preparing supplemental sales materials; (v) the cost of educational 
conferences held by us (including the travel, meal, and lodging costs of registered representatives of broker-dealers); and (vi) reimbursement to 
the broker-dealer for travel, meals, lodging, and attendance fees incurred by employees of the broker-dealer to attend retail seminars conducted 
by broker-dealers.  
   
Income Taxes  
   

The Company intends to make an election to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code, as 
amended, or the Code, beginning with the taxable year ending December 31, 2012. The Company has not yet qualified as a REIT. To qualify as 
a REIT, the Company must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to currently distribute at least 90% 
of ordinary taxable income to stockholders. As a REIT, the Company generally will not be subject to federal income tax on taxable income that 
it distributes to its stockholders. If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any year, it will be subject to federal income taxes on taxable 
income at regular corporate rates and will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax purposes for four years 
following the year during which qualification is lost unless the Internal Revenue Service grants the Company relief under certain statutory 
provisions. Such an event could materially adversely affect the Company’s net income and net cash available for distribution to stockholders. 
The Company is currently being taxed as a C Corporation.  
   

The Company’s computed effective tax rate was negative for the year ended December 31, 2011 and the Company recorded an income 
tax expense of approximately $9,000. The Company’s effective rate differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate primarily due to the deferred tax 
asset valuation position on federal net operating losses (“NOL”), state tax that restricts the use of state net operating losses, and federal and state 
alternative minimum tax effects.  

   
At December 31, 2011, the Company had a federal NOL carry-forward of approximately $445,000 and a state NOL carry-forward of 

approximately $1,260,000.  
   

  

  

  

F- 20 



    

   
SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
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At December 31, 2010, the Company had a federal NOL carry-forward of approximately $1,340,000 and a state NOL carry-forward of 

approximately $2,254,000.  
   

A portion of the carryfowards may expire before being applied to reduce future income tax liabilities.  
   

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of 
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable 
income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the amount and timing of scheduled 
reversals of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable income over the periods for which the deferred tax assets are deductible. 
Although management believes the Company will be profitable in the foreseeable future, based upon the Company’s history of continuing 
operating losses, realization of its deferred tax assets does not meet the more likely than not criteria under ASC 740 and, accordingly, a valuation 
allowance for the entire deferred tax asset amount has been recorded.  
   

As of December 31, 2011, based on the weight of available evidence, including cumulative losses in recent years, realization of deferred 
tax assets does not appear more likely than not. Therefore a full valuation allowance will continue to be applied against net deferred tax assets.  
   

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had not recorded any unrecognized tax benefit. The Company does not expect the 
unrecognized tax benefit will change significantly within the next 12 months. There have been no material changes to the unrecognized tax 
benefit during the year ended December 31, 2011.  
   
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements  
   

On May 12, 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to 
Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs (“ASU No. 2011-04”). ASU No. 2011-04 
updated accounting guidance does not require additional fair value measurements, but rather, requires additional disclosures while providing 
further explanation for measuring fair value and converging with international accounting standards. The amendments are effective for public 
entities for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011, and should be applied prospectively. As this ASU amends only the 
disclosure requirements, the adoption of ASU No. 2011-04 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.  
   

Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB (including its Emerging Issues Task Force), the AICPA, and the SEC did 
not or are not believed by management to have a material impact on our present or future consolidated financial statements.  
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3. NOTE RECEIVABLE  
   

As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company, through a wholly owned subsidiary, had invested in a real estate loan 
receivable as follows:  
   

   
     The following summarizes the activity related to real estate loans receivable for the year ended December 31, 2011:  
   

   
      Mesquite Venture I, LLC  

   
On September 30, 2008, the Company originated, through SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, a real estate loan for an amount of $600,000. 

The borrower was Mesquite Venture I, LLC. All attorney and closing costs were paid by the borrower. The loan was a second position lien 
behind a $3,681,000 first position lien (the “Senior Loan”). The initial term of the loan was nine months due on June 30, 2009 and bore interest 
at an annual rate of 14%. The loan is secured by a deed of trust, assignment of rents and security agreement encumbering real property situated 
in the City of Mesquite. This loan is also secured by personal guarantees from four separate individuals.  

   
The compensation received by the Advisor and its affiliates in connection with this transaction is as follows: (i) an acquisition fee equal 

to 3% of the loan amount, or $18,000, and (ii) monthly asset management fees equal to 1/12 of 2% of the total loan amount, or $1,000 per 
month, plus capitalized entitlement and project related costs, for the first year, and then based on the appraised value of the asset after one year. 
The total compensation received by the Advisor as of December 31, 2011 was $57,000.  
   

  

  

  

                              Maturity   
    Date           Book   Book   Contractual   Annual Effective   Date as of   
Loan Name   Acquired/   Property   Loan   Value as of   Value as of   Interest   Interest Rate at   December 31,   
Location of Related Property or Collateral   Originated   Type   Type   December 31,2011   December 31, 2010   Rate   December 31, 2011   2011   
                                      
Mesquite Venture I                                     
Mesquite, Nevada   9/30/2008   Vacant Land   Second deed of Trust   $ 691,211   $ 691,211   14.00 % 19.00 % 1/15/2011   
                                        
Accrued interest                 22,382     22,382               
Reserve for loan losses                 (356,796 )   —               
                                        
                $ 356,797   $ 713,593               

Real estate loans receivable — December 31, 2010   $ 713,593   
Accrued interest     —  
Provision for loan loss     (356,796 ) 
Real estate loans receivable — December 31, 2011   $ 356,797   

F- 22 



    

   
SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   

   
On or about June 30, 2009, the Company, through SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, agreed to extend the maturity date of its secured note 

with Mesquite Venture I, LLC from June 30, 2009 to May 15, 2010. In consideration of this loan extension, Mesquite Venture I, LLC agreed to 
pay a loan extension fee of five percent of the outstanding principal balance or $30,000 payable as follows: $10,000 upon execution of the 
secured note extension, $10,000 on October 1, 2009 and $10,000 on January 1, 2010. Mesquite Venture I, LLC also agreed to make a $10,000 
payment on April 1, 2010, which was to be applied against accrued and unpaid interest. Interest accrued on the outstanding principal balance at 
an annual rate of 14% and all accrued and unpaid interest and principal became due and payable in full at the new maturity date of May 15, 
2010.  
   

On or about October 12, 2009, the Company was informed that on September 28, 2009 a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under 
Deed of Trust (“NOD”) was recorded on behalf of East West Bank, as beneficiary (“East West Bank”), with respect to a senior deed of trust 
securing certain obligations of Mesquite Venture I, LLC to East West Bank, including without limitation indebtedness under the Senior Loan. 
The NOD was filed due to Mesquite Venture I, LLC’s failure to pay the August 1, 2009 installment of principal and interest and all subsequent 
installments of principal and interest under the Senior Loan.  
   

A default on the Company’s secured note was triggered when Mesquite Venture I, LLC failed to make its $10,000 loan extension fee 
payment due on October 1, 2009. Mesquite Venture I, LLC subsequently failed to make its $10,000 loan extension fee payment due on January 
1, 2010.  
   

On December 24, 2009, PLQ Mesquite Investors, LLC, an entity controlled by one of the original guarantors of the Senior Loan, 
entered into a Mortgage Loan Sale Agreement whereby the holder of the Senior Loan, East West Bank, agreed to sell to PLQ Mesquite 
Investors, LLC, the $3,681,000 mortgage note together with all of East West Bank’s interest in and to any of Mesquite Venture I, LLC’s 
property held by East West Bank, all collateral and any guarantees obtained in connection with the $3,681,000 note. On December 30, 2009, 
East West Bank officially assigned to PLQ Mesquite Investors, LLC, the Senior Loan. Mesquite Venture I, LLC cured its first lien position 
default upon the purchase by PLQ Mesquite Investors, LLC, of the Senior Loan as PLQ Mesquite Investors, LLC’s manager, was also a 
guarantor on the Senior Loan.  
   

Mesquite Venture I, LLC and the Company’s Advisor agreed that if Mesquite Venture I, LLC paid (i) all past due payments required as 
outlined in the extension agreement, (ii) the April 1, 2010 payment of $10,000, and (iii) reimbursed SPT Real Estate Finance $10,000 for 
attorney’s fees incurred due to Mesquite Venture I, LLC’s failure to make timely payments as outlined in the extension agreement, SPT Real 
Estate Finance would consider Mesquite Venture I, LLC reinstated and would not pursue the guarantees from Mesquite Venture I, LLC and 
would no longer demand payment in full on their secured note. The total amount due from Mesquite Venture I, LLC was $40,000.  
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On March 4, 2010, Mesquite Venture I, LLC paid SPT Real Estate Finance the negotiated $40,000.  

   
This note matured on May 15, 2010; however SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC did not receive payment in full as agreed to by Mesquite 

Venture I, LLC. Management began discussions with Mesquite Venture I, LLC regarding their matured $600,000 promissory note with SPT 
Real Estate Finance, LLC and on or about August 13, 2010, management and Mesquite Venture I, LLC documented and executed a 
reinstatement and modification agreement whereby management (i) granted an extension to Mesquite Venture I, LLC resulting in a new maturity 
date of January 15, 2011, (ii) agreed to waive extension fees relating to the modification, (iii) agreed the interest rate during the extension period 
would be 14%, (iv) added all accrued and unpaid interest through the date of the reinstatement and modification to the outstanding principal 
balance of the promissory note, (v) agreed during the extension period, Mesquite Venture I, LLC would make monthly payments of $5,000 
towards accrued and unpaid interest, and (vi) agreed Mesquite Venture I, LLC would provide additional collateral, specifically fifty percent 
(50%) of one guarantors ownership position in Silvertip Resort Village, LLC, a limited liability company whose primary purpose is real estate 
investment and which currently owns an option on a hotel site in northern California (the Silvertip Resort Village).  
   

As of December 31, 2010, Mesquite Venture I, LLC had failed to make its December 2010, $5,000 monthly payment towards accrued 
and unpaid interest as required under the reinstatement and modification agreement. Due to the failure by Mesquite Venture I, LLC to make its 
December 2010 monthly payment, Mesquite Venture I, LLC was in default under the terms of its reinstatement and modification agreement.  
   

The secured note to Mesquite Venture I, LLC matured on January 15, 2011 and SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC did not receive payment 
in full as required by Mesquite Venture I, LLC. The Company sent a demand letter to the guarantors on the Mesquite loan on January 20, 2011 
indicating that, if payment was not received within 10 days, the Company intended to immediately pursue collection. The due date on the 
demand letter passed without payment from Mesquite Venture I, LLC. Management began discussions with (i) Mesquite Venture I, LLC 
regarding their matured $600,000 promissory note with SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, and (ii) Company legal counsel regarding options 
available to the Company regarding collection of the outstanding receivable.  
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On July 14, 2011, an entity controlled by one of the original guarantors of the secured note to Mesquite Ventures I, LLC, which entity 

owns a property known as the Silvertip Resort Village, was placed into bankruptcy by this original guarantor to avoid a pending foreclosure. 
Prior to the bankruptcy filing, the Company was notified of the pending filing by this same original guarantor. On August 13, 2010, when 
management and Mesquite Venture I, LLC documented and executed a reinstatement and modification agreement, Mesquite Venture I, 
LLC provided additional collateral, specifically fifty percent (50%) of one guarantor’s ownership position in Silvertip Resort Village, LLC, a 
limited liability company whose primary purpose is real estate investment and which currently owns an option on the Silvertip Resort Village 
hotel site in northern California. The option agreement is held by an entity affiliated with Silvertip Resort Village, LLC. Management is in 
discussions with Company legal counsel regarding this recent bankruptcy filing and its impact on the Company’s collection efforts on the 
Mesquite Ventures I, LLC secured note.  
   

On August 12, 2011, Company legal counsel filed suit against the guarantors of the Mesquite Ventures I, LLC secured note for 
collection of all outstanding principal, interest, and other expenses owed to the Company. As of December 31, 2011 this litigation is still 
ongoing.  
   

Due to a condition of the reinstatement and modification agreement that provided that all accrued and unpaid interest through the date 
of the reinstatement and modification would be added to the outstanding principal balance of the promissory note, $48,866 of the $96,248 
accrued interest receivable for the year ended December 31, 2010 was added to the principal balance of the secured real estate loan during 
the year ended December 31, 2010.  
   

The Company recognized a loan loss provision of $356,796 during the year ended December 31, 2011.  
   

The Company had an outstanding interest receivable of $0 as of December 31, 2011 and $22,382 as of December 31, 2010 .  
   
4. REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS  
   
      Underwood Project  
   

On May 19, 2009, SPT Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, closed on the purchase of real property constituting 543 single family 
residential lots, a 9.4 acre park, and over 70 acres of open space on a total of 225 acres of unimproved land commonly referred to as tract 29835 
located in the City of Menifee, Riverside County, California, commonly known as the “Underwood Project.” The purchase price was 
$1,650,000. The purchase was made pursuant to a Purchase Agreement, dated May 13, 2009, by and between SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., 
LLC as buyer and U.S. Bank National Association as seller.  
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U.S. Bank National Association is not affiliated with the Company or any of its affiliates.  
   

The Company’s affiliated advisor, Shopoff Advisors, L.P., received an acquisition fee equal to 3% of the contract purchase price, or 
$49,500, upon consummation of the transaction.  
   

On August 31, 2010, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC closed a secured loan from Cardinal Investment Properties – Underwood, 
L.P. The loan amount was $1,000,000 and was made pursuant to a loan agreement between SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and Cardinal 
Investment Properties – Underwood, L.P. dated August 30, 2010. See note 5 for additional information.  
   

Cardinal Investment Properties – Underwood, L.P. is not affiliated with the Company or any of its affiliates.  
   

On May 10, 2011, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, as seller, sold the Underwood Project to CV Communities, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company, as buyer, 543 single family residential lots, a 9.4 acre park, and over 70 acres of open space on a total of 225 acres of 
unimproved land commonly referred to as tract 29835 located in the City of Menifee, Riverside County, California, commonly known as the 
Underwood Project. The sale was made pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement and joint escrow instructions, dated March 10, 2011, as 
amended. The sales price was $4,500,000 in cash.  
   

The Company’s affiliated advisor, Shopoff Advisors, L.P., received a disposition fee equal to 3% of the contract purchase price, or 
$135,000, upon consummation of the transaction.  
   

As December 31, 2011, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC had incurred, in addition to the purchase price of $1,650,000, an 
additional $448,903 in capitalized project costs including the previously mentioned $49,500 acquisition fee and $135,000 disposition fee 
resulting in a gain on the sale of this asset of approximately $2,401,000.  
   

The sale provided liquidity to the Company in addition to paying off an existing Company notes payable in the amount of $1,000,000, 
thereby reducing the Company’s overall liabilities.  
   

As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s affiliated Advisor, had been paid $83,149 in asset management fees since the acquisition of 
the Underwood Project.  
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      Desert Moon Estates Property  
   

On July 31, 2009, SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC, an entity wholly owned by the Operating Partnership, closed on the purchase of real 
property consisting of a final plat of 739 single family residential lots on a total of 200 acres of unimproved land commonly known as “Desert 
Moon Estates” located in the Town of Buckeye, Maricopa County, Arizona (the “Desert Moon Estates Property”). The purchase price was 
$3,000,000. The purchase was made pursuant to a Purchase Agreement, dated June 29, 2009, by and between SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC as 
buyer and AZPro Developments, Inc., an Arizona corporation as seller. Thereafter, SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC and AZPro Developments, Inc. 
executed a first amendment to the Purchase Agreement modifying the terms of the original Purchase Agreement through the addition of a 
$2,000,000 Secured Promissory Note in favor of AZPro Developments, Inc. (the “Promissory Note”) (see Note 5) and deed of trust wherein 
AZPro Developments, Inc. would act as beneficiary, reducing the cash required to close from $3,000,000 to $1,000,000.  
   

AZPro Developments, Inc. is not affiliated with the Company or any of its affiliates.  
   

At our Desert Moon Estates Property, tax-exempt bond financing is utilized to fund and manage portions of public infrastructure. The 
bonds were issued by the Watson Road Community Facility District (the “CFDs”), independent special-purpose units of city government, 
established and operating in accordance with Title 48, Chapter 4, Article 6, of the Arizona Statutes as amended. The bonds are serviced by 
special assessments levied on certain developable and developed property surrounding and including the Desert Moon Estates Property, and the 
assessments constitute a liability against the developable and developed property and are intended to secure the CFDs’ ability to meet bond 
servicing obligations. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles we record and pay the assessments on parcels owned by the 
Company when such assessments are fixed and determinable. The assessments are not a liability of the Company or any other landowner within 
the CFDs but are obligations secured by the land. For the developable parcels Desert Moon Estate owns within the CFDs, the Company pays the 
assessments on a semi-annual basis until such parcels are sold. After a sale by the Company, the Company no longer pays the assessments on the 
parcels sold and any future assessments become the responsibility of the new owner and its successors in title until the bonds are paid in full.  
   

On January 13, 2011, the Company received a Notice of Potential Sale of Real Estate for Delinquent Special Assessment (or “Notice”) 
from the Watson Road Community Facilities District. This Notice was received when the Company failed to pay a required special assessment 
when due on December 1, 2010. On February 25, 2011, the Company received a Notice of Sale of Real Estate for Delinquent Special 
Assessment (or “Final Notice”) from the Watson Road Community Facilities District. Management paid this past due special assessment on 
March 29, 2011 and the City of Buckeye subsequently informed management that the Desert Moon Estates Property was in current status. See 
Note 9 for additional information.  
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The Company’s affiliated Advisor received an acquisition fee equal to 3% of the contract purchase price, or $90,000, upon 
consummation of the transaction.  
   

As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s affiliated advisor, Shopoff Advisors, L.P., had been paid $145,735 in asset management fees 
since the consummation of the transaction.  
   

As of December 31, 2011, SPT AZ Land Holdings., LLC had incurred, in addition to the purchase price of $3,000,000, an additional 
$1,573,790 in capitalized project costs, and had recognized impairment charges of $897,000.  
    
Springbrook Properties  
   

On September 24, 2009, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, was deeded real property with an existing basis of $2,624,646, from 
SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, which was previously collateral for two separate secured real estate loans originated by SPT Real Estate Finance, 
LLC. The real property received was comprised of approximately 118 acres of vacant and unentitled land, and approximately 6.11 acres of 
vacant and unentitled land, both located near the City of Lake Elsinore, in an unincorporated area of Riverside County, California. Prior to 
September 24, 2009, SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC had entered into two separate Settlement Agreements with Springbrook Investments, L.P. 
(“Springbrook”), which agreed to execute and deliver to SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, grant deeds to the underlying real estate collateral for 
two loans originally made by Vineyard Bank (the “Vineyard Loans”) that were acquired by SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, in consideration for 
the discharge by SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC of all Springbrook’s obligations under the Vineyard Loans. SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC took 
title to the underlying real estate collateral on September 4, 2009.  
   

The Company’s affiliated Advisor did not receive an acquisition fee upon consummation of the transaction.  
   

As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s Advisor had been paid $116,386 in asset management fees since obtaining these properties 
from SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC.  
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 As of December 31, 2011, SPT Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC had incurred, in addition to the assumption of the existing basis of 
$2,624,647 from SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC, an additional $207,027 in capitalized project costs.  

   
Tuscany Valley Properties  

   
On November 5, 2009, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, closed on the purchase of real property, commonly known as “Tuscany 

Valley,” consisting of (a) 519 entitled but unimproved residential lots and 2 commercial lots located in the City of Lake Elsinore, California, and 
(b) 400 acres of unentitled and unimproved land located in the City of Chino Hills, California. The purchase price was $9,600,000.  
   

SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding, Co., LLC subsequently deeded the 400 acres of unentitled and unimproved land located in the City of 
Chino Hills, California to SPT-Chino Hills, LLC, an entity 100% owned by the Operating Partnership.  
   

The purchase was made pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement and joint escrow instructions, dated September 30, 2008 (the 
“Tuscany Valley Purchase Agreement”), by and between the Company’s Advisor and TSG Little Valley L. P., a California limited partnership 
(“TV Seller”), whereby TV Seller agreed to sell and the Company’s Advisor agreed to buy, 163 entitled but unimproved residential lots located 
in the City of Lake Elsinore, California. The contract purchase price was $4,890,000.  
   

The Tuscany Valley Purchase Agreement was subsequently amended by various agreements to postpone the closing date.  
   

On September 3, 2009, the Advisor executed an assignment of purchase and sale agreement whereby the Advisor assigned all of its 
rights, title and interest in the Tuscany Valley Purchase Agreement to SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC.  
   

Also, on September 3, 2009, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC entered into a first amendment to purchase and sale agreement and 
joint escrow instructions with Seller, which amended the Tuscany Valley Purchase Agreement as follows: (a) SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., 
LLC agreed to purchase additional property from Seller consisting of 356 entitled but unimproved, residential lots and 2 commercial lots located 
in the City of Lake Elsinore, California and 400 acres of unentitled and unimproved land located in the City of Chino Hills, California, (b) the 
purchase price was increased to $9,600,000 from $4,890,000, (c) the nonrefundable deposit requirement was increased to $2,000,000 from 
$1,000,000, and (d) the escrow closing date was amended to on or before November 30, 2009.  
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 On October 15, 2009, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC entered into a second amendment to purchase and sale agreement and joint 
escrow instructions with TV Seller to provide that $2,900,000 of the purchase price would be paid by SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC’s 
execution and delivery into escrow of (a) an all-inclusive purchase money note secured by deed of trust (“Promissory Note”) in favor of TV 
Seller, as payee therein, in the principal amount of $2,900,000, and (b) an all-inclusive deed of trust executed by SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding 
Co., LLC in favor of TV Seller, as beneficiary therein, securing the foregoing all-inclusive purchase money note (See Note 5).  
   

The Advisor received an acquisition fee equal to 3% of the contract purchase price, or $288,000, upon consummation of the transaction. 
   

On May 13, 2011, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, as seller, sold to Richland Communities Inc, a Florida corporation, as buyer, 
the Tuscany West portion of the larger Tuscany Valley properties (164 of 519 entitled but unimproved residential lots and 2 commercial lots), 
commonly referred to as tract 25473 located in the City of Lake Elsinore, California. The sale was made pursuant to a purchase and sale 
agreement and joint escrow instructions, dated March 23, 2011, as amended. The sales price was $1,800,000 in cash.  
   

The Company’s affiliated advisor, Shopoff Advisors, L.P., received a disposition fee equal to 3% of the contract purchase price, or 
$54,000, upon consummation of the transaction.  
   

This sale provided liquidity to the Company which was used with other cash to pay outstanding Company liabilities including the pay 
off of an existing Company notes payable in the approximate principal amount of $1,908,000, thereby reducing the Company’s overall liabilities. 
   

At the time of the sale, the property’s basis was comprised of an allocated purchase price of $1,900,000 (a portion of the larger original 
purchase price of $9,600,000), an additional $256,483 in capitalized project costs (including Tuscany West’s allocated portion of the previously 
mentioned $288,000 acquisition fee), including the $54,000 disposition fee and an impairment charge of $335,000, resulting in a loss on the sale 
of this asset of approximately $21,500.  
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 As of December 31, 2011, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC had incurred on the remainder of the Tuscany Valley properties, an 
allocated purchase price of $7,700,000 (a portion of the larger original purchase price of $9,600,000), an additional $992,385 in capitalized 
project costs (including the remainder portion of the previously mentioned $288,000 acquisition fee), county taxes, appraisal expenses, and 
accrued interest on the secured promissory note to TV Seller, and had recognized impairment charges on a portion of the remaining Tuscany 
Valley properties of $1,268,000.  
   

As of the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company’s affiliated Advisor, had been paid $379,472 in asset management fees since the 
consummation of the transaction.  
   

Stevan J. Gromet, President of Portfolio Partners, Inc., a California corporation, the general partner of TV Seller, is a shareholder of the 
Company with ownership of 11,000 shares as of December 31, 2011, which represents approximately 0.53% of our total shares outstanding 
including 21,100 shares purchased by our sponsor, 70,000 vested restricted stock grants issued to our officers and directors, and 61,100 shares of 
our common stock issued to certain accredited investors in a private placement as part of the consideration for the acquisition of land.  
   

Thru June 30, 2011, TV Seller was a shareholder of the Company with ownership of 14,900 shares, which represented approximately 
0.74% of the Company’s total shares outstanding including 21,100 shares purchased by our sponsor and 71,250 vested restricted stock grants 
issued to our officers and directors. In August 2011, TV Seller distributed its 14,900 shares to a limited partner and as of December 31, 2011, no 
longer has any ownership in the Company.  
   
Vantage Point Property  

   
On November 18, 2011, a consolidated affiliate of Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc., SPT-Vantage Point, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company (“Buyer”), closed on the purchase of real property consisting of a 47.9 acre parcel of land zoned commercial/retail and multi-family 
residential, which currently permits 306 residential units and 25 acres of retail land commonly known as “Vantage Point” located in the Town of 
Parker, Douglas County, Colorado.  
   

The purchase was made pursuant to an Agreement to Purchase and Sell Interest In Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate (the “Vantage 
Point Agreement”), dated September 7, 2011, by and between Buyer and Steven F. Dallman (“Seller”).  Under the Vantage Point Agreement, 
Seller agreed to sell to Buyer all of its rights and obligations under an existing real estate contract (a certain Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate, 
dated June 14, 2011, as amended (the “Original Agreement”)), and an escrow agreement between Seller and Lundieck Investments, Ltd.  This 
Vantage Point Agreement allowed the Buyer to purchase the Vantage Point property. The purchase price for the Vantage Point property was 
$4,900,000, comprised of $1,650,000 paid to the Seller and $3,250,000 to be paid to Lundieck Investments, Ltd. On October 21, 2011, Buyer 
and Seller executed a first amendment to the Vantage Point Agreement to extend the due diligence time frame for the Buyer. On October 28, 
2011, Buyer and Seller executed a second amendment to the Vantage Point Agreement to provide for Buyer’s payment of the purchase price 
through a $1,100,100 Second Lien Promissory Note (defined below) and a second lien Deed of Trust. As part of the Original Agreement, 
Lundieck Investments, Ltd. accepted as part of the Buyer’s payment of the purchase price, a $2,600,000 First Lien Promissory Note and Deed of 
Trust (defined below).  
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As part of the overall purchase price, Seller agreed to accept 61,100 shares of the Company’s common stock at $9 per share, (total of 
$549,900), as part of the overall consideration required to close this proposed acquisition.  
   

Shopoff Partners, L.P., an affiliate of the Company, is a member and the manager of SPT-Vantage Point, LLC.  Shopoff Partners, L.P.’s 
ownership percentage of SPT-Vantage Point, LLC is dependent on the level of capital contributed to SPT-Vantage Point, LLC and is anticipated 
to change as the Company contemplates the use of additional joint venture partners to fund a majority of the cash required for this 
project.  Currently one such joint venture partner is an entity that is affiliated with the the Company, the Advisor, and Sponsor.  
   

Seller and Lundieck Investments, Ltd. are not affiliated with Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. or any of its affiliates.  
   

In connection with the Vantage Point Agreement, Buyer executed two first lien promissory notes (the “First Lien Promissory Notes”) in 
favor of Lundieck Investments, Ltd. which in aggregate totaled $2,600,000. One First Lien Promissory Note (the “Tracts A and B Promissory 
Note”), is in the amount of $1,405,560.  The second First Lien Promissory Note (the “Tracts C and D Promissory Note”) is in the amount of 
$1,194,440. Interest on both First Lien Promissory Notes accrues on the principal outstanding from the date of the First Lien Promissory Note at 
a rate of five and one-half percent (5.50%) per annum with interest paid semi-annually on the semi-annual and annual anniversary dates of the 
First Lien Promissory Notes. Buyer agreed to pay a principal pay down of $135,150 on the first through fifth anniversary dates of the First Lien 
Promissory Note for the Tract A and B Promissory Note. Buyer agreed to pay a principal pay down of $114,850 on the first through fifth 
anniversary dates of the Note for the Tract C and D First Lien Promissory Note. On the maturity date of the two First Lien Promissory Notes, 
November 14, 2017, the entire outstanding principal balance and all unpaid interest on the two First Lien Promissory Notes will be due and 
payable in full. The two First Lien Promissory Notes are secured by two first lien Deeds of Trust which encumber separate portions of the 
Vantage Point property. Buyer may prepay in whole or in part the principal amount outstanding under the two First Lien Promissory Notes, 
together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon computed to the date of prepayment and any sums owing to Lundieck Investments, Ltd., 
without penalty or premium.  
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 If Buyer fails to pay any installment of principal or interest when due, Buyer will be considered in default and the First Lien 
Promissory Notes will thereafter bear interest at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum.  
   

In connection with the Vantage Point Agreement, Buyer also executed a $1,100,100 second lien promissory note (the “Second Lien 
Promissory Note”) in favor of Seller. Interest on the Second Lien Promissory Note will accrue on the principal outstanding from the date of the 
Second Lien Promissory Note at a rate of six percent (6.00%) per annum for the first ninety days of the note term and at nine percent (9.00%) 
thereafter. On the maturity date of the Second Lien Promissory Note, 180 days from the close of escrow, the entire outstanding principal balance 
and all unpaid interest on the Second Lien Promissory Note will be due and payable in full. The Second Lien Promissory Note is secured by a 
second lien Deed of Trust which encumbers the entire Vantage Point property. Buyer may prepay in whole or in part the principal amount 
outstanding under the Second Lien Promissory Note, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon computed to the date of prepayment and 
any sums owing to Seller, without penalty or premium.  
   

If Buyer fails to pay any installment of principal or interest when due, Buyer will be considered in default and the principal and all 
accrued interest will thereafter bear interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum until paid in full.   
   

Our Sponsor earned an acquisition fee equal to 2% of the contract purchase price, or $98,000, upon the consummation of the 
transaction. As of December 31, 2011, SPT – Vantage Point, LLC had paid our Sponsor, an affiliated entity of the Advisor, $49,000 of the total 
acquisition fee earned of $98,000.  

   
As of the year ended December 31, 2011, SPT – Vantage Point, LLC had paid our Sponsor, an affiliated entity of the Advisor, $50,000 

in asset management fees since the consummation of the transaction.  
   

As of the year ended December 31, 2011, SPT – Vantage Point, LLC had incurred, in addition to the purchase price of $4,900,000, an 
additional $230,381 in capitalized project costs comprised primarily of the previously mentioned acquisition fee and accrued interest on the 
secured promissory notes to Seller and Lundieck Investments, Ltd.  
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5. NOTES PAYABLE SECURED BY REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT  
   

      Desert Moon Estates Note Payable  
   

As discussed in Note 4 and in connection with the closing of Desert Moon Estates, SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC executed a $2,000,000 
promissory note and deed of trust in favor of AZPro Developments, Inc. The note is secured by a Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents which 
encumbers the Desert Moon Estates Property. SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC may prepay in whole or in part the principal amount outstanding 
under this note, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon computed to the date of prepayment and any sums owing to AZPro 
Developments, Inc., without penalty or premium.  
   

Interest on the Promissory Note accrued on the principal outstanding from the date of the promissory note at a rate of six percent 
(6.00%) per annum. Payments of interest only were due quarterly in arrears on November 1, 2009, February 1, 2010 and May 1, 2010. On the 
original maturity date of this note, July 31, 2010, the entire outstanding principal balance and all unpaid interest on this note was due and payable 
in full.  
   

On March 11, 2010, our affiliate SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC, executed an extension on the existing $2,000,000 secured promissory 
note with AZPro Development Inc. An extension of the maturity date to July 31, 2011 was granted to SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC by AZPro 
Development Inc. in exchange for a principal pay down of $500,000 on or before the original maturity date of July 31, 2010 and a two percent 
increase in the original interest rate beginning on the original maturity date of July 31, 2010. In addition to the principal pay down of $500,000 
on or before the original maturity date of July 31, 2010, SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC agreed to pay current, all project taxes including any 
special assessments. The $500,000 principal pay down date of July 31, 2010 was extended to August 31, 2010. SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC 
paid the principal pay down of $500,000 on September 2, 2010.  
   

On July 31, 2011, our affiliate SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC, executed an additional extension on the existing $2,000,000 secured 
promissory note as previously amended with AZPro Development Inc. A one year extension of the maturity date was granted to SPT AZ Land 
Holdings, LLC by AZPro Development Inc. in exchange for a principal pay down of $300,000 on or before the current maturity date of July 31, 
2011. In addition to the principal pay down of $300,000 on or before the current maturity date of July 31, 2011, SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC 
agreed to pay current, all project taxes including any special assessments. All other terms of the secured promissory note as amended remained 
unchanged. Management made the principal payment of $300,000 on August 5, 2011.  
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If SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC fails to pay any installment of interest by the fifth day of each calendar quarter, AZPro Developments, 
Inc. has the right to assess a late fee equal to 10% of the amount that is delinquent and the interest rate on the entire principal amount outstanding 
will adjust to 12% per annum from the date the delinquent payment was first due until the delinquent payment has been made. Similar penalties 
apply if the principal is not paid upon the maturity date.  
   

For the year ended December 31, 2011, SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC recognized interest expense of $110,268 on the outstanding note 
balance and made interest payments totaling $99,484 to AZPro Developments, Inc.  
   

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the total outstanding principal balances related to this note were $1,200,000 and $1,500,000, 
respectively. This note is due in July 2012.  
   
Tuscany Valley Properties Note Payable  
   

As discussed in Note 4 and in connection with the closing of Tuscany Valley properties, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co. LLC executed 
a $2,900,000 all-inclusive promissory note and deed of trust in favor of TSG Little Valley, L.P.  
   

The note accrued interest at a rate of twelve percent per annum, and had an initial maturity date in twelve months at which time all 
accrued and unpaid interest and principal were due in full. No payments were due during the term of the note. The note with its loan balance of 
$2,900,000 includes the unpaid balance of that certain other promissory note having a loan date of April 3, 2006, in the original principal amount 
of $2,000,000, payable by TSG Little Valley, L.P to 1st Centennial Bank (the “Included Note”). The Included Note is secured by a deed of trust 
dated April 3, 2006 and recorded on April 10, 2006 in the Official Records of Riverside County, California as Instrument No. 2005-0254320. 
The outstanding principal balance on the Included Note as of November 3, 2009 was approximately $1,750,000 and had matured on February 1, 
2009. The current payee under the Included Note is Multibank 2009-1 CRE Venture, LLC.  
   

On March 5, 2010, our affiliate SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, executed a one year extension on the existing $2,900,000 
secured promissory note with TSG Little Valley, L.P. in exchange for a principal pay down of at least $500,000 on or before the original 
maturity date of November 6, 2010 and a two percent increase in the original interest rate beginning on the original maturity date of November 
6, 2010. As of December 31, 2010, a principal pay down of $991,584 had been made on the TSG Little Valley, L.P. promissory note.  
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 Should TSG Little Valley, L.P. fail to pay any installments when due upon the Included Note, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC 
may make such payments directly to payee of the Included Note, and the amount shall be credited to the next following installment or 
installments due under the note. If SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC fails to make any payment when required under the note, TSG Little 
Valley, L.P. has the option to immediately declare all sums due and owing under the note.  
   

On November 10, 2010, the Company received a Notice of Default And Election To Sell Under Deed of Trust (or “Notice”) from First 
American Title Insurance Company. This Notice was received when TSG Little Valley, L.P. failed to pay the outstanding principal balance to 
Multibank 2009-1 CRE Venture, LLC, the current payee (“Lender”) under the Included Note. Prior to receiving this Notice, representatives of 
TSG Little Valley, L.P. had been in discussions and ongoing negotiations with Lender regarding the Included Note with the intent of 
renegotiating the terms of or reaching a settlement on the Included Note. These discussions and ongoing negotiations were unsuccessful and 
TSG Little Valley, L.P. and the Company received the Notice. The Company, when it purchased the Tuscany Valley properties in November 
2009, took ownership through a seller financed all-inclusive promissory note and deed of trust in favor of TSG Little Valley, L.P. that included 
the Lender note. The Company did not received a formal demand from TSG Little Valley, L.P. for payment to Lender. If TSG Little Valley, L.P. 
or the Company had failed to reach a resolution with Lender, the Company could have lost a portion of the Tuscany Valley properties 
(approximately 163 of the 519 lots). Management was in discussions with TSG Little Valley, L.P. regarding the Notice and believed that a 
satisfactory resolution would be reached prior to the completion of the foreclosure process, which was a minimum of 120 days from Notice 
recordation, or November 5, 2010. After January 30, 2011, the Lender had the right to file a Notice of Sale.  
   

On April 28, 2011, upon a request from TSG Little Valley, L.P., the Company made a $100,000 interest payment to TSG Little Valley, 
L.P.  
   

On May 12, 2011, the Company paid all outstanding principal and interest due on the Tuscany Valley properties note payable to TSG 
Little Valley, L.P. (to and including the Included Note), and in return for payment, a full release and reconveyance was executed by TSG Little 
Valley, L.P. and documentation was received from the Lender confirming payoff of the Included Note. The aggregate payment to TSG Little 
Valley, L.P. was $2,046,404 and consisted of $137,988 in accrued and unpaid interest and $1,908,416 in principal.  
   

For the year ended December 31, 2011, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC recognized interest expense of $96,623, on the 
outstanding all-inclusive promissory note and made interest payments totaling $237,988 to TSG Little Valley, L.P.  
   

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the net outstanding balances related to this loan were $0 and $1,908,416, respectfully.  
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Underwood Note Payable  
   

As discussed in Note 1 and in Note 4, on August 31, 2010, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co. LLC (“Borrower”), closed a secured loan 
from Cardinal Investment Properties – Underwood, L.P. (“Lender”). The Lender is not affiliated with the Company. The loan amount was 
$1,000,000 and was made pursuant to a loan agreement between Borrower and Lender dated August 30, 2010.  
   

The loan bore interest at a rate of twelve percent per annum, and had a maturity date in twenty-four months at which time all accrued 
and unpaid interest and principal was due in full. A non-refundable interest payment equal to the first year’s interest for the loan was prepaid out 
of the Loan amount of the initial Loan funding in the amount of $120,000. Thereafter, interest was due and payable quarterly, commencing on 
the date that is six months after the one-year anniversary of the disbursement date. An initial loan fee of five percent of the Loan amount, or 
$50,000, was payable to Lender upon the earliest to occur of (i) full repayment of the loan, (ii) a default by the Borrower under the loan, or (iii) 
the first anniversary date of the Loan. Borrower could extend the loan for up to two additional periods of six months, provided (i) Borrower was 
not in default at the time of the extension, (ii) Borrower gave written notice to Lender of its intent to extend no less than ten days prior to the 
then-current maturity date, (iii) Borrower made payment to Lender of a two percent loan extension fee, based on the then-outstanding loan 
balance, and (iv) Borrower made payment to Lender of any unpaid interest accrued under the loan. Interest accruing under the loan during an 
extension period would be paid monthly in arrears.  
   

The loan was secured by a deed of trust with assignment of rents in favor of Lender on property purchased by the Company on May 19, 
2009. The collateral was comprised of five hundred forty-three unimproved residential lots in the City of Menifee, California (the Underwood 
Project). Borrower agreed to indemnify and hold harmless Lender from and against any and all indemnified costs directly or indirectly arising 
out of or resulting from any hazardous substance being present or released in, on or around, or potentially affecting, any part of the property 
securing the loan.  
   

If Borrower failed to make any payment when required under the promissory note, Lender had the option to immediately declare all 
sums due and owing under the promissory note.  
   

Borrower used the proceeds from this loan (i) to pay a delinquent special assessment from the Watson Road Community Facilities 
District, payable to the City of Buckeye in Arizona, in the approximate amount of $276,434, (ii) to make a $500,000 principal payment to AZPro 
Developments, Inc. as required under a secured promissory note in favor of AZPro Developments, Inc. This payment was originally due July 31, 
2010 but was extended by one month to August 31, 2010, and (iii) for payment of other outstanding liabilities of the Company.  
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 On May 10, 2011, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC sold the Underwood Project to CV Communities, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company not affiliated with the Company. As a condition of this closing, all outstanding principal and interest and unpaid loan fees 
owed on the Underwood note payable were paid in full to Cardinal Investment Properties – Underwood, L.P. and in return for payment, a full 
release and reconveyance was executed by Cardinal Investment Properties – Underwood, L.P. The aggregate payment to Cardinal Investment 
Properties – Underwood, L.P. was $1,050,000.  
   

For the year ended December 31, 2011, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC recognized interest expense of $80,000 on the 
outstanding note balance and reduced the previously mentioned pre-paid interest payment of $120,000 by $80,000 to reflect the interest payment 
to Lender. As of December 31, 2011, the pre-paid interest payment of $120,000 had been reduced to $0.  
   

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the net outstanding balances related to this loan were $0 and $920,000, respectfully.  
   
Vantage Point Note Payable  
   

As discussed in Note 4 and in connection with the closing of the Vantage Point property, SPT – Vantage Point, LLC executed three 
promissory notes; one in the amount of $1,100,100 in favor of Steven F. Dallman (“Seller”) and two in the aggregate amount of $2,600,000 in 
favor of Lundieck Investments, Ltd. and three deeds of trusts, one in favor of the Seller and two in favor of Lundieck Investments, Ltd.  
   

In connection with the Vantage Point Agreement, SPT-Vantage Point, LLC executed two first lien promissory notes (the “First Lien 
Promissory Notes”) in favor of Lundieck Investments, Ltd. which in aggregate total $2,600,000. One First Lien Promissory Note (the “Tracts A 
and B Promissory Note”), is in the amount of $1,405,560.  The second First Lien Promissory Note (the “Tracts C and D Promissory Note”) is in 
the amount of $1,194,440. Interest on both First Lien Promissory Notes accrues on the principal outstanding from the date of the First Lien 
Promissory Note at a rate of five and one-half percent (5.50%) per annum with interest paid semi-annually on the semi-annual and annual 
anniversary dates of the First Lien Promissory Notes. SPT-Vantage Point, LLC agreed to pay a principal pay down of $135,150 on the first 
through fifth anniversary dates of the First Lien Promissory Note for the Tract A and B Promissory Note. SPT-Vantage Point, LLC agreed to pay 
a principal pay down of $114,850 on the first through fifth anniversary dates of the Note for the Tract C and D First Lien Promissory Note. On 
the maturity date of the two First Lien Promissory Notes, November 14, 2017, the entire outstanding principal balance and all unpaid interest on 
the two First Lien Promissory Notes will be due and payable in full. The two First Lien Promissory Notes are secured by two first lien Deeds of 
Trust which encumber separate portions of the Vantage Point property. Buyer may prepay in whole or in part the principal amount outstanding 
under the two First Lien Promissory Notes, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon computed to the date of prepayment and any sums 
owing to Lundieck Investments, Ltd., without penalty or premium.  
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 If SPT-Vantage Point, LLC fails to pay any installment of principal or interest when due, SPT-Vantage Point, LLC will be considered 
in default and the First Lien Promissory Note will thereafter bear interest at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum.  
   

In connection with the Vantage Point Agreement, SPT-Vantage Point, LLC also executed a $1,100,100 second lien promissory note 
(the “Second Lien Promissory Note”) in favor of Seller. Interest on the Second Lien Promissory Note will accrue on the principal outstanding 
from the date of the Second Lien Promissory Note at a rate of six percent (6.00%) per annum for the first ninety days of the note term and at nine 
percent (9.00%) thereafter. On the maturity date of the Second Lien Promissory Note, 180 days from the close of escrow, the entire outstanding 
principal balance and all unpaid interest on the Second Lien Promissory Note will be due and payable in full. The Second Lien Promissory Note 
is secured by a second lien Deed of Trust which encumbers the entire Vantage Point property. SPT-Vantage Point, LLC may prepay in whole or 
in part the principal amount outstanding under the Second Lien Promissory Note, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon computed to 
the date of prepayment and any sums owing to Seller, without penalty or premium.  
   

If SPT-Vantage Point, LLC fails to pay any installment of principal or interest when due, SPT-Vantage Point, LLC will be considered 
in default and the principal and all accrued interest will thereafter bear interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum until paid in 
full.       
   

For the year ended December 31, 2011, SPT – Vantage Point, LLC recognized interest expense of $7,671 on the outstanding note 
balance and made interest payments totaling $0 to Seller.  
   

For the year ended December 31, 2011, SPT – Vantage Point, LLC recognized interest expense of $16,618 on the outstanding note 
balances and made interest payments totaling $0 to Lundieck Investments, Ltd.  
   

As of December 31, 2011, the total outstanding principal balance related to the Seller note was $1,100,100. This note is due in May 
2012.  
   

As of December 31, 2011, the total outstanding principal balance related to the Lundieck Investments, Ltd notes was $2,600,000. These 
notes are due in November 2017.  
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Future Minimum Principal Payments  
   

Future minimum principal payments due on notes payable as of December 31, 2012 and for the years ending on December 31 
approximated the following:  
   

   
6 . STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

   
Common Stock  

   
On November 27, 2006, The Shopoff Group L.P., the Company’s sponsor, purchased 21,100 shares of the Company’s common stock 

for total cash consideration of $200,450.   
   
On August 29, 2007, the Company commenced a best-efforts initial public offering of 2,000,000 shares of its common stock at an 

offering price of $9.50 per share. If 2,000,000 shares were sold, the offering price would then increase to $10.00 per share until an additional 
18,100,000 shares of common stock were sold or the offering terminated. The offering terminated on August 29, 2010.  
   

As of August 29, 2010, the end of the offering period, the Company had 80,600 shares of common stock at a price of $9.50 and 
18,100,000 shares at a price of $10.00 remaining for sale and subsequently proceeded with the deregistration of these shares totaling 18,180,600 
through the filing of a post effective amendment number 7 with the SEC. The SEC declared this post effective amendment number 7 effective on 
September 7, 2010.  
    

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had sold and accepted 1,919,400 shares of its common stock for $18,234,300, all of 
which were sold during the Company's initial public offering. This amount excludes 21,100 shares issued to The Shopoff Group L.P., 70,000 
shares of vested restricted stock previously issued to certain officers and directors, and 61,100 shares of our common stock issued to certain 
accredited investors in a private placement as part of the consideration for the acquisition of land.  
    

  

2012 $ 2,550,100 
2013   250,000 
Thereafter   2,100,000 
  $ 4,900,100 
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2007 Equity Incentive Plan  
   
On August 29, 2008, the Company adopted the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan provides for grants of stock options, 

stock appreciation rights (SARs), restricted stock and performance shares (sometimes referred to individually or collectively as “Awards”) to the 
Company’s nonemployee directors, officers, employees, and consultants. Stock options may be either “incentive stock options,” as defined in 
Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code (ISOs), or nonqualified stock options (NQSOs).  
   

The Plan reserves 1,655,000 shares for issuance and to serve as the underlying equity instrument of all Awards granted under the Plan. 
The Company registered such shares with the Securities and Exchange Commission following the commencement of the offering by filing Form 
S-8 on August 5, 2008. When Awards made under the plan expire, or are forfeited or cancelled, the underlying shares will become available for 
future Awards under the Plan. Shares awarded and delivered under the Plan may be authorized but unissued, or reacquired shares.  
   

On October 14, 2011, the Company filed post effective amendment No. 1 to form S-8 registration statement, filed for the purpose of 
terminating the registration statement and deregistering any unissued shares previously registered under the registration statement and issuable 
under the plan. No shares have been issued under the plan since August 2010.  

   
Restricted Stock Grants  

   
The Company, under its 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, approved the issuance of restricted stock grants to its officers and non-officer 

directors on August 29, 2008, the date the Company reached the minimum offering amount of $16,150,000. The restricted stock grants, which 
aggregated 173,750 shares and have an individual value of $9.50 per share, have a vesting schedule of five years for officers and four years for 
non-officer directors. On August 29, 2009, 2010, and 2011 respectively, 35,000 shares of restricted stock grants to officers and non-officer 
directors vested. On September 23, 2010 and 2011 respectively, 1,250 shares of restricted stock grants to one non-officer director vested. During 
the year ended December 31, 2009, 5,000 shares of restricted stock were forfeited, and 5,000 shares of restricted stock were subsequently 
reissued. The forfeiture and reissuance were the result of the departure of one of our directors and her subsequent replacement as director. 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, 37,500 shares of vested restricted stock were forfeited and are held by the Company as treasury 
stock. The forfeitures were the result of voluntary decisions by certain officers and directors. As of December 31, 2011, 66,250 shares of 
restricted stock remained unvested and outstanding. As of December 31, 2010, 102,500 shares of restricted stock remained unvested and 
outstanding.  
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The 107,500 vested restricted stock grants were recorded as a credit of $1,075 to common stock for the par value of the vested restricted 
stock grants and $1,020,175 to additional paid-in capital in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.   

   
The 37,500 shares of restricted stock that were forfeited and not reissued were recorded as a debit of $375 to treasury stock for the par 

value of the restricted stock grants forfeited and a credit of $375 to additional paid in capital in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  
   

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recognized compensation expense of $344,376 comprised of accrued 
compensation expenses for restricted stock grants that have not yet vested but whose expense is being recognized over the service period. Of the 
$344,376 accrued compensation expenses for restricted stock grants, $230,574 relates to restricted stock grants that vested during the year ended 
December 31, 2011 and $113,802 relates to restricted stock grants that have not yet vested but whose expense is being recognized over the 
service period. The unvested restricted stock grant service period related to the compensation expense of $113,802 ends August 29, 2012.  
   
Stock Option Grants  
   

The Company issues stock grants under its 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. The options granted vest in 4 or 5 equal installments beginning 
on the grant date and on each anniversary of the grant date over a period of 3 or 4 years. The options have a contractual term of 10 years. A 
summary of the Company’s common stock option activity as of and for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 is presented below.  
   

   

  

    
Number of  

Shares     

Weighted  
Average  
Exercise  

Price   
Outstanding at December 31, 2009      78,000     $ 9.50   
Granted     45,750     $ 9.50   
Outstanding at December 31, 2010     123,750     $ 9.50   
Granted     —    $ —  
Outstanding at December 31, 2011     123,750     $ 9.50   
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 The fair value of stock-based awards is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-Scholes model requires 
subjective assumptions, including future stock price volatility and expected time to exercise, which greatly affect the calculated values. There is 
insufficient trading history in the Company’s common stock to allow for a historically based assessment of volatility. Furthermore, the 
Company’s shares are not traded on an exchange. The expected volatility is therefore based on the historical volatility of publicly traded real 
estate investment trusts with investment models and dividend policies deemed comparable to those of the Company. In accordance with the 
guidance in the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) topic 718-S99 (originally issued as the SEC’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110) 
the expected term of options is the average of the vesting period and the expiration date. The risk-free rate selected to value any particular grant 
is based on the U.S. Treasury rate that corresponds to the pricing term of the grant effective as of the date of the grant. The Company does not 
expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future, thus the dividend yield is assumed to be zero. These factors could change in the future, 
affecting the determination of stock-based compensation expense for grants made in future periods.  
   

The Company did not grant any common stock options during the year ended December 31, 2011.  
   

The following table presents details of the assumptions used to calculate the weighted-average grant date fair value of common stock 
options granted by the Company:  
   

   
The following is a summary of stock option expense for the periods indicated which was recorded to additional paid-in capital in the 

accompanying consolidated balance sheets:  
   

   
Based on the Company’s historical turnover rates and the vesting pattern of the options, management has assumed that forfeitures are 

not significant in the determination of stock option expense.  
   

  

    Year Ended     Year Ended   
    December 31, 2011     December 31, 2010   
Expected volatility     —%     75 % 
Expected term     —      6.8 yrs   
Risk-free interest rate     —%     1.95 % 
Dividend yield     —%     —% 
Weighted –average grant date fair value   $ —    $ 6.34   

    Year Ended     Year Ended   
    December 31, 2011     December 31, 2010   
Stock Option Expense   $ 169,972     $ 191,677   
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Based on the Company’s board of directors approval of a basic estimated value per share of the Company’s common stock of $6.56, 

approved by the Company’s board of directors on February 20, 2012, at December 31, 2011, the aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding 
at December 31, 2011 and 2010, was zero.  

   
Options outstanding that have vested and are expected to vest as of December 31, 2011 are as follows:  
   

   
7. OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
   

The Company’s Advisor and affiliated entities incurred organizational and offering costs on the Company’s behalf. Pursuant to a 
written agreement, such entities accepted responsibility for such costs and expenses until the Company’s Registration Statement was declared 
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and the minimum offering amount was raised. However, at no time would the 
Company’s obligation for such organizational and offering costs and expenses exceed 12.34% of the total proceeds raised in the offering, as 
more fully disclosed in the Company’s Registration Statement. We were allowed to reimburse the Advisor up to 15% of the gross offering 
proceeds during the offering period, however the Advisor was required to repay us for any organizational and offering costs and expenses 
reimbursed to it by us that exceeded 12.34% of the gross offering proceeds within 60 days of the close of the month in which the offering 
terminated. The Advisory Agreement dated August 29, 2007 as amended, entered into between us, the Operating partnership and the Advisor, 
stated that the Advisor had 60 days from the end of the month in which the offering terminated to reimburse us for any organizational and 
offering expenses in excess of the 12.34% limit. The offering terminated on August 29, 2010 and as of that date, we had reimbursed the Advisor 
approximately $381,000 in excess of the 12.34% limit. Such reimbursement was due us on October 31, 2010. The $381,000 was recorded as due 
from related party with an offset to additional paid-in-capital in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2011, we 
had received the $381,000 due from the Advisor and affiliated entities.  
   
As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, such costs and expenses approximated $5,286,000. Of the approximately $5,286,000 incurred 
by the Advisor and its affiliates, the Company has reimbursed them approximately $2,251,000. The $2,251,000 of reimbursed organizational and 
offering costs were netted against additional paid-in capital in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  
   

  

    
Number of  

Shares     

Weighted  
Average  
Exercise  

Price     

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining  
Contractual  

Term in  
Years   

Vested     69,400     $ 9.50       8.0   
Expected to vest     54,350       9.50       8.1   
Total     123,750       9.50       8.0   

F- 44 



   

SHOPOFF PROPERTIES TRUST, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

December 31, 2011 and 2010  

   
On November 27, 2006, the Advisor contributed $100 for a 1% limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership. Such 

investment is reflected as a non-controlling interest in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.  
   

The sole general partner of the Advisor is wholly owned by the Shopoff Trust. William and Cindy Shopoff are the sole trustees of the 
Shopoff Trust. The Advisor and its affiliates will receive substantial compensation and fees for services relating to the investment and 
management of the Company’s assets. Such fees, which were not negotiated on an arm’s-length basis, will be paid regardless of the performance 
of the real estate investments acquired or the quality of the services provided to the Company.  
   

The Shopoff Trust is also the sole stockholder of Shopoff Securities, Inc., the Company’s sole broker-dealer engaged for the initial 
public offering described above. Shopoff Securities, Inc. (which was formed in September 2006) did not receive any selling commissions in 
connection with the offering, but was entitled to receive a fixed monthly marketing fee of $100,000 from the Company’s Sponsor and 
reimbursements from the Company for expenses incurred in connection with the sale of shares. The $100,000 fixed monthly marketing fee and 
reimbursements from the Company for expenses incurred in connection with the sale of shares was not due and payable from the Sponsor to 
Shopoff Securities, Inc. until the completion of the offering and was contingent upon a determination by the Sponsor, in its sole and absolute 
discretion, that the payment of the fixed monthly marketing fee would not result in total underwriting compensation to Shopoff Securities, Inc. 
exceeding the amount which is permitted under the rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority. As of December 31, 2011, the offering 
had been completed and the Sponsor had completed its obligations to Shopoff Securities Inc., analyzing whether a payment to Shopoff Securities 
Inc. would exceed the total underwriting compensation permitted under the rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority. The Sponsor 
determined that a reduced marketing fee payment to Shopoff Securities Inc. was appropriate in order for Shopoff Securities Inc. not to exceed 
the total underwriting compensation permitted under the rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.  
   

The relationship between the Company and the Advisor is governed by an advisory agreement (the “Advisory Agreement”). Under the 
terms of the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day operations of the Company and has the authority to 
carry out all the objectives and purposes of the Company. The Advisor has a fiduciary responsibility to the Company and its stockholders in 
carrying out its duties under the Advisory Agreement. In providing advice and services, the Advisor shall not (i) engage in any activity which 
would require it to be registered as an “Investment Advisor,” as that term is defined in the Investment Advisors Act of 1940, or in any state 
securities law or (ii) cause the Company to make such investments as would cause the Company to become an “Investment Company,” as that 
term is defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940. The Company’s Board of Directors has the right to revoke the Advisor’s authority at 
any time.  
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In accordance with the Advisory Agreement, the Company will pay the Advisor the following fees:  

   

   

   

   

   

  

• Acquisition and Advisory Fees : 3% of, with respect to any real estate asset or real estate-related investment acquired by the Company 
directly or indirectly, the contract purchase price of the underlying property. 

• Debt Financing Fee : 1% of the amount available under any loan or line of credit made available to the Company upon the receipt of 
the proceeds from such loan or line of credit. 

• Asset Management Fee : a monthly payment equal to one-twelfth of 2% of (i) the aggregate asset value for operating assets and (ii) the 
total contract price plus capitalized entitlement and project related costs for real estate assets held for less than or equal to one year by 
the Company, directly or indirectly, as of the last day of the preceding month other than a real estate-related investment and (iii) the 
appraised value as determined from time to time for real estate assets held for greater than one year by the Company, directly or 
indirectly, as of the last day of the preceding month other than a real estate-related investment and (iv) the appraised value of the 
underlying property, for any real estate-related investment held by the Company directly or indirectly, as of the last day of the preceding 
month, in the case of subsection (iv) not to exceed one-twelfth of 2% of the funds advanced by the Company for the purchase of the real 
estate-related investment. 

• Disposition Fees : equal to (i) in the case of the sale of any real estate asset, other than real estate-related investments, the lesser of 
(a) one-half of the competitive real estate commission paid up to 3% of the contract price or, if none is paid, the amount that 
customarily would be paid, or (b) 3% of the contract price of each real estate asset sold, and (ii) in the case of the sale of any real estate-
related investments, 3% of the sales price. Any disposition fee may be paid in addition to real estate commissions paid to non-affiliates, 
provided that the total real estate commissions (including such disposition fee) paid to all persons by the Company for each real estate 
asset, upon disposition thereof, shall not exceed an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 6% of the aggregate contract price of each real 
estate asset or (ii) the competitive real estate commission for each real estate asset. The Company will pay the disposition fees for a 
property at the time the property is sold. 
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For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company incurred $98,000 in acquisition and advisory fees earned by its Advisor. For the 

year ended December 31, 2010, the Company incurred $0 in acquisition and advisory fees earned by its Advisor.  
   
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company incurred $370,696 in asset management fees earned by its Advisor. For the year ended 
December 31, 2010, the Company incurred $378,450 in asset management fees earned by its Advisor.  
   

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company incurred $189,000 in disposition fees earned by its Advisor. For the year ended 
December 31, 2010, the Company incurred $66,953 in disposition fees earned by its Advisor.  
   
8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
   

FINRA Matter  
   

During 2009, our Advisor advised us that FINRA examined Shopoff Securities, Inc.’s (“Shopoff Securities”) records as part of its 
routine sales practice and financial/operational examination for the purpose of meeting applicable regulatory mandates and providing Shopoff 
Securities with an assessment as to its compliance with applicable securities rules and regulations. Shopoff Securities was the Company’s 
broker-dealer for its public offering. On December 29, 2009, FINRA issued an examination report, which included certain cautionary items that 
did not need to be included in the Central Registration Depository (the securities industry online registration and licensing database) nor did they 
need to be reported on Shopoff Securities’ Form BD or Form U4 (each, a Uniform Application for Broker-Dealer Registration used by broker-
dealers to register and update their information with the SEC and FINRA, respectively). Additionally, the examination report included a referral 
of issues related to our offering to a separate examination. This separate examination is ongoing and as of the date of this filing, neither the 
Company nor Shopoff Securities has received further communication from FINRA regarding this separate examination. The Company does not 
know when the examination will be resolved or what, if any, actions FINRA may require the Company to take as part of that resolution. This 
examination could result in fines, penalties or administrative remedies or no actions asserted against the Company. Because the Company cannot 
at this time assess the outcome of such examination by FINRA, if any, we have not accrued any loss contingencies in accordance with GAAP.  
   

  

• Additional Fees : The Advisory Agreement includes certain other fees that will be payable to the Advisor upon the occurrence of certain 
potential events such as listing on a national securities exchange or termination of the Advisory Agreement. 
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Winchester Ranch (Pulte Home Project)  

   
On December 31, 2008, SPT-SWRC, LLC, closed on the acquisition of certain parcels of land (the “Pulte Home Project”) pursuant to a 

Purchase Agreement, dated December 23, 2008, with Pulte Home Corporation, a Michigan corporation (“Pulte Home”), an entity unaffiliated 
with the Company and its affiliates. On February 27, 2009, SPT-SWRC, LLC entered into a purchase and sale agreement to sell the Pulte Home 
Project to Khalda Development, Inc. (“Khalda”), an entity unaffiliated with the Company and its affiliates. The transaction closed escrow on 
March 20, 2009.  
   

A previously owned real estate property known as the “Pulte Home Project” was the subject of a dispute regarding obligations retained 
by both Pulte Home, when it sold the Winchester Ranch project to SPT SWRC, LLC, on December 31, 2008, and by SPT SWRC, LLC when it 
resold the Winchester Ranch project to Khalda on March 20, 2009, to complete certain improvements, such as grading and infrastructure (the 
“Improvements”). Both sales were made subject to the following agreements which, by their terms, required the Improvements to be made: (i) a 
Reconveyance Agreement, dated November 15, 2007, by and among Pulte Home and the prior owners of the Winchester Ranch project — 
Barratt American Incorporated, Meadow Vista Holdings, LLC (“Meadow Vista”) and Newport Road 103, LLC (“Newport”) (the 
“Reconveyance Agreement”), and (ii) a letter agreement, dated December 30, 2008, executed by SPT SWRC, LLC, Meadow Vista, and 
Newport, and acknowledged by Pulte Home (the “Subsequent Letter Agreement”). Meadow Vista and Newport, as joint claimants (the 
“Claimants”) against Pulte Home and SPT SWRC, LLC, initiated binding arbitration in an effort to (1) require Pulte Home to reaffirm its 
obligations under the Reconveyance Agreement and the Subsequent Letter Agreement to make the Improvements in light of the subsequent 
transfer of ownership of the Winchester Ranch project to Khalda, (2) require that certain remedial measures be taken to restore the site to a more 
marketable condition, and (3) for damages. Neither SPT SWRC, LLC nor Pulte Home took the position that their respective transfers of the 
project had released them from the obligation to make the Improvements, and the current owner, Khalda, has not failed to, or refused to conduct 
the Improvements required in the Reconveyance Agreement. A settlement was reached that did not require any substantive action by SPT 
SWRC, LLC at this time; however, the issue of attorney fees was deferred.  Meadow Vista and Newport sought approximately $115,000 in 
attorneys’ fees and costs from SPT SWRC, LLC, and that claimed amount could have increased somewhat as the dispute continued.  In addition, 
Pulte Home could have sought indemnity from SPT SWRC for its attorneys’ fees and costs, as well as any attorneys’ fees and costs it paid to 
Meadow Vista and Newport, which were unknown, but most likely would not have exceeded $200,000 combined.  On December 22, 2011, SPT 
SWRC, LLC settled this dispute over attorneys fees and costs with Meadow Vista, Newport, and Pulte by agreeing to pay $70,000 to Meadow 
Vista and Newport (combined).  Payment of $70,000 pursuant to the settlement was made by SPT SWRC, LLC on February 17, 2012.  The 
arbitration initiated by Meadow Vista and Newport was thereafter concluded.  For any amounts  of attorneys’ fees incurred or paid by SPT 
SWRC, LLC, SPT SWRC, LLC may seek indemnity from Khalda.  
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Management had previously concluded that it was probable the Company would incur a loss related to the arbitration proceeding and the amount 
of the loss could be estimated; as such the Company recorded a legal settlement expense of $200,000 as of September 30, 2011. This estimated 
legal settlement expense of $200,000 was subsequently reduced to $70,000 once a settlement over attorneys fees and costs was completed.  
   

Wasson Canyon Project  
   

On April 17, 2009, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC closed on the acquisition of real property (“Wasson Canyon Project”) 
pursuant to a Purchase Agreement, dated April 14, 2009, with MS Rialto Wasson Canyon CA, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, an 
entity unaffiliated with the Company and its affiliates. The purchase price of the Wasson Canyon Project was $650,000. On December 8, 2009, 
SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC entered into a purchase and sale agreement to sell the Wasson Canyon Project to D. R. Horton Los 
Angeles Holding Company Inc., a California corporation, an entity unaffiliated with the Company and its affiliates. The contract sales price was 
$2,231,775 and the transaction closed escrow on February 3, 2010. The Company recognized a gain on sale of the Wasson Canyon Project of 
approximately $744,000.   
   

When SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC originally acquired the Wasson Canyon Project on April 17, 2009, pursuant to the 
Purchase Agreement, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC agreed to replace existing subdivision improvement agreements (“SIA’s”) and 
related bonds within 180 days of the closing and executed a deed of trust in the amount of $650,000 securing this obligation. This obligation is 
customary in transactions of this type. SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC subsequently finished processing bond reductions and completed 
the replacement of all bonds and SIA’s originally posted by MS Rialto Wasson Canyon CA, LLC. In the process of satisfying its obligation to 
replace existing SIA’s and bonds, SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC agreed to provide letters of credit to the surety underwriting the bonds 
to satisfy the surety’s collateral requirement which was an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the bond amounts. As of December 31, 2011 
SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., had letters of credit in the amount of $80,845 that remain outstanding.  
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When D. R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company Inc., a California corporation, an entity unaffiliated with the Company and its 

affiliates was sold the Wasson Canyon Project, D.R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company Inc., did not assume SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding 
Co., LLC’s obligation to replace existing SIA's and related bonds but did agree to reimburse SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC for the actual 
amount of premiums for the bonds incurred by SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC commencing on the later of (i) the date of the close of 
escrow and (ii) the date bond reductions are completed. D.R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company Inc.’s obligation to reimburse SPT-Lake 
Elsinore Holding Co., LLC for the actual amount of the premiums will continue until D.R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company Inc. has 
completed certain adjacent improvement obligations. D.R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company Inc also agreed to assume the obligation for 
typical repair and replacement of the improvements immediately adjacent to the lots as required by the SIA’s to the extent the improvements are 
damaged following the close of escrow. D.R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company Inc also agreed to repair any damage to the improvements 
that are not immediately adjacent to the lots to the extent damage is caused by D.R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company Inc or its agents, 
employees or contractors. To secure D.R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company Inc obligations to timely complete the adjacent improvement 
obligations, D.R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company Inc agreed to deliver to SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC a letter of credit in the 
amount of $102,000. If D.R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company Inc defaults on its obligations to timely perform the adjacent improvement 
obligations, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC has the right to draw on the letter of credit to complete the adjacent improvement obligations 
to the extent necessary to cause the bonds to be released.  
   

It is unknown how long SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC will be required to maintain the letters of credit in the amount of $80,845 
as reduction of these letters of credit is dependent on D.R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company Inc. continued development of the Wasson 
Canyon Project and the County of Riverside, Transportation And Land Management Agency who will ultimately approve the elimination of the 
bonding requirement for the Wasson Canyon Project.  
   

Economic Dependency  
   

The Company is dependent on the Advisor and the broker-dealer for certain services that are essential to the Company, including 
communications with Company shareholders; the identification, evaluation, negotiation, purchase, and disposition of properties and other 
investments; management of the daily operations of the Company’s real estate portfolio; and other general and administrative responsibilities. In 
the event that these companies are unable to provide the respective services, the Company will be required to obtain such services from other 
sources.  
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Environmental  
   

As an owner of real estate, the Company is subject to various environmental laws of federal, state and local governments. Compliance 
with existing environmental laws is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of 
operations.  
   

Legal Matters  
   

From time to time, the Company may be party to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of its business. Except as described 
previously under Winchester Ranch, management is not aware of any legal proceedings of which the outcome is reasonably likely to have a 
material adverse effect on its results of operations or financial condition. Although the Company is not subject to any legal proceedings, its 
subsidiary, SPT-SWRC, LLC was the subject of a binding arbitration proceeding as described above under “Winchester Ranch (Pulte Home 
Project)”, however this proceeding resulted in a settlement which did not require any monetary or other obligations from the Company although 
the Company did pay $70,000 to resolve an outstanding issue relating to the payment of legal fees. The Company believes the binding arbitration 
proceeding will have no material adverse effect on its results of operations or financial condition.  
   
           Specific Performance  

   
When SPT-SWRC, LLC purchased the Pulte Home Project on December 31, 2008, SPT-SWRC, LLC agreed as a condition of 

ownership to assume responsibility of a specific performance requirement as detailed in the Reconveyance Agreement, an assignment of which 
was an exhibit in the original Purchase Agreement. The requirement obligates SPT-SWRC, LLC to complete specific development requirements 
on adjacent parcels of land not owned by SPT-SWRC, LLC. Currently the primary obligor of this specific development requirement is Khalda, 
through its purchase of said property from SPT-SWRC, LLC on March 20, 2009 and subsequent assumption of the Reconveyance Agreement. If 
Khalda fails to perform its obligations under the assumed Reconveyance Agreement, then the obligee could look to SPT-SWRC, LLC as a 
remedy.  
   

The monetary exposure under these obligations, if any, to SPT-SWRC, LLC cannot be determined at this time.  
   
9. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  
   

Note Receivable  
   

On April 4, 2012, one of the original guarantors of the secured note to Mesquite Ventures I, LLC, filed personal bankruptcy to avoid a 
pending foreclosure. Previously, this same guarantor had placed a related business entity into bankruptcy to avoid a similar foreclosure action. 
The Company was notified of the personal bankruptcy filing by this guarantor. Management has commenced discussions with Company legal 
counsel regarding this recent bankruptcy filing and its impact on the Company’s continued collection efforts on the Mesquite Ventures I, LLC 
secured note. Management does not believe that additional impairment of the note is required as (i) the guarantor’s personal bankruptcy does not 
impact the collateral securing the note (ii) there are three guarantors on this note in addition to the guarantor who filed personal bankruptcy that 
the Company can look to for payment, and (iii) the guarantor who filed personal bankruptcy has indicated to management that he is currently 
working on multiple funding solutions in order to payoff this note.  
   

Desert Moon Estates Property  
   

On February 13, 2012, the Company received a Notice of Potential Sale of Real Estate for Delinquent Special Assessment (or “Notice”) 
from the Watson Road Community Facilities District. This Notice was received when the Company failed to pay a required special assessment 
when due on December 1, 2011. Management paid this past due special assessment on February 17, 2012 and the City of Buckeye subsequently 
informed management that the Desert Moon Estates Property was in current status.  
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Note Payable  
   

On February 17, 2012, SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC (“Borrower”), a Delaware limited liability company and wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company’s affiliate, Shopoff Partners, L.P., closed a secured loan from Cardinal Investment Properties – Ramsgate, L.P. 
(“Lender”). The loan amount was $800,000 and was made pursuant to a loan agreement between Borrower and Lender dated February 15, 2012 
(the “Loan”).  
   

The Loan bears interest at a rate of twelve percent per annum, and has a maturity date in twelve months (February 2013), at which time 
all accrued and unpaid interest and principal is due in full. Interest is due and payable quarterly, commencing on the date that is one month after 
the disbursement date and continuing thereafter. A service fee of five percent of the Loan amount, or $40,000, was deemed earned upon the 
funding of the Loan and was paid to Lender at the time of the disbursement of funds to Borrower. Borrower may extend the Loan for up to one 
additional period of six months, provided (i) Borrower is not in default at the time of the extension, (ii) Borrower gives written notice to Lender 
of its intent to extend no less than ten days prior to the then-current maturity date, (iii) Borrower makes payment to Lender of a two percent Loan 
Extension Fee, based on the then-outstanding Loan balance, and (iv) Borrower makes payment to Lender of any unpaid interest accrued under 
the Loan. Interest accruing under the Loan during an extension period shall be paid monthly in arrears. The Loan may be prepaid in whole or in 
part without penalty before the maturity date. However, in no event shall the total cumulative interest payable with respect to the loan be less 
than $72,000, regardless of when the Loan is paid.  
   

The Loan is secured by a deed of trust with assignment of rents in favor of Lender on the remaining property originally purchased by 
the Company on November 5, 2009, referred to as Tuscany Valley. The Tuscany Valley properties are comprised of three hundred fifty-five 
entitled but unimproved residential lots and 2 commercial lots located in the City of Lake Elsinore, California. Borrower has agreed to indemnify 
and hold harmless Lender from and against any and all indemnified costs directly or indirectly arising out of or resulting from any hazardous 
substance being present or released in, on or around, or potentially affecting, any part of the property securing the loan.  
   

The Loan is subject to a limited recourse guaranty in favor of Lender executed by William A. Shopoff, the Company’s President and 
Chief Executive Officer, as an individual guarantor.  
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If Borrower fails to make any payment when required under the promissory note, Lender has the option to immediately declare all sums 

due and owing under the promissory note.  
   

Borrower plans to use the proceeds from this Loan (i) to pay a delinquent special assessment from the Watson Road Community 
Facilities District, payable to the Town of Buckeye in Arizona, in the approximate amount of $136,000 (ii) to make a $70,000 settlement 
payment to attorneys representing claimants in an arbitration matter involving a prior property owned by an affiliated entity of the Company, (iii) 
for payment of certain other outstanding liabilities of the Company, and (iv) reserves for certain projected future Company liabilities.  

   
Other – Estimated Value Per Share  
   

On February 20, 2012, the Company’s board of directors approved a basic estimated value per share of the Company’s common stock 
of $6.56 and a fully diluted estimated value per share of the Company’s common stock of $6.24 based on an equal weighted average of (i) the 
estimated value of the Company’s assets less the estimated value of the Company’s liabilities, or adjusted net asset value method, and (ii) the 
present value of future expected income of the Company, discounted for risk, or discounted cash flow method, divided by the actual number of 
shares outstanding for the basic estimated value per share and anticipated number of shares outstanding for the fully diluted estimated value per 
share, all as of December 31, 2011. The Company provided this estimated value per share to assist broker dealers that participated in the 
Company’s initial public offering in meeting their customer account statement reporting obligations under the National Association of Securities 
Dealers Conduct Rule 2340 as required by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”).  
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.  
   

   

  

Signature   Title   Date 
          
/s/  WILLIAM A. SHOPOFF   President, Chief Executive Officer and   April 6, 2012 
     Chairman of the Board of Directors     
William A. Shopoff         
          
/s/  KEVIN M. BRIDGES   Director, Principal Financial Officer   April 6, 2012 
          
Kevin M. Bridges         
          
/s/  EDWARD FITZPATRICK   Executive Vice President and Director   April 6, 2012 
          
Edward Fitzpatrick         
          
/s/  JEFFREY W. SHOPOFF   Director   April 6, 2012 
          
Jeffrey W. Shopoff         
          
/s/  GLENN PATTERSON   Director   April 6, 2012 
          
Glenn Patterson         
          
/s/   PATRICK MEYER   Director   April 6, 2012 
          
Patrick Meyer         
          
/s/  STUART MCMANUS   Director   April 6, 2012 
          
Stuart McManus         
          
/s/  MELANIE BARNES   Director   April 6, 2012 
          
Melanie Barnes         
          
/s/  KERRY VANDELL   Director   April 6, 2012 
          
Kerry Vandell         
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1.1   Broker-Dealer Agreement between Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. and Shopoff Securities, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 1.1 on August 16, 

2007 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Registration No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein 
by reference). 

      
3.1   Charter of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.1 on November 30, 2006 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Registration Statement on 

Form S-11(Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

3.2   Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
3.3   Bylaws of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.2 on November 30, 2006 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Registration Statement on 

Form S-11(Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

3.4   Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.4 on June 22, 2007 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-11(Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
3.5   Agreement of Limited Partnership of Shopoff Partners (filed as Exhibit 3.5 on June 6, 2007 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s 

Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

3.6   Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.3 on May 1, 2009 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Post Effective 
Amendment No. 3 (Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
4.1   Form of Registrant’s Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.1 on March 30, 2007 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s 

Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.1   2007 Equity Incentive Plan  (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-152782) on August 5, 
2008 and incorporated herein by reference). + 

      
10.2   Advisory Agreement between Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc., Shopoff Partners, L.P. and Shopoff Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 

10.2 on August 16, 2007 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Registration Statement on Form S-11(Reg. No. 333-139042) and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.3   Amendment to Advisory Agreement, dated January 21, 2009, by and among Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc., Shopoff Partners, L.P. 

and Shopoff Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.4 on January 22, 2009 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Post-Effective Amendment 
No. 2 (Reg. No. 333-139042) and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.5   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Escrow Instructions by and between SPT-SWRC, LLC and Pulte Home Corporation, dated 

December 23, 2008 and amendments thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current Report on Form 8-K on 
January 7, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.6   Assignment and Assumption Agreement by and between SPT-SWRC, LLC and Pulte Home Corporation, dated December 30, 

2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 7, 2009 and incorporated herein 
by reference). 

      
10.7   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and Shopoff Advisors, L.P., 

dated September 30, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.8   Amendment to Purchase and Sale and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and Shopoff Advisors, 

L.P., dated December 30, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 7, 
2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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10.9   Collateral Assignment and Pledge of Note, Deed of Trust and Loan Documents made as of January 9, 2009, by Aware 

Development Company, Inc. in favor of SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC securing Promissory Note in the amount of $414,000 
dated January 9, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 15, 2009 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.10   Collateral Assignment and Pledge of Note, Deed of Trust and Loan Documents made as of January 9, 2009, by Aware 

Development Company, Inc. in favor of SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC securing Promissory Note in the amount of $1,886,000 
dated January 9, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 15, 2009 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.11   Promissory Note in the amount of $1,886,000, dated January 9, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current 

Report on Form 8-K on January 15, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.12   Promissory Note in the amount of $414,000, dated January 9, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Shopoff Properties Trust’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K on January 15, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.13   Amendment to Purchase and Sale and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and Shopoff Advisors, 

L.P., dated January 13, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 (Registration No. 333-139042) on January 
22, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.14   Amendment to Purchase and Sale and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and Shopoff Advisors, 

L.P., dated January 27, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on March 4, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference).  
   

10.15   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Escrow Instructions by and between SPT-SWRC, LLC and Khalda Development, Inc., dated 
February 27, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on March 26, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.16   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between SPT Lake Elsinore Holding Co. and MS Rialto 

Wasson Canyon CA, LLC, dated April 17, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on April 23, 2009 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.17   Agreement of Purchase and Sale and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between SPT Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and U.S. 

Bank National Association, dated May 13, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on May 21, 2009 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.18   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions, dated June 29, 2009, by and between SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC 

and AZPro Development, Inc (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on August 5, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.19   First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions by and between SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC 
and AZPro Development, Inc., dated July 28, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on August 5, 2009 and incorporated herein 
by reference). 

      
10.20   Memorandum of Assignment of Note, Deed of Trust and Loan Documents, dated August 24, 2009, by and between Aware 

Development Company, Inc. and SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC related to the promissory note in the original principal amount of 
$5,187,000 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on September 11, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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10.21   Memorandum of Assignment of Note, Deed of Trust and Loan Documents, dated August 24, 2009, by and between Aware 

Development Company, Inc. and SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC related to the promissory note in the original principal amount of 
$1,072,000 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on September 11, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.22   Settlement Agreement, dated September 3, 2009, by and between Springbrook Investments, L.P, and SPT Real Estate Finance, 

LLC related to the promissory note in the original principal amount of $5,187,000 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K on 
September 11, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.23   Settlement Agreement, dated September 3, 2009, by and between Springbrook Investments, L.P, and SPT Real Estate Finance, 

LLC related to the promissory note in the original principal amount of $1,072,000 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K on 
September 11, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.24   Assignment of Purchase and Sale Agreement between Shopoff Advisors and SPT- Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC dated 

September 3, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on November 12, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.25   First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and SPT-Lake 
Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and dated September 3, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K on November 12, 2009 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.26   Second Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and SPT-

Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and dated October 15, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K on November 12, 2009 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.27   Restated Second Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between TSG Little Valley, L.P. and 

SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and dated October 15, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 8-K on November 12, 2009 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.28   All-Inclusive Purchase Money Note Secured By Deed of Trust between SPT- Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and TSG Little 

Valley, L.P. and dated November 6, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 8-K on November 12, 2009 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.29   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and D. R. Horton 

Los Angeles Holding Company, Inc., dated December 8, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on February 9, 2010 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.30   First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC 

and D. R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company, Inc., dated January 20, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on February 9, 
2010 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.31   Participation Agreement between SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and D. R. Horton Los Angeles Holding Company, Inc., 

dated February 3, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K on February 9, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

 10.32   Loan Agreement, dated August 30, 2010, by and between SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company, and Cardinal Investment Properties-Underwood, L.P., a California limited partnership (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-
K on September 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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10.33   Promissory Note Secured By Deed Of Trust between SPT- Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and Cardinal Investment Properties – 

Underwood, L.P. and dated August 30, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on September 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.34   Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents, dated August 30, 2010, by and among SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a 

Delaware limited liability company, as trustor, First American Title Insurance Company, a California corporation, as trustee, and 
Cardinal Investment Properties - Underwood, L.P., a California limited partnership, as beneficiary (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 
8-K on September 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.35   Rider to Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents, dated August 30, 2010, by and among SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a 

Delaware limited liability company, as trustor, First American Title Insurance Company, a California corporation, as trustee, and 
Cardinal Investment Properties - Underwood, L.P., a California limited partnership, as beneficiary (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 
8-K on September 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.36   Security Agreement, dated August 30, 2010, by and between SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company, and Cardinal Investment Properties-Underwood, L.P., a California limited partnership (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 8-
K on September 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.37   Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and CV 

Communities, LLC, dated March 10, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.37 to Form 10-K on April 15, 2011 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.38   First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions between SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC 

and CV Communities, LLC, dated April 6, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.38 to Form 10-K on April 15, 2011 and incorporated herein 
by reference). 

      
10.39   Agreement to Purchase and Sell Interest in Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate, dated September 7, 2011, by and between Steven 

F. Dallman and Shopoff Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.40   Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate (LAND), dated June 14, 2011, by and between Steven F. Dallman or Assigns and Lundieck 

Investments, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.41   Second Amendment to Agreement to Purchase and Sell Interest in Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate, dated September 7, 2011, 
by and between Steven F. Dallman and Shopoff Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.42   First Amendment to Agreement to Purchase and Sell Interest in Contract to Buy and Sell Real Estate, dated September 7, 2011, by 

and between Steven F. Dallman and Shopoff Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.43   Promissory Note and Deed of Trust – Tracts A & B - Lundieck Investments, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 8-K on November 

25, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.44   Promissory Note and Deed of Trust – Tracts C & D - Lundieck Investments, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 8-K on November 
25, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.45   Statement of Authority and Special Warranty Deed (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and incorporated 

herein by reference). 
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Exhibit  
Number   Exhibit 

      
10.46   Promissory Note and Deed of Trust - Steven F. Dallman (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and 

incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.47   Assignment Agreement, dated November 2, 2011, by and among Steven F.Dallman, SPT Vantage Point, LLC and Shopoff 
Advisors, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.48   Limited Liability Company Agreement of SPT-Vantage Point LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Form 8-K on November 25, 2011 

and incorporated herein by reference). 
      

10.49   Loan Agreement, dated February 15, 2012, by and between SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company, and Cardinal Investment Properties-Ramsgate, L.P., a California limited partnership (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K 
on February 24, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.50   Promissory Note Secured By Deed of Trust between SPT- Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC and Cardinal Investment Properties – 

Ramsgate, L.P. and dated February 15, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K on February 24, 2012 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

      
10.51   Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents, dated February 15, 2012, by and among SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a 

Delaware limited liability company, as trustor, First American Title Insurance Company, a California corporation, as trustee, and 
Cardinal Investment Properties - Ramsgate, L.P., a California limited partnership, as beneficiary (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-
K on February 24, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.52   Rider to Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents, dated February 15, 2012, by and among SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company, as trustor, First American Title Insurance Company, a California corporation, as trustee, and 
Cardinal Investment Properties - Ramsgate, L.P., a California limited partnership, as beneficiary (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-
K on February 24, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
10.53   Security Agreement, dated February 15, 2012, by and between SPT-Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company, and Cardinal Investment Properties-Ramsgate, L.P., a California limited partnership (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 8-K 
on February 24, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference). 

      
21.1   List of Subsidiaries. 

      
23.1   Consent of Squar, Milner, Peterson, Miranda & Williamson, LLP. 

      
31.1   Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

      
31.2   Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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Exhibit  
Number   Exhibit 

      
32.1   Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

      
32.2   Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

+ Indicates a management contract or compensation plan. 
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Exhibit 21.1  

List of Subsidiaries  
   

   

   

Entity   Jurisdiction 
      
Shopoff Partners, L.P.   Delaware 
      
Shopoff General Partner, L.L.C.   Delaware 
      
Shopoff T.R.S., Inc.   Delaware 
      
SPT — SWRC, LLC   Delaware 
      
SPT – Lake Elsinore Holding Co., LLC   Delaware 
      
SPT AZ Land Holdings, LLC   Delaware 
      
SPT Real Estate Finance, LLC   Delaware 
      
SPT – Chino Hills, LLC   Delaware 
      
SPT – Vantage Point, LLC   Delaware 

  



   
Exhibit 23.1  
   

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  
   

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-139042 on Form S-11 and Registration Statement No. 333-
152782 on Form S-8 of Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Trust”) of our report dated April 6, 2012 relating to the Trust’s 
consolidated financial statements appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year 
ended December 31, 2011.  
   
Newport Beach, California  
April 6, 2012  
   

   

  



   
EXHIBIT 31.1  
   
 Certificate Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.  Section 1350, As Adopted  
   Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002  
   
I, William A. Shopoff, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. (the “Company” ); 
      
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

      
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial conditions, results of operation and cash flows of the Company as of, the periods presented in this report; 
      
4. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

      
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

      
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

      
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s 

most recent fiscal quarter (the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

      
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s 

internal control over financial reporting. 

Dated: April 6, 2012 /s/ William A. Shopoff   
  Name: William A. Shopoff   
  Title: Chief Executive Officer   

  



   
EXHIBIT 31.2  
   
 Certificate Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.  Section 1350, As Adopted  
   Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002  
   
I, Kevin M. Bridges, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of the Company; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial conditions, results of operation and cash flows of the Company as of, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

Dated: April 6, 2012 /s/ Kevin M. Bridges   
  Name: Kevin M. Bridges   
  Title: Chief Financial Officer   

  



EXHIBIT 32.1  
   
Certification Pursuant to  
Exchange Act Rule 15d-14(b) and  
18 U.S.C. Section 1350  
   
In connection with the Annual Report of Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. (the ”Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 
2011, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, William A. Shopoff, Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, that:  
   

   

   
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the 
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Shopoff 
Properties Trust, Inc. and will be retained by Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff 
upon request.  
   

   

   

i. The report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 1934; and 

ii. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company. 

Dated: April 6, 2012 /s/ William A. Shopoff   
  Name: William A. Shopoff   
  Title: Chief Executive Officer   

  



EXHIBIT 32.2  
   
Certification Pursuant to  
Exchange Act Rule 15d-14(b) and  
18 U.S.C. Section 1350  
   
In connection with the Annual Report of Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. (the ”Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 
2011, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kevin M. Bridges, Chief Financial Officer of 
the Company, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant 
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, that:  
   

   

   
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the 
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Shopoff 
Properties Trust, Inc. and will be retained by Shopoff Properties Trust, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff 
upon request.  
   

   

   
   
   
   
   
   
   

i. The report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 1934; and 

ii. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company. 

Dated: April 6, 2012 /s/ Kevin M. Bridges   
  Name: Kevin M. Bridges   
  Title: Chief Financial Officer   

  




